
  

a 
               
 

Board Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, August 21, 2014 

Noon 
 

Call to Order 
 
Roll Call 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Official Action  
 
Resolution 1315 – Authorizing the Knoxville Utilities Board to Become a Formal Member of the 
Seven States Power Corporation 
 
President’s Report 

 
Other Business   
 
Public Comments   
 
Adjournment  
 

 

 

 



 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
1315 





 
DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. 1315 
 
 

A Resolution Authorizing the Knoxville Utilities Board to Become a Formal 
Member of the Seven States Power Corporation 

 
 

Whereas, the Tennessee Valley Public Power Association (“TVPPA”) is a non-
profit regional service organization that represents local electric power distributors in the 
Tennessee Valley Authority (“TVA”) service area; and  

 
Whereas, the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”) is a member of TVPPA; and  
 
Whereas, TVPPA was instrumental in the creation and organization of Seven 

States Power Corporation (“Seven States”), a generation and transmission cooperative 
through which TVPPA members may become participating members so as to have the 
potential to participate in generation, transmission, energy efficiency, demand response 
programs, and other services; and  

 
Whereas, KUB remitted an initial payment to TVPPA in 2007 in the form of an 

assessment to be used for the expenses of creating and operating Seven States, with a 
portion of such assessment to be a membership fee paid by TVPPA to Seven States for 
KUB’s initial membership with Seven States; and  

 
Whereas, in accordance with the by-laws of Seven States, in order for KUB to 

fully formalize its membership in Seven States, it is necessary that an application for 
membership be completed and submitted to Seven States as so authorized by the KUB 
Board of Commissioners; and 

 
Whereas, it is the understanding of the Board that formal membership in Seven 

States does not obligate KUB to participate in any programs or services offered through 
Seven States; and 

 
Whereas, membership will allow KUB to participate, where beneficial to KUB’s 

ratepayers, in energy efficiency, demand response programs, and other services 
offered by Seven States; and  

 
Whereas, it is the understanding of the Board that formal membership in Seven 

States will not impose any liability upon KUB associated with any programs or services 
offered through Seven States if KUB elects to not participate in said programs or 
services; and   

 
Whereas, it is in the best interest of KUB and its customers to formalize KUB’s 

membership in Seven States. 
 
 



Now, Therefore, Be it Hereby Resolved by the Board of Commissioners of 
the Knoxville Utilities Board: 

 
Section 1. That the Board hereby authorizes the President and CEO to submit 

an application on behalf of KUB for formal membership in Seven States so as to 
become a member thereof, and to comply with its by-laws, and to execute any 
documents necessary to effectuate such membership. 

 
Section 2.  That this Resolution shall take effect upon its passage. 

 
 
 

 
       

          Bruce Anderson, Chair 
 
 
 
       
         Mark Walker, Board Secretary   
 
 
 
 
APPROVED ON 1st 
& FINAL READING:   
EFFECTIVE DATE:     
MINUTE BOOK  PAGE    
 
 



 
 
 

MINUTES 
 



Knoxville Utilities Board 
Board Meeting 

Minutes 
Thursday, June 19, 2014, Noon 

 
 

Call to Order  
 
The Knoxville Utilities Board met in regular session in the Larry A. Fleming Board 
Room at 445 S. Gay Street, on Thursday, June 19, 2014, pursuant to the public 
notice published in the January 4, 2014, edition of the News Sentinel. Chair 
Anderson called the meeting to order at 12:00 p.m.   

 
Roll Call 
 

Commissioners Present: Bruce Anderson, Joel Connell, Kathy Hamilton, Celeste 
Herbert, and Eston Williams 
 
Commissioners Absent: Sara Hedstrom Pinnell and Nikitia Thompson  

   
Chair Anderson welcomed the four KUB Leadership Development Program 
employees and the program facilitator attending the Board Meeting today and 
asked them to introduce themselves.  
   

Approval of Minutes 
 

The Minutes of the May 15, 2014, Board Meeting were approved as distributed 
upon motion by Commissioner Connell and second by Commissioner Williams. 

  
Old Business 
  

Resolution 1310, A Resolution Replacing the Existing Rate Schedules of 
the Electric Division, Gas Division, Water Division, and Wastewater 
Division 

 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Electric 
Division By Amending Section 1 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an 
Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 1, 2014, an Increase in Electric 
Rates Effective July 1, 2015, and an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 
1, 2016 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

5923



 
 

 

June 19, 2014 
 

This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Gas Division 
By Amending Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in 
Gas Rates Effective October 1, 2014, an Increase in Gas Rates Effective 
October 1, 2015, and an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 2016 

 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Water 
Division By Amending Section 3 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an 
Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2014, an Increase in Water Rates 
Effective July 1, 2015, and an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2016 

 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Wastewater 
Division By Amending Section 4 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an 
Increase in Wastewater Rates Effective October 1, 2014, an Increase in 
Wastewater Rates Effective October 1, 2015, and an Increase in Wastewater 
Rates Effective October 1, 2016 

 
President Roach recommended adoption of Resolution 1310 on second and final 
reading. Her written recommendation is included in Attachment 1. 

 
President Roach noted that the planning process for the proposed rate increases 
spanned multiple Board Meetings over the past year; including workshop 
discussions in November 2013 and April 2014. Ms. Roach recognized Mark 
Walker, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, to provide a summary 
of the proposed rate increases.  

 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Connell and a second by Commissioner 
Herbert, Resolution 1310 (Attachment 1) was adopted by a roll call vote on 
second and final reading. The following Commissioners voted “aye”: Anderson, 
Connell, Hamilton, Herbert, and Williams. No Commissioner voted “nay”. 

 
Public Comment 
  
 Xavier Presley – 1134 Glade Hill Drive – Knoxville, TN 37909 
 
 Larry Silverstein – 7808 Sheffield Drive – Knoxville, TN 37909 
 
New Business 
 

None 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

5924



June 19, 2014 
 

President’s Report 
  
 Safety 
  

President Roach advised Commissioners that KUB places a very high value on 
safety, which includes safety for employees and the general public.  
She reminded Commissioners that a question was raised at the April Board 
Meeting regarding KUB contractor safety and recognized Brooke Sinclair, 
Manager of Safety and Technical Services, who provided an update on KUB’s 
safety program, with a focus on contractor safety. 
 
Low Service Pump Station 
 
President Roach advised Commissioners that the Low Service Pump Station at 
the Mark B. Whitaker Water Treatment Plant project is nearing completion and 
recognized Paul Randolph, Vice President of Operations, to update the Board on 
this project that will help improve water plant performance and system efficiency. 
 

Other Business 
 
 None 
 
Adjournment  
 

Chair Anderson stated that following adjournment, the Board would continue with 
an open lunch session where KUB matters may be discussed. There being 
nothing further to come before the Board, Chair Anderson declared the meeting 
adjourned at 1:05 p.m 
 
 

                      
                    Bruce Anderson, Chair 
 
      
       Mark Walker, Board Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

5925



Attachments 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 Recommendation Letter and Resolution 1310, A Resolution 
Replacing the Existing Rate Schedules of the Electric Division, 
Gas Division, Water Division, and Wastewater Division 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the 
Electric Division By Amending Section 1 of Resolution No. 
1060, Providing for an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 
1, 2014, an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 1, 2015, 
and an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the 
Gas Division By Amending Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, 
Providing for an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 
2014, an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 2015, 
and an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the 
Water Division By Amending Section 3 of Resolution No. 
1060, Providing for an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 
1, 2014, an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2015, 
and an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the 
Wastewater Division By Amending Section 4 of Resolution 
No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in Wastewater Rates 
Effective October 1, 2014, an Increase in Wastewater Rates 
Effective October 1, 2015, and an Increase in Wastewater 
Rates Effective October 1, 2016 

5927 – 6395  
Page(s) 

DRAFT

5926



 
              
 
June 13, 2014 
 
Knoxville Utilities Board 
445 S. Gay Street 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37902-1109 
 
Commissioners: 
 
As you will recall, last month the Board adopted on the first of two readings Resolution 1310, 
which replaces the existing rate schedules of the Electric, Gas, Water, and Wastewater 
Divisions to provide for an increase in rates in each of the next three fiscal years to help fund 
KUB’s Century II infrastructure asset replacement and maintenance programs. The proposed 
rate increases for the three year period starting fiscal year 2015 will help ensure KUB continues 
to provide reliable and safe utility services into the future, and are consistent with long-term 
funding plans previously endorsed by the Board through resolutions. 
 
The proposed electric increases will add $1 to each residential electric customer’s monthly bill 
and be applied to the monthly customer charge. The initial $1 increase will be reflected on 
residential customers’ August 2014 bills, with subsequent $1 increases appearing on customers’ 
August 2015 and August 2016 bills, respectively.   
 
The proposed natural gas increases will add $1 to each residential gas customer’s monthly bill, 
also being applied to the monthly customer charge. The initial $1 increase will show on 
customers’ November 2014 bills, with the following $1 increases appearing on customers’ 
November 2015 and November 2016 bills, respectively. 
 
The proposed initial water increase will add $2 to residential water bills beginning August 2014. 
Additional increases of $1 on residential water bills will be reflected on August 2015 and August 
2016 bills, respectively. All of the residential water increases will be applied to the customer 
charge. 
 
The proposed wastewater increases will each add $3 to every residential wastewater 
customer’s monthly bill, with the increases reflected on November 2014, November 2015, and 
November 2016 bills, respectively. As with other services, all of these increases will be applied 
to the monthly customer charge. 
 
The impact of the proposed electric, natural gas, water, and wastewater rate increases on 
commercial and industrial customers’ monthly bills will vary depending on their level of monthly 
utility usage. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

5927



As Resolution 1310 provides for rate changes in all services, two readings are required. I 
recommend adoption of Resolution 1310 on second and final reading.   
 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
Mintha E. Roach 
President and CEO 

DRAFT

5928



 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1310 
 
A Resolution Replacing the Existing Rate Schedules of the Electric Division, Gas 
Division, Water Division, and Wastewater Division 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Electric Division By 
Amending Section 1 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in Electric 
Rates Effective July 1, 2014, an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 1, 2015, 
and an Increase in Electric Rates Effective July 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Gas Division By 
Amending Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in Gas 
Rates Effective October 1, 2014, an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 
2015, and an Increase in Gas Rates Effective October 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Water Division By 
Amending Section 3 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in Water 
Rates Effective July 1, 2014, an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2015, and 
an Increase in Water Rates Effective July 1, 2016 
 
This Resolution Replaces the Existing Rate Schedules of the Wastewater Division 
By Amending Section 4 of Resolution No. 1060, Providing for an Increase in 
Wastewater Rates Effective October 1, 2014, an Increase in Wastewater Rates 
Effective October 1, 2015, and an Increase in Wastewater Rates Effective October 
1, 2016 
 

Whereas, aging utility infrastructure is a nationwide issue which must be 
addressed by comprehensive, long-term infrastructure replacement programs; and 

 
Whereas, the Knoxville Utilities Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) has 

exhibited effective leadership by directing the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”) to 
engage in comprehensive replacement programs for all four utility systems, collectively 
referred to as Century II; and 

 
Whereas, the Board has previously endorsed long-term funding plans for the 

electric and water systems through Resolution No. 1248, and for the natural gas and 
wastewater systems through Resolution No. 1301, providing financial support for the 
Century II programs in a manner that will ensure reliable, affordable, and safe utility 
services for both current and future generations of KUB customers; and  

 
Whereas, the funding plans endorsed by the Board include a combination of 

debt issues and rate increases, reflecting KUB’s financial philosophy that both current 
and future customers should bear the cost of replacing long-lived utility system assets  
that will benefit both current and future customers; and    
  

DRAFT

5929



Whereas, at the Board’s financial workshop on April 17, 2014, staff reviewed ten-
year funding plans for each system with the Board, including proposed rate increases 
for the next three fiscal years for electric, natural gas, water, and wastewater services; 
and 

 
Whereas, the proposed rate increases are consistent with the long-term funding 

plans previously endorsed by the Board through Resolution No. 1248 and Resolution 
No. 1301, respectively; and    

 
Whereas, the Board has determined, based on the projected level of 

expenditures for each system over the next ten years, that the proposed increases in 
rates are necessary to provide additional revenue to support the needed level of 
investment in infrastructure maintenance and replacement; and    
  

Whereas, the Board previously adopted Resolution 1060, as heretofore 
amended, providing rate schedules for the Electric Division, Gas Division, Water 
Division, and Wastewater Division of the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”); and  
 

Whereas, in accordance with Section 1107(D) of the Charter of the City of 
Knoxville (“Charter”), the Board is required to charge sufficient rates for electric and gas 
service to pay all obligations of the Electric Division and Gas Division respectively; and   

 
Whereas, in accordance with Section 1107(F) of the Charter of the City of 

Knoxville (“Charter”), the Board is required to charge sufficient rates for water service to 
pay all obligations of the Water Division; and   

 
Whereas, in accordance with Section 1107(H) of the Charter of the City of 

Knoxville (“Charter”), the Board is required to charge sufficient rates for wastewater 
service to pay all obligations of the Wastewater Division; and   

 
Whereas, in accordance with Section 1107(L) of the Charter, KUB has provided 

the required public notice of not less than five (5) days prior to a meeting of the Board 
when a rate change is to be considered.   
 

Now, Therefore, Be it Hereby Resolved by the Board of Commissioners of 
the Knoxville Utilities Board: 
 

Section 1. That all existing rate schedules of the Electric Division as set forth 
in Section 1 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Electric Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit A to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2014. 
 

Section 2. That all existing rate schedules of the Electric Division as set forth 
in Section 1 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Electric Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit B to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2015. 

DRAFT

5930



Section 3. That all existing rate schedules of the Electric Division as set forth 
in Section 1 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Electric Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit C to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2016. 
 

Section 4. That all existing rate schedules of the Gas Division as set forth in 
Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Gas Division, as set forth in Exhibit 
D to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2014. 
 

Section 5. That all existing rate schedules of the Gas Division as set forth in 
Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Gas Division, as set forth in Exhibit 
E to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2015. 
 

Section 6. That all existing rate schedules of the Gas Division as set forth in 
Section 2 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Gas Division, as set forth in Exhibit 
F to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2016. 
 

Section 7. That all existing rate schedules of the Water Division as set forth in 
Section 3 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Water Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit G to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2014. 
 

Section 8. That all existing rate schedules of the Water Division as set forth in 
Section 3 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Water Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit H to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2015. 
 

Section 9. That all existing rate schedules of the Water Division as set forth in 
Section 3 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Water Division, as set forth in 
Exhibit I to this Resolution, to be effective beginning July 1, 2016. 
 

Section 10. That all existing rate schedules of the Wastewater Division as set 
forth in Section 4 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in 
their entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Wastewater Division, as set 
forth in Exhibit J to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2014. 
 

Section 11. That all existing rate schedules of the Wastewater Division as set 
forth in Section 4 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in 
their entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Wastewater Division, as set 
forth in Exhibit K to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2015. 
 
 

DRAFT

5931



Section 12. That all existing rate schedules of the Wastewater Division as set 
forth in Section 4 of Resolution No. 1060, as heretofore amended, are hereby deleted in 
their entirety and replaced with the rate schedules of the Wastewater Division, as set 
forth in Exhibit L to this Resolution, to be effective beginning October 1, 2016. 

 
 

 
        Bruce Anderson/s   

           Bruce Anderson, Chair 
 
 
          Mark Walker/s    
         Mark Walker, Board Secretary   
 
 
 
APPROVED ON 1st 
READING:               5-15-14   
APPROVED ON 2nd 
READING:               6-19-14   
EFFECTIVE DATE: 6-19-14     
MINUTE BOOK 33  PAGE  5929-6395  
 
 

DRAFT

5932



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT A 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE ELECTRIC DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

DRAFT

5933



 

 

 
Electric Division 

RESIDENTIAL RATE - SCHEDULE RS 
 

 
Availability 

 
 This rate shall apply only to electric service to a single-family dwelling and its 
appurtenances, where the major use of electricity is for domestic purposes such as 
lighting, household appliances, and the personal comfort and convenience of those 
residing therein. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a service 
voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. Multi-phase service shall be 
supplied in accordance with KUB’s standard policy. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $14.00 per month 

 
      Energy Charge:  

Summer Period     8.089¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period     8.048¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period    8.048¢ per kWh per month 

 
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 

in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 

   

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. 

 

DRAFT

5934



 

 

 
Minimum Monthly Bill 

 
 The base customer charge constitutes the minimum monthly bill for all customers 
served under this rate schedule except those customers for which a higher minimum 
monthly bill is required under KUB’s standard policy because of special circumstances 
affecting the cost of rendering service. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. 
 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

 
 

  

DRAFT

5935



 

 

 
 

GENERAL POWER RATE - SCHEDULE GSA 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate shall apply to the firm power requirements (where a customer’s contract 
demand is 5,000 kW or less) for electric service to commercial, industrial, and 
governmental customers, and institutional customers including without limitation, 
churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, 
and like customers. This rate shall also apply to customers to whom service is not 
available under any other resale rate schedule. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
service voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. 
 

 
Base Charges 

 
1. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand, if any, 

or (ii) its highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is not more 
than 50 kW and (b) the customer's monthly energy takings for any month during 
such period do not exceed 15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge:  $20.00 per delivery point per month 
Energy Charge: 

Summer Period 9.500¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  9.459¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 9.459¢ per kWh per month 

DRAFT

5936



 

 

2. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (ii) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 50 kW 
but not more than 1,000 kW or (b) the customer's billing demand is less than 
50 kW and its energy takings for any month during such period exceed 
15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge:  $55.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period  First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge  
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.31 per kW 

Winter Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Transition Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.581¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Winter Period  First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.540¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Transition Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.540¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 

DRAFT

5937



 

 

3. If the higher of (a) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (b) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 
1,000 kW: 
Customer Charge:  $150.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.36 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$13.52 per kW, plus an additional 
$13.52 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Winter Period  First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
 $11.60 per kW 

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Transition Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $11.60 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 5.856¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  5.856¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 5.856¢ per kWh per month 

 
Adjustment 

 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.   
 

DRAFT

5938



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 
 KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers having loads in excess of 50 
kW. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of the load metered in kW. The measured 
demand for any month shall be the higher of the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of (a) the load metered in kW or (b) 85 percent 
of the load in kVA plus an additional 10 percent for that part of the load over 5,000 kVA, 
and such measured demand shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing 
demand for any month shall in no case be less than 30 percent of the higher of the 
currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established during the 
preceding 12 months. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule shall not be less than the sum of (a) the 
base customer charge, (b) the base demand charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s billing demand, and (c) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s energy takings; provided, however, that, under (2.) of the Base Charges, the 
monthly bill shall in no event be less than the sum (a) the base customer charge and (b) 
20 percent of the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, applicable to the 
second block (excess over 50kW) of billing demand, multiplied by the higher of the 
customer’s currently effective contract demand or its highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirements 
 
 KUB shall require contracts for service provided under this rate schedule to 
customers whose demand requirements exceed 1,000 kW and such contracts shall be 
for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective contract demand. If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

5939



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single – Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the 
same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the 
supply of service at each delivery and metering point at each different voltage shall be 
separately metered and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

 
  

DRAFT

5940



 

 

OUTDOOR LIGHTING RATE - SCHEDULE LS 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Available for service to street and park lighting systems, traffic signal systems, 
athletic field lighting installations, and outdoor lighting for individual customers.  
 
 Service under this schedule is for a term of not less than one year. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.   
 
 
PART A – CHARGES FOR STREET AND PARK LIGHTING SYSTEMS, TRAFFIC 
SIGNAL SYSTEMS, AND ATHLETIC FIELD LIGHTING INSTALLATIONS 
 

I. Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 6.484¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.484¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.484¢ per kWh per month 

 
II. Facility Charge 
 
 The annual facility charge shall be 14.45 percent of the installed cost to KUB’s 
electric system of the facilities devoted to street and park lighting service specified in 
this Part A. Such installed cost shall be recomputed on July 1 of each year, or more 
often if substantial changes in the facilities are made. Each month, one-twelfth of the 
then total annual facility charge shall be billed to the customer. If any part of the facilities 
has not been provided at the electric system’s expense or if the installed cost of any 
portion thereof is reflected on the books of another municipality or agency or 
department, the annual facility charge shall be adjusted to reflect properly the remaining 
cost to be borne by the electric system. 
 
 Traffic signal systems and athletic field lighting installations shall be provided, 
owned, and maintained by and at the expense of the customer, except as KUB may 
agree otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the paragraph next following in this 
Section II. The facilities necessary to provide service to such systems and installations 
shall be provided by and at the expense of KUB’s electric system, and the annual facility 

DRAFT

5941



 

 

charge provided for first above in this Section II shall apply to the installed cost of such 
facilities. 
 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, traffic signal systems 
and athletic field lighting installations may be provided, owned, and maintained by 
KUB’s electric system for the customer’s benefit. In such cases KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
system or installation and shall require payment by the customer of a facility charge 
sufficient to cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate 
overheads, of providing, owning, and maintaining such system or installation; provided 
that, for athletic field lighting installations, such facility charge shall be 13.41 percent per 
year of such costs. Said facility charge shall be in addition to the annual facility charge 
on the facilities necessary to provide service to such system or installation as provided 
for in the preceding paragraph. Replacement of lamps and related glassware for traffic 
signal systems and athletic field lighting installations provided under this paragraph shall 
be paid for under the provisions of paragraph A in section IV. 
 

III. Customer Charge – Traffic Signal Systems and Athletic Field Lighting Installations. 
 

KUB shall apply a uniform monthly customer charge of $2.50 for service to each 
traffic signal system or athletic field lighting installation. 

 
IV. Replacement of Lamps and Related Glassware – Street and Park Lighting 

 
 Customer shall be billed and shall pay for replacements as provided in paragraph  
 A below, which shall be applied to all service for street and park lighting. 
 
A. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for such replacements during each month at 
KUB’s cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expense. 
 
B. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for one-twelfth of the amount by which KUB’s 
cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expenses, exceeds the products of 3 
mills multiplied by the number of kilowatt-hours used for street and park lighting during 
the fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal year in which such month occurs. 
 
 

Metering 
 

 For any billing month or part of such month in which the energy is not metered or for 
which a meter reading is found to be in error or a meter is found to have failed, the 
energy for billing purposes for that billing month or part of such month shall be 
computed from the rated capacity of the lamps (including ballast) plus 5 percent of such 
capacity to reflect secondary circuit losses, multiplied by the number of hours of use. 
 
 

DRAFT

5942



 

 

Revenue and Cost Review 
 

 KUB’s costs of providing service under Part A of this rate schedule are subject to 
review at any time to determine if KUB’s revenues from the charges being applied are 
sufficient to cover its costs. (Such costs, including applicable overheads, include, but 
are not limited to, those incurred in the operation and maintenance of the systems 
provided and those resulting from depreciation and payments for taxes, tax equivalents 
and interest). If any such review discloses that revenues are either less or more than 
sufficient to cover said costs, the Board shall revise the above facility charges so that 
revenues will be sufficient to cover said costs.  
 
 
 
PART B—CHARGES FOR OUTDOOR LIGHTING FOR INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMERS 

 
Charges Per Fixture Per Month 

             Lamp Size   Rated Facility Total Lamp 
(a) Type of Fixture    (Watts)  (Lumens)    kWh  Charge      Charge 
   Mercury Vapor or 175           7,650      70   $4.52          $ 9.06 
   Incandescent*  400     19,100    155     6.31           16.36 
      1,000**     47,500    378   10.09           34.60 
 
   High Pressure  100       8,550      42   $4.52        $ 7.24 
   Sodium   250         23,000    105     5.36            12.17 
        400         45,000     165      6.31          17.01 
                1,000**    126,000     385   10.09           35.05 
    
   Decorative    100           8,550       42     5.14                 7.86 
 
*   Mercury Vapor and Incandescent fixtures not offered for new service. 
** 1,000 watt fixtures not offered for new service. 
 
(b) Energy Charge:  For each lamp size under (a) above,  

Summer Period 6.484¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.484¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.484¢ per kWh per month 

 
Additional Facilities 

 
 The above charges in this Part B are limited to service from a photoelectrically 
controlled standard lighting fixture installed on a pole already in place. If the customer 
wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already in place, 
the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for additional 
poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source. (This section 
does not apply to Decorative Lighting Fixtures). 

DRAFT

5943



 

 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Special Outdoor Lighting Installations 
 

 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, special outdoor lighting 
installations (other than as provided for under Parts A and B above) may be provided, 
owned, and maintained by KUB’s electric system. In such cases, KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
installation and shall require payment by the customer of monthly charges sufficient to 
cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate overheads of 
providing, owning, and maintaining such installations, and making lamp replacements.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

5944



 

 

 
LIGHT-EMITTING DIODE (LED) PILOT PROGRAM - SCHEDULE LED 

OUTDOOR LIGHTING 
 

Pilot Program Description 
 

 The purpose of the LED Pilot Program is to enable a phased implementation of LED 
equipment on KUB’s electric system. The LED Pilot Program will provide KUB and 
participating customers experience with LED technologies. The duration of the LED 
Pilot Program shall be determined by KUB in its sole discretion.  

 
Pilot Program Availability 

 
 Service under the LED Pilot Program shall only be available for select outdoor 
(security) lighting facilities of governmental entities located in the KUB electric system 
service territory. Participation in the LED Pilot Program shall be on a voluntary basis. 
KUB reserves the right to limit the number of customers participating in the LED Pilot 
Program and/or to limit the extent of any customer’s participation in the program.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – No Capital Contribution 
 

 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities for providing service under the 
program has been borne by the electric system. The following charges are per LED 
fixture per month. 
 
   Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge KWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $12.11 38 $0.06484 $14.57 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $11.05 38 $0.06484 $13.51 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $14.56 57 $0.06484 $18.26 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $13.27 57 $0.06484 $16.97 
 
 In the event a customer voluntarily elects to discontinue service under this program, 
the customer, at the sole discretion of KUB, shall be subject to a capital recovery charge 
to ensure appropriate cost recovery for the electric system.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – Capital Contribution 
 
 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities providing service under the 
program has been borne by the customer. The following charges are per LED fixture 
per month. 
 

DRAFT

5945



 

 

    Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge kWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $5.22 38 $0.06484 $7.68 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $5.09 38 $0.06484 $7.55 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $6.07 57 $0.06484 $9.77 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $5.90 57 $0.06484 $9.60 
 
  

Additional Facilities 
 

 The above charges are limited to service installed on a pole already in place. If the 
customer wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already 
in place, the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for 
additional poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source.  
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5946



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE 
GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE TDGSA 

 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW for electric 
service to commercial, industrial, and governmental customers, and to institutional 
customers, including, without limitation, churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, 
nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, and like customers, provided that the 
other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.49 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.67 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 

DRAFT

5947



 

 

 
$17.49 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.18 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.67 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.67 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.562¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 

DRAFT

5948



 

 

      Winter Period:  6.403¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
  
  
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.988¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 

DRAFT

5949



 

 

beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 

DRAFT

5950



 

 

 
Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 

Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 
 

 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 

DRAFT

5951



 

 

entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
  

 After having received service for at least one year under this rate 
schedule, the customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with 
KUB, may receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the 
onpeak contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5952



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.49 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.67 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.49 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

5953



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.18 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.67 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.67 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
     Summer Period: 9.562¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.403¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 

DRAFT

5954



 

 

energy to total energy, plus 
 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.988¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.066¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.433¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.988¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 

 
Facilities Rental Charge 

 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 

DRAFT

5955



 

 

30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
  

DRAFT

5956



 

 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 

DRAFT

5957



 

 

entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand. If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board.  

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5958



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.03 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.21 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.03 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 

DRAFT

5959



 

 

whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.72 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.21 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.72 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.21 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.72 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.191¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.718¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.794¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.161¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.108¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.718¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

DRAFT

5960



 

 

 
   3.794¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.161¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.718¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.794¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.161¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.718¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 

DRAFT

5961



 

 

less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 

DRAFT

5962



 

 

and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service 
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand 
for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month 
designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case 
shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or 
ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as provided 
below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak billing 
demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of (1) the 
highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 
contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of 
(1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
  

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 

DRAFT

5963



 

 

Contract Requirement 
 

      KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5964



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 25,000 kW; provided that the other conditions of this 
section are met. 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.26 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.44 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.26 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 

DRAFT

5965



 

 

whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.95 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.44 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.95 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.44 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.95 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.066¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  5.895¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

DRAFT

5966



 

 

 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.486¢ per kWh per 
month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 

DRAFT

5967



 

 

the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 
 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 

DRAFT

5968



 

 

during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW; (3) 50 
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW,  (5) 70 percent of 
the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 
kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 

DRAFT

5969



 

 

entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
  
 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5970



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.84 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.84 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.32 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.32 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.42 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.42 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

5971



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.708¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.284¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.191¢ per kWh per month 
 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  

  

DRAFT

5972



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 

DRAFT

5973



 

 

include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSB. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSB shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

5974



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSC 

 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.38 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.38 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $15.86 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$15.86 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $10.96 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$10.96 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

5975



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.721¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.288¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.198¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

DRAFT

5976



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

5977



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSC. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSC shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 

 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5978



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
25,000 kW. 

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $26.30 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$26.30 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $19.75 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.75 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $14.87 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$14.87 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

5979



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.026¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.649¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.566¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

. 

DRAFT

5980



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

5981



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSD. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSD shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

5982



 

 

 
SEASONAL TIME OF USE 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE TDMSA 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 

DRAFT

5983



 

 

contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.48 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.48 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.17 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

DRAFT

5984



 

 

      Transition Period: 
$4.66 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.982¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.888¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 

DRAFT

5985



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.449¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
  

DRAFT

5986



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 

DRAFT

5987



 

 

billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 

DRAFT

5988



 

 

customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for service under 
the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the onpeak contract 
demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
  

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

5989



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

DRAFT

5990



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.48 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.48 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.17 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.66 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

5991



 

 

 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.982¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.888¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.449¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.526¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .893¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

 

DRAFT

5992



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.449¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

5993



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 

DRAFT

5994



 

 

onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

     KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

5995



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

5996



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control. 
  
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
   
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 

DRAFT

5997



 

 

  
Character of Service 

 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.04 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.22 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.04 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.73 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.22 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.73 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.22 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

5998



 

 

$9.73 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 8.067¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.435¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.513¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .880¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.903¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.435¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.513¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .880¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.435¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.513¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .880¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
 

 

DRAFT

5999



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.435¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6000



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 

DRAFT

6001



 

 

contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent 
of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its 
maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being 
used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at 
any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If 
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, 
the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power 
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time 
to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 

DRAFT

6002



 

 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6003



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 25,000 kW, and (b) the major use of 
electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are 
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, 
inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System 
(NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, 
however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a 
NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the 
preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service 
to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s 
expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins 
taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this 
section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a 
percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of 
the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 

DRAFT

6004



 

 

  
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.25 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.43 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.25 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.94 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.43 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.94 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 

DRAFT

6005



 

 

$4.43 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.94 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.920¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.740¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 

DRAFT

6006



 

 

 
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.292¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 

DRAFT

6007



 

 

Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW (3) 50 

DRAFT

6008



 

 

percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of 
the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 
kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, and (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract 
for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of 
being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater 
amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand.  If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this 
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in 

DRAFT

6009



 

 

any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement 
from time to time as approved by the Board. 

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6010



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
 

  

DRAFT

6011



 

 

Base Charges 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.85 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.85 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $13.34 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$13.34 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $8.43 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$8.43 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.902¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.424¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.312¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-

DRAFT

6012



 

 

month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 

DRAFT

6013



 

 

customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSB. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSB shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6014



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSC 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 
 

Character of Service 
Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 

a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
 

  

DRAFT

6015



 

 

Base Charges 
 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.41 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $12.90 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$12.90 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $7.99 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$7.99 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.871¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.422¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.314¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-

DRAFT

6016



 

 

month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 

DRAFT

6017



 

 

thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSC. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSC shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 

 Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6018



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at 
the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard 
Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS 
codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service 
under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly 
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, 
however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor 
requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months 
as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the previous 
sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing the total 
metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and 
the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was 
unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any 
hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event 
reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

  

DRAFT

6019



 

 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.60 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.60 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.08 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.08 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.18 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.18 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.163¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  2.804¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 2.718¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-

DRAFT

6020



 

 

month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 

DRAFT

6021



 

 

thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSD. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSD shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6022



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – FIVE-MINUTE RESPONSE (5 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Five-Minute Response (5 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 5 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 5 MR 
 

 All 5 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 5MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption and 
to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6023



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – SIXTY-MINUTE RESPONSE (60 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE 
POWER 

 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Sixty-Minute Response (60 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified 
general power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley 
Authority (TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 60 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 60 MR 
 

 All 60 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 60 MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption 
and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6024



 

 

TWO-PART REAL TIME PRICING (RTP) 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Two-Part Real Time Pricing (Two-Part RTP) to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 Two-Part RTP shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to 
specific contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for Two-Part RTP 
 

 All Two-Part RTP charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 Two-Part RTP furnished to a customer under the Contract may be subject to 
interruption and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6025



 

 

SUMMER MARKET DAYS (SMKT) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Summer Market Days (SMKT) Power to qualified general power users 
through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 SMKT shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for SMKT 
 

 All SMKT-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6026



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE (STOU) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Seasonal Time of Use (STOU) Power to qualified general power 
users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 STOU shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for STOU 
 

 All STOU-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6027



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT B 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE ELECTRIC DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 

  

DRAFT

6028



 

 

Electric Division 
RESIDENTIAL RATE - SCHEDULE RS 

 
 

Availability 
 

 This rate shall apply only to electric service to a single-family dwelling and its 
appurtenances, where the major use of electricity is for domestic purposes such as 
lighting, household appliances, and the personal comfort and convenience of those 
residing therein. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a service 
voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. Multi-phase service shall be 
supplied in accordance with KUB’s standard policy. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge: $15.00 per month 

 
      Energy Charge:  

Summer Period     8.089¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period     8.048¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period    8.048¢ per kWh per month 

 
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 

in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 

   

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. 

 
 

DRAFT

6029



 

 

Minimum Monthly Bill 
 
 The base customer charge constitutes the minimum monthly bill for all customers 
served under this rate schedule except those customers for which a higher minimum 
monthly bill is required under KUB’s standard policy because of special circumstances 
affecting the cost of rendering service. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

6030



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE - SCHEDULE GSA 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate shall apply to the firm power requirements (where a customer’s contract 
demand is 5,000 kW or less) for electric service to commercial, industrial, and 
governmental customers, and institutional customers including without limitation, 
churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, 
and like customers. This rate shall also apply to customers to whom service is not 
available under any other resale rate schedule. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
service voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. 
 

 
Base Charges 

 
1. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand, if any, 

or (ii) its highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is not more 
than 50 kW and (b) the customer's monthly energy takings for any month during 
such period do not exceed 15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge: $22.00 per delivery point per month 
Energy Charge: 

Summer Period 9.513¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  9.472¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 9.472¢ per kWh per month 

2. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (ii) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 50 kW 
but not more than 1,000 kW or (b) the customer's billing demand is less than 
50 kW and its energy takings for any month during such period exceed 
15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge:  $60.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period  First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge  
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.31 per kW 

DRAFT

6031



 

 

Winter Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Transition Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.888¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Winter Period  First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.847¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Transition Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 10.847¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 

3. If the higher of (a) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (b) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 
1,000 kW: 
Customer Charge:  $160.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.62 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$13.52 per kW, plus an additional 
$13.52 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Winter Period  First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
 $11.86 per kW 

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 

DRAFT

6032



 

 

exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Transition Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $11.86 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 5.933¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  5.933¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 5.933¢ per kWh per month 

 
Adjustment 

 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.   
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 
 KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers having loads in excess of 50 
kW. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of the load metered in kW. The measured 
demand for any month shall be the higher of the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of (a) the load metered in kW or (b) 85 percent 
of the load in kVA plus an additional 10 percent for that part of the load over 5,000 kVA, 
and such measured demand shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing 
demand for any month shall in no case be less than 30 percent of the higher of the 
currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established during the 
preceding 12 months. 
 

DRAFT

6033



 

 

Minimum Bill 
 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule shall not be less than the sum of (a) the 
base customer charge, (b) the base demand charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s billing demand, and (c) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s energy takings; provided, however, that, under (2.) of the Base Charges, the 
monthly bill shall in no event be less than the sum (a) the base customer charge and (b) 
20 percent of the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, applicable to the 
second block (excess over 50kW) of billing demand, multiplied by the higher of the 
customer’s currently effective contract demand or its highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirements 
 
 KUB shall require contracts for service provided under this rate schedule to 
customers whose demand requirements exceed 1,000 kW and such contracts shall be 
for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective contract demand. If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single – Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the 
same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the 
supply of service at each delivery and metering point at each different voltage shall be 
separately metered and billed. 
 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6034



 

 

OUTDOOR LIGHTING RATE - SCHEDULE LS 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Available for service to street and park lighting systems, traffic signal systems, 
athletic field lighting installations, and outdoor lighting for individual customers.  
 
 Service under this schedule is for a term of not less than one year. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.   
 
 
PART A – CHARGES FOR STREET AND PARK LIGHTING SYSTEMS, TRAFFIC 
SIGNAL SYSTEMS, AND ATHLETIC FIELD LIGHTING INSTALLATIONS 
 

I. Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 6.574¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.574¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.574¢ per kWh per month 

 
II. Facility Charge 
 
 The annual facility charge shall be 14.64 percent of the installed cost to KUB’s 
electric system of the facilities devoted to street and park lighting service specified in 
this Part A. Such installed cost shall be recomputed on July 1 of each year, or more 
often if substantial changes in the facilities are made. Each month, one-twelfth of the 
then total annual facility charge shall be billed to the customer. If any part of the facilities 
has not been provided at the electric system’s expense or if the installed cost of any 
portion thereof is reflected on the books of another municipality or agency or 
department, the annual facility charge shall be adjusted to reflect properly the remaining 
cost to be borne by the electric system. 
 
 Traffic signal systems and athletic field lighting installations shall be provided, 
owned, and maintained by and at the expense of the customer, except as KUB may 
agree otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the paragraph next following in this 
Section II. The facilities necessary to provide service to such systems and installations 
shall be provided by and at the expense of KUB’s electric system, and the annual facility 

DRAFT

6035



 

 

charge provided for first above in this Section II shall apply to the installed cost of such 
facilities. 
 
 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, traffic signal systems 
and athletic field lighting installations may be provided, owned, and maintained by 
KUB’s electric system for the customer’s benefit. In such cases KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
system or installation and shall require payment by the customer of a facility charge 
sufficient to cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate 
overheads, of providing, owning, and maintaining such system or installation; provided 
that, for athletic field lighting installations, such facility charge shall be 13.58 percent per 
year of such costs. Said facility charge shall be in addition to the annual facility charge 
on the facilities necessary to provide service to such system or installation as provided 
for in the preceding paragraph. Replacement of lamps and related glassware for traffic 
signal systems and athletic field lighting installations provided under this paragraph shall 
be paid for under the provisions of paragraph A in section IV. 
 

III. Customer Charge – Traffic Signal Systems and Athletic Field Lighting Installations. 
 

KUB shall apply a uniform monthly customer charge of $2.50 for service to each 
traffic signal system or athletic field lighting installation. 

 
IV. Replacement of Lamps and Related Glassware – Street and Park Lighting 

 
 Customer shall be billed and shall pay for replacements as provided in paragraph  
 A below, which shall be applied to all service for street and park lighting. 
 
A. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for such replacements during each month at 
KUB’s cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expense. 
 
B. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for one-twelfth of the amount by which KUB’s 
cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expenses, exceeds the products of 3 
mills multiplied by the number of kilowatt-hours used for street and park lighting during 
the fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal year in which such month occurs. 
 
 

Metering 
 

 For any billing month or part of such month in which the energy is not metered or for 
which a meter reading is found to be in error or a meter is found to have failed, the 
energy for billing purposes for that billing month or part of such month shall be 
computed from the rated capacity of the lamps (including ballast) plus 5 percent of such 
capacity to reflect secondary circuit losses, multiplied by the number of hours of use. 
 
 

DRAFT

6036



 

 

Revenue and Cost Review 
 

 KUB’s costs of providing service under Part A of this rate schedule are subject to 
review at any time to determine if KUB’s revenues from the charges being applied are 
sufficient to cover its costs. (Such costs, including applicable overheads, include, but 
are not limited to, those incurred in the operation and maintenance of the systems 
provided and those resulting from depreciation and payments for taxes, tax equivalents 
and interest). If any such review discloses that revenues are either less or more than 
sufficient to cover said costs, the Board shall revise the above facility charges so that 
revenues will be sufficient to cover said costs.  
 
 
PART B—CHARGES FOR OUTDOOR LIGHTING FOR INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMERS 

 
Charges Per Fixture Per Month 

             Lamp Size   Rated Facility Total Lamp 
(a) Type of Fixture    (Watts)  (Lumens)    kWh  Charge      Charge 
   Mercury Vapor or 175           7,650      70   $4.58          $ 9.18 
   Incandescent*  400     19,100    155     6.39           16.58 
      1,000**     47,500    378   10.22           35.07 
 
   High Pressure  100       8,550      42   $4.58        $ 7.34 
   Sodium   250         23,000    105     5.43            12.33 
        400         45,000     165      6.39          17.24 
                1,000**    126,000     385   10.22           35.53 
    
   Decorative    100           8,550       42     5.21                 7.97 
 
*   Mercury Vapor and Incandescent fixtures not offered for new service. 
** 1,000 watt fixtures not offered for new service. 
 
(b) Energy Charge:  For each lamp size under (a) above,  

Summer Period 6.574¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.574¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.574¢ per kWh per month 

 
Additional Facilities 

 
 The above charges in this Part B are limited to service from a photoelectrically 
controlled standard lighting fixture installed on a pole already in place. If the customer 
wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already in place, 
the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for additional 
poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source. (This section 
does not apply to Decorative Lighting Fixtures). 

DRAFT

6037



 

 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Special Outdoor Lighting Installations 
 

 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, special outdoor lighting 
installations (other than as provided for under Parts A and B above) may be provided, 
owned, and maintained by KUB’s electric system. In such cases, KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
installation and shall require payment by the customer of monthly charges sufficient to 
cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate overheads of 
providing, owning, and maintaining such installations, and making lamp replacements.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6038



 

 

LIGHT-EMITTING DIODE (LED) PILOT PROGRAM - SCHEDULE LED 
OUTDOOR LIGHTING 

 
Pilot Program Description 

 
 The purpose of the LED Pilot Program is to enable a phased implementation of LED 
equipment on KUB’s electric system. The LED Pilot Program will provide KUB and 
participating customers experience with LED technologies. The duration of the LED 
Pilot Program shall be determined by KUB in its sole discretion.  

 
Pilot Program Availability 

 
 Service under the LED Pilot Program shall only be available for select outdoor 
(security) lighting facilities of governmental entities located in the KUB electric system 
service territory. Participation in the LED Pilot Program shall be on a voluntary basis. 
KUB reserves the right to limit the number of customers participating in the LED Pilot 
Program and/or to limit the extent of any customer’s participation in the program.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – No Capital Contribution 
 

 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities for providing service under the 
program has been borne by the electric system. The following charges are per LED 
fixture per month. 
 
   Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge KWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $12.27 38 $0.06574 $14.77 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $11.19 38 $0.06574 $13.69 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $14.75 57 $0.06574 $18.50 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $13.44 57 $0.06574 $17.19 
 
 In the event a customer voluntarily elects to discontinue service under this program, 
the customer, at the sole discretion of KUB, shall be subject to a capital recovery charge 
to ensure appropriate cost recovery for the electric system.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – Capital Contribution 
 
 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities providing service under the 
program has been borne by the customer. The following charges are per LED fixture 
per month. 
 
 

DRAFT

6039



 

 

    Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge kWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $5.29 38 $0.06574 $7.79 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $5.16 38 $0.06574 $7.66 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $6.15 57 $0.06574 $9.90 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $5.98 57 $0.06574 $9.73 
 
  

Additional Facilities 
 

 The above charges are limited to service installed on a pole already in place. If the 
customer wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already 
in place, the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for 
additional poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source.  
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6040



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE 
GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE TDGSA 

 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW for electric 
service to commercial, industrial, and governmental customers, and to institutional 
customers, including, without limitation, churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, 
nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, and like customers, provided that the 
other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.52 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.70 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 

DRAFT

6041



 

 

 
$17.52 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.21 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.70 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.21 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.70 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.21 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.570¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 

DRAFT

6042



 

 

      Winter Period:  6.411¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
  
    
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.996¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6043



 

 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

DRAFT

6044



 

 

 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 

DRAFT

6045



 

 

onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 
  

 After having received service for at least one year under this rate 
schedule, the customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with 
KUB, may receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the 
onpeak contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 
 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6046



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.52 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.70 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.52 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6047



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.21 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.70 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.21 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.70 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.21 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
     Summer Period: 9.570¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.411¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 

DRAFT

6048



 

 

energy to total energy, plus 
 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.996¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.074¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.441¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.996¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 

 
Facilities Rental Charge 

 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 

DRAFT

6049



 

 

30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 

DRAFT

6050



 

 

 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

DRAFT

6051



 

 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand. If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board.  

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6052



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.23 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.23 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6053



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.92 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.92 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.41 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.92 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.199¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.726¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.802¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.169¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.116¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.726¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

DRAFT

6054



 

 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.802¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.169¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.726¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.802¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.169¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.726¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 

 
Facilities Rental Charge 

 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 

DRAFT

6055



 

 

30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6056



 

 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service 
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand 
for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month 
designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case 
shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or 
ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as provided 
below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak billing 
demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of (1) the 
highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 
contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of 
(1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
  

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 

DRAFT

6057



 

 

entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

      KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6058



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 25,000 kW; provided that the other conditions of this 
section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.28 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.46 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.28 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6059



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.97 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.46 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.97 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.46 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.97 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.066¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  5.895¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 

DRAFT

6060



 

 

energy to total energy, plus 
 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.486¢ per kWh per 
month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 

DRAFT

6061



 

 

30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 
 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 

DRAFT

6062



 

 

and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW; (3) 50 
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW,  (5) 70 percent of 
the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 
kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  

DRAFT

6063



 

 

 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 
  
 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6064



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE  

SGSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.87 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.87 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.35 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.35 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.45 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.45 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

6065



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.716¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.292¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.199¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 

DRAFT

6066



 

 

made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSB. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSB shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

DRAFT

6067



 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6068



 

 

 
SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 

GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSC 

Availability 

 
This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 

requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.58 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.58 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.06 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.06 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.16 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6069



 

 

$11.16 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.729¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.296¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.206¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

DRAFT

6070



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

 
KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 

contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

6071



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSC. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSC shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6072



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
25,000 kW. 

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $26.32 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$26.32 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $19.77 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.77 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $14.89 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$14.89 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

6073



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.026¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.649¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.566¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

. 

DRAFT

6074



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

6075



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSD. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSD shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6076



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE TDMSA 

 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 

DRAFT

6077



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.48 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.48 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.17 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.66 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6078



 

 

 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.984¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.890¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

 

DRAFT

6079



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.451¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6080



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 

DRAFT

6081



 

 

onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for service under 
the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the onpeak contract 
demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

DRAFT

6082



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6083



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 

DRAFT

6084



 

 

  
Character of Service 

 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.48 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.48 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.17 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.66 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 

DRAFT

6085



 

 

demand, plus 
 

$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.984¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.890¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.451¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.528¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .895¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

DRAFT

6086



 

 

 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.451¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 

DRAFT

6087



 

 

Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 

DRAFT

6088



 

 

kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

     KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6089



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6090



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control. 
  
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
   
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

DRAFT

6091



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.23 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.23 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.92 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.92 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.41 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6092



 

 

 
$9.92 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 8.069¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.437¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.515¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .882¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.905¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.437¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.515¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .882¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.437¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.515¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .882¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
 

 

DRAFT

6093



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.437¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6094



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 

DRAFT

6095



 

 

contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent 
of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its 
maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being 
used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at 
any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If 
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, 
the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power 
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time 
to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6096



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6097



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 25,000 kW, and (b) the major use of 
electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are 
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, 
inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System 
(NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, 
however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a 
NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the 
preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service 
to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s 
expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins 
taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this 
section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a 
percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of 
the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 

DRAFT

6098



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.28 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.46 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.28 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.97 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.46 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.97 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.46 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6099



 

 

 
$9.97 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.920¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.740¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

 

DRAFT

6100



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.292¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
  
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6101



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW (3) 50 
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of 

DRAFT

6102



 

 

the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 
kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, and (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract 
for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of 
being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater 
amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand.  If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this 
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in 
any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement 
from time to time as approved by the Board. 

DRAFT

6103



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6104



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6105



 

 

Base Charges 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.85 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.85 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $13.34 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$13.34 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $8.43 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$8.43 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.904¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.426¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.314¢ per kWh per month 

 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 

DRAFT

6106



 

 

higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 

DRAFT

6107



 

 

customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSB. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSB shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6108



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSC 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 
 

Character of Service 
Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 

a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
Base Charges 

 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 

DRAFT

6109



 

 

Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.60 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.60 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $13.09 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$13.09 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $8.18 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$8.18 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.873¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.424¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.316¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

DRAFT

6110



 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

DRAFT

6111



 

 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSC. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSC shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6112



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at 
the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard 
Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS 
codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service 
under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly 
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, 
however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor 
requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months 
as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the previous 
sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing the total 
metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and 
the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was 
unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any 
hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event 
reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 

DRAFT

6113



 

 

Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.63 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.63 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.11 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.11 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.21 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.21 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.163¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  2.804¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 2.718¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

DRAFT

6114



 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 

DRAFT

6115



 

 

 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSD. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSD shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6116



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – FIVE-MINUTE RESPONSE (5 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Five-Minute Response (5 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 5 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 5 MR 
 

 All 5 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 5MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption and 
to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6117



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – SIXTY-MINUTE RESPONSE (60 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE 
POWER 

 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Sixty-Minute Response (60 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified 
general power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley 
Authority (TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 60 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 60 MR 
 

 All 60 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 60 MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption 
and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6118



 

 

TWO-PART REAL TIME PRICING (RTP) 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Two-Part Real Time Pricing (Two-Part RTP) to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 Two-Part RTP shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to 
specific contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for Two-Part RTP 
 

 All Two-Part RTP charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 Two-Part RTP furnished to a customer under the Contract may be subject to 
interruption and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6119



 

 

SUMMER MARKET DAYS (SMKT) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Summer Market Days (SMKT) Power to qualified general power users 
through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 SMKT shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for SMKT 
 

 All SMKT-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6120



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE (STOU) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Seasonal Time of Use (STOU) Power to qualified general power 
users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 STOU shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for STOU 
 

 All STOU-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 

DRAFT

6121



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT C 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE ELECTRIC DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2016 

  

DRAFT

6122



 

 

ELECTRIC DIVISION 
RESIDENTIAL RATE - SCHEDULE RS 

 
 

Availability 
 

 This rate shall apply only to electric service to a single-family dwelling and its 
appurtenances, where the major use of electricity is for domestic purposes such as 
lighting, household appliances, and the personal comfort and convenience of those 
residing therein. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a service 
voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. Multi-phase service shall be 
supplied in accordance with KUB’s standard policy. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge: $16.00 per month 

 
      Energy Charge:  

Summer Period     8.089¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period     8.048¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period    8.048¢ per kWh per month 

 
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 

in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 

   

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. 

 
 

DRAFT

6123



 

 

Minimum Monthly Bill 
 
 The base customer charge constitutes the minimum monthly bill for all customers 
served under this rate schedule except those customers for which a higher minimum 
monthly bill is required under KUB’s standard policy because of special circumstances 
affecting the cost of rendering service. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. 
 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6124



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE - SCHEDULE GSA 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate shall apply to the firm power requirements (where a customer’s contract 
demand is 5,000 kW or less) for electric service to commercial, industrial, and 
governmental customers, and institutional customers including without limitation, 
churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, 
and like customers. This rate shall also apply to customers to whom service is not 
available under any other resale rate schedule. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
service voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. 
 

 
Base Charges 

 
1. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand, if any, 

or (ii) its highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is not more 
than 50 kW and (b) the customer's monthly energy takings for any month during 
such period do not exceed 15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge: $24.00 per delivery point per month 
Energy Charge: 

Summer Period 9.531¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  9.490¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 9.490¢ per kWh per month 

2. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (ii) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 50 kW 
but not more than 1,000 kW or (b) the customer's billing demand is less than 
50 kW and its energy takings for any month during such period exceed 
15,000 kWh: 
Customer Charge:  $65.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period  First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge  
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.31 per kW 

DRAFT

6125



 

 

Winter Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Transition Period First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand 
charge 
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$11.52 per kW 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.199¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Winter Period  First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.158¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 
 
Transition Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.158¢ per kWh 
  Additional kWh per month at 5.471¢ per kWh 

3. If the higher of (a) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (b) its 
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 
1,000 kW: 
Customer Charge:  $170.00 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.89 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$13.52 per kW, plus an additional 
$13.52 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Winter Period  First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
 $12.13 per kW 

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 

DRAFT

6126



 

 

exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Transition Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.13 
per kW 
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at 
$12.76 per kW, plus an additional 
$12.76 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the 
amount by which the customer's billing demand 
exceeds the higher of 2,500 kW or its contract 
demand 

Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 6.012¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.012¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.012¢ per kWh per month 

 
Adjustment 

 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.   
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 
 KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers having loads in excess of 50 
kW. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of the load metered in kW. The measured 
demand for any month shall be the higher of the highest average during any 30-
consecutive-minute period of the month of (a) the load metered in kW or (b) 85 percent 
of the load in kVA plus an additional 10 percent for that part of the load over 5,000 kVA, 
and such measured demand shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing 
demand for any month shall in no case be less than 30 percent of the higher of the 
currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established during the 
preceding 12 months. 
 

DRAFT

6127



 

 

Minimum Bill 
 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule shall not be less than the sum of (a) the 
base customer charge, (b) the base demand charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s billing demand, and (c) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer’s energy takings; provided, however, that, under (2.) of the Base Charges, the 
monthly bill shall in no event be less than the sum (a) the base customer charge and (b) 
20 percent of the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, applicable to the 
second block (excess over 50kW) of billing demand, multiplied by the higher of the 
customer’s currently effective contract demand or its highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirements 
 
 KUB shall require contracts for service provided under this rate schedule to 
customers whose demand requirements exceed 1,000 kW and such contracts shall be 
for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective contract demand. If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single – Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the 
same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the 
supply of service at each delivery and metering point at each different voltage shall be 
separately metered and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6128



 

 

OUTDOOR LIGHTING RATE - SCHEDULE LS 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Available for service to street and park lighting systems, traffic signal systems, 
athletic field lighting installations, and outdoor lighting for individual customers.  
 
 Service under this schedule is for a term of not less than one year. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months.   
 
 
PART A – CHARGES FOR STREET AND PARK LIGHTING SYSTEMS, TRAFFIC 
SIGNAL SYSTEMS, AND ATHLETIC FIELD LIGHTING INSTALLATIONS 
 

I. Energy Charge: 
Summer Period 6.665¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.665¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.665¢ per kWh per month 

 
II. Facility Charge 
 
 The annual facility charge shall be 14.83 percent of the installed cost to KUB’s 
electric system of the facilities devoted to street and park lighting service specified in 
this Part A. Such installed cost shall be recomputed on July 1 of each year, or more 
often if substantial changes in the facilities are made. Each month, one-twelfth of the 
then total annual facility charge shall be billed to the customer. If any part of the facilities 
has not been provided at the electric system’s expense or if the installed cost of any 
portion thereof is reflected on the books of another municipality or agency or 
department, the annual facility charge shall be adjusted to reflect properly the remaining 
cost to be borne by the electric system. 
 
 Traffic signal systems and athletic field lighting installations shall be provided, 
owned, and maintained by and at the expense of the customer, except as KUB may 
agree otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the paragraph next following in this 
Section II. The facilities necessary to provide service to such systems and installations 
shall be provided by and at the expense of KUB’s electric system, and the annual facility 

DRAFT

6129



 

 

charge provided for first above in this Section II shall apply to the installed cost of such 
facilities. 
 
 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, traffic signal systems 
and athletic field lighting installations may be provided, owned, and maintained by 
KUB’s electric system for the customer’s benefit. In such cases KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
system or installation and shall require payment by the customer of a facility charge 
sufficient to cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate 
overheads, of providing, owning, and maintaining such system or installation; provided 
that, for athletic field lighting installations, such facility charge shall be 13.76 percent per 
year of such costs. Said facility charge shall be in addition to the annual facility charge 
on the facilities necessary to provide service to such system or installation as provided 
for in the preceding paragraph. Replacement of lamps and related glassware for traffic 
signal systems and athletic field lighting installations provided under this paragraph shall 
be paid for under the provisions of paragraph A in section IV. 
 

III. Customer Charge – Traffic Signal Systems and Athletic Field Lighting Installations. 
 

KUB shall apply a uniform monthly customer charge of $2.50 for service to each 
traffic signal system or athletic field lighting installation. 

 
IV. Replacement of Lamps and Related Glassware – Street and Park Lighting 

 
 Customer shall be billed and shall pay for replacements as provided in paragraph  
 A below, which shall be applied to all service for street and park lighting. 
 
A. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for such replacements during each month at 
KUB’s cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expense. 
 
B. KUB shall bill the customer monthly for one-twelfth of the amount by which KUB’s 
cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expenses, exceeds the products of 3 
mills multiplied by the number of kilowatt-hours used for street and park lighting during 
the fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal year in which such month occurs. 
 
 

Metering 
 

 For any billing month or part of such month in which the energy is not metered or for 
which a meter reading is found to be in error or a meter is found to have failed, the 
energy for billing purposes for that billing month or part of such month shall be 
computed from the rated capacity of the lamps (including ballast) plus 5 percent of such 
capacity to reflect secondary circuit losses, multiplied by the number of hours of use. 
 
 

DRAFT

6130



 

 

Revenue and Cost Review 
 

 KUB’s costs of providing service under Part A of this rate schedule are subject to 
review at any time to determine if KUB’s revenues from the charges being applied are 
sufficient to cover its costs. (Such costs, including applicable overheads, include, but 
are not limited to, those incurred in the operation and maintenance of the systems 
provided and those resulting from depreciation and payments for taxes, tax equivalents 
and interest). If any such review discloses that revenues are either less or more than 
sufficient to cover said costs, the Board shall revise the above facility charges so that 
revenues will be sufficient to cover said costs.  
 
 
PART B—CHARGES FOR OUTDOOR LIGHTING FOR INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMERS 

 
Charges Per Fixture Per Month 

             Lamp Size   Rated Facility Total Lamp 
(a) Type of Fixture    (Watts)  (Lumens)    kWh  Charge      Charge 
   Mercury Vapor or 175           7,650      70   $4.64          $ 9.31 
   Incandescent*  400     19,100    155     6.47           16.80 
      1,000**     47,500    378   10.36           35.55 
 
   High Pressure  100       8,550      42   $4.64        $ 7.44 
   Sodium   250         23,000    105     5.50            12.50 
        400         45,000     165      6.47          17.47 
                1,000**    126,000     385   10.36           36.02 
    
   Decorative    100           8,550       42     5.28                 8.08 
 
*   Mercury Vapor and Incandescent fixtures not offered for new service. 
** 1,000 watt fixtures not offered for new service. 
 
(b) Energy Charge:  For each lamp size under (a) above,  

Summer Period 6.665¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  6.665¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 6.665¢ per kWh per month 

 
Additional Facilities 

 
 The above charges in this Part B are limited to service from a photoelectrically 
controlled standard lighting fixture installed on a pole already in place. If the customer 
wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already in place, 
the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for additional 
poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source. (This section 
does not apply to Decorative Lighting Fixtures). 

DRAFT

6131



 

 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Special Outdoor Lighting Installations 
 

 When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, special outdoor lighting 
installations (other than as provided for under Parts A and B above) may be provided, 
owned, and maintained by KUB’s electric system. In such cases, KUB may require 
reimbursement from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such 
installation and shall require payment by the customer of monthly charges sufficient to 
cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate overheads of 
providing, owning, and maintaining such installations, and making lamp replacements.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6132



 

 

LIGHT-EMITTING DIODE (LED) PILOT PROGRAM - SCHEDULE LED 
OUTDOOR LIGHTING 

 
Pilot Program Description 

 
 The purpose of the LED Pilot Program is to enable a phased implementation of LED 
equipment on KUB’s electric system. The LED Pilot Program will provide KUB and 
participating customers experience with LED technologies. The duration of the LED 
Pilot Program shall be determined by KUB in its sole discretion.  

 
Pilot Program Availability 

 
 Service under the LED Pilot Program shall only be available for select outdoor 
(security) lighting facilities of governmental entities located in the KUB electric system 
service territory. Participation in the LED Pilot Program shall be on a voluntary basis. 
KUB reserves the right to limit the number of customers participating in the LED Pilot 
Program and/or to limit the extent of any customer’s participation in the program.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – No Capital Contribution 
 

 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities for providing service under the 
program has been borne by the electric system. The following charges are per LED 
fixture per month. 
 
   Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge KWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $12.43 38 $0.06665 $14.96 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $11.34 38 $0.06665 $13.87 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $14.95 57 $0.06665 $18.75 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $13.62 57 $0.06665 $17.42 
 
 In the event a customer voluntarily elects to discontinue service under this program, 
the customer, at the sole discretion of KUB, shall be subject to a capital recovery charge 
to ensure appropriate cost recovery for the electric system.   
 

Pilot Program Charges – Capital Contribution 
 
 The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED 
Pilot Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities providing service under the 
program has been borne by the customer. The following charges are per LED fixture 
per month. 
 
 

DRAFT

6133



 

 

    Energy  
 Facility Rated Charge Total  

LED Fixture Type Charge kWh per kWh Charge 
     
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $5.36 38 $0.06665 $7.89 
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $5.23 38 $0.06665 $7.76 
     
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $6.23 57 $0.06665 $10.03 
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $6.06 57 $0.06665 $9.86 
 
  

Additional Facilities 
 

 The above charges are limited to service installed on a pole already in place. If the 
customer wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already 
in place, the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for 
additional poles required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source.  
 

Adjustment 
 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in 
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by 
the Board. 
 

Lamp Replacements 
 

 Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with 
replacement policies of KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6134



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE 
GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE TDGSA 

 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW for electric 
service to commercial, industrial, and governmental customers, and to institutional 
customers, including, without limitation, churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, 
nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, and like customers, provided that the 
other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.55 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 

DRAFT

6135



 

 

 
$17.55 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.24 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.73 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.580¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 

DRAFT

6136



 

 

      Winter Period:  6.421¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
  
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 6.006¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6137



 

 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

DRAFT

6138



 

 

 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 

DRAFT

6139



 

 

onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 
  

 After having received service for at least one year under this rate 
schedule, the customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with 
KUB, may receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the 
onpeak contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 
 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6140



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.55 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.55 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6141



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.24 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.73 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
     Summer Period: 9.580¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.421¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

DRAFT

6142



 

 

   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 
maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 6.006¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   4.084¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.451¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 6.006¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 

 
Facilities Rental Charge 

 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 

DRAFT

6143



 

 

less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 

DRAFT

6144



 

 

and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 
onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
   

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

 
 

DRAFT

6145



 

 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand. If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board.  

 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6146



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW; provided that 
the other conditions of this section are met. 
 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.43 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.61 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.43 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6147



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.12 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.61 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.12 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.61 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$10.12 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.207¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.734¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.810¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.177¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  6.124¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.734¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

DRAFT

6148



 

 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.810¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.177¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.734¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.810¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.177¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours   
 
For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.734¢ per kWh 

per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 

 
Facilities Rental Charge 

 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 

DRAFT

6149



 

 

30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6150



 

 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service 
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand 
for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month 
designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case 
shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or 
ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as provided 
below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak billing 
demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of (1) the 
highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 
contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of 
(1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
  

 
Minimum Bill 

 
 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 

charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 

DRAFT

6151



 

 

entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 

Contract Requirement 
 
 

      KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6152



 

 

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand is greater than 25,000 kW; provided that the other conditions of this 
section are met. 
 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.30 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.30 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 

DRAFT

6153



 

 

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.99 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.99 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.48 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.99 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 9.066¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Winter Period:  5.895¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

DRAFT

6154



 

 

   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 
maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Transition Period: 5.486¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   3.562¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   1.930¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
   
 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.486¢ per kWh per 
month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
 

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 

DRAFT

6155



 

 

less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 
 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 

DRAFT

6156



 

 

amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW; (3) 50 
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW,  (5) 70 percent of 
the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 
kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of  the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  

 

DRAFT

6157



 

 

 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 

Contract Requirement 
 
  
 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6158



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE  

SGSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.90 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.90 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.38 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.38 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.48 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

6159



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.726¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.302¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.209¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.  

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 

DRAFT

6160



 

 

made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSB. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSB shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

DRAFT

6161



 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6162



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSC 

Availability 

 
This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 

requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW  

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.78 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.78 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.26 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.26 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.36 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.36 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

6163



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.737¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  4.304¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 4.214¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

DRAFT

6164



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

 
KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 

contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

6165



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSC. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSC shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6166



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power 
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 
25,000 kW. 

 
Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for 

continued participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at 
KUB’s sole discretion. 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $26.34 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$26.34 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $19.79 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.79 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $14.91 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$14.91 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

DRAFT

6167



 

 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  4.026¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.649¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.566¢ per kWh per month 
 

Adjustment 
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 

changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   

. 

DRAFT

6168



 

 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 

DRAFT

6169



 

 

subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate - Schedule GSD. In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for 
service under the General Power Rate – Schedule GSD shall not be less than the 
contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 

Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6170



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE TDMSA 

 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 

 

DRAFT

6171



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.55 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.55 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.24 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.73 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6172



 

 

 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.986¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.892¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

 

DRAFT

6173



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.453¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6174



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 

DRAFT

6175



 

 

onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and 
such contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall 
contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power 
capable of being used by the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power 
in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak 
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB 
under this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate 
schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or 
replacement from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA.  In such case the term 
of the power contract shall remain the same and the contract demand for service under 
the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA shall not be less than the onpeak contract 
demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

DRAFT

6176



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
  

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6177



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSB 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
  
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
 

DRAFT

6178



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.55 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.55 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.24 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.73 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.73 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

DRAFT

6179



 

 

 
$10.24 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.986¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.892¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.453¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.530¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .897¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 
 

 

DRAFT

6180



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.453¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6181



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 
kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest 

DRAFT

6182



 

 

onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing 
demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW 
and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently 
effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

     KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If the 
customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the 
contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract 
shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time 
as approved by the Board. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6183



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6184



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSC 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW, 
and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving 
that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code 
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 
541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the 
basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 
percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the 
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer 
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in 
this section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean 
a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product 
of the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control. 
  
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
   
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

DRAFT

6185



 

 

Character of Service 
 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.43 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.61 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.43 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$10.12 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.61 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$10.12 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Transition Period: 
$4.61 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 

DRAFT

6186



 

 

$10.12 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 8.071¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.439¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.517¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .884¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.907¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.439¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.517¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .884¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.439¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.517¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .884¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours  
 

 

DRAFT

6187



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.439¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 

 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 

DRAFT

6188



 

 

Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 
KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 
percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak 

DRAFT

6189



 

 

contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent 
of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak 
contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 
12 months. 
 
  

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its 
maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being 
used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at 
any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand.  If 
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, 
the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power 
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time 
to time as approved by the Board. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6190



 

 

Single Point Delivery 
 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6191



 

 

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSD 
 
 

Availability 
 
 This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power 
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand, whichever is higher, is greater than 25,000 kW, and (b) the major use of 
electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are 
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, 
inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System 
(NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, 
however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a 
NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the 
preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service 
to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s 
expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins 
taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this 
section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a 
percentage calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of 
the metered demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, 
exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or 
curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was 
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s 
control.  
 
 Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 
thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB. Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form. 
 
 Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 
 
 For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its 
offpeak contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new 
contract, (2) a replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing 
contract, or (3) a replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in 
which the customer is increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract 
demand level, but under this item (3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak 
contract demand shall be lower than the customer’s existing contract demand. 
 
  

DRAFT

6192



 

 

 
Character of Service 

 
 Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 
 
 

Base Charges 
 
 Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month. 
  
 Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month. 
 
 Demand Charge:   
      Summer Period: 
   $17.30 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing 

demand, plus 
 

$4.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand plus 
 
$17.30 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 

      Winter Period: 
$9.99 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak billing    
demand, plus 
 
$4.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the 
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, plus 
 
$9.99 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing demand exceeds 
its onpeak contract demand or (2) the customer’s offpeak 
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand, 
whichever is higher 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6193



 

 

      Transition Period: 
$4.48 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak billing 
demand, plus 

 
$9.99 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, 
by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its 
offpeak contract demand   

 
 Energy Charge:    
 
      Summer Period: 7.920¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
    
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
      Winter Period:  4.740¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 
 
   4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak 
energy to total energy, plus 

 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours multiplied by the 
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy 

 
 
      Transition Period: 4.292¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   2.369¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of 

maximum metered demand, plus 
 
   .737¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum 

metered demand in excess of 620 hours 

DRAFT

6194



 

 

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.292¢ per kWh 
per month shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings 
amount that is greater than the metered energy. 
  

Facilities Rental Charge 
 
 There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk 
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there 
shall be added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 
cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the 
charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per kW 
per month for the excess over 10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of 
(1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-month 
period or (2) the higher of the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including 
minimum bill charges. 
 
 

Reactive Demand Charge 
 
 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges.   
 
 

Adjustment 
 

 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board. 
 
 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 
 

 Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. 
Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. 
Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The 
Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event 

DRAFT

6195



 

 

KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be 
made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB 
shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours 
 

 Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal 
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 
p.m. during the Summer Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. 
For the Summer Period and the Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not 
otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all hours of such excepted days shall be 
offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Time, 
whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject to change by 
KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours are 
appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date 
of such changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 
 
 For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours. 
 
 

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, 
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts 

 
 The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken 
during the respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak 
and offpeak hours; provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy 
amount, the offpeak energy for any month shall in no case be less than the product of 
(1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in the last sentence of the paragraph below 
and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor applied to the average number of 
hours in a month). 
 
 KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking 
service under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered 
demand for any month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the 
month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each 
case shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning 
or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and, except as 
provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the onpeak and offpeak 
billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the higher of 
(1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered 
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum 
of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW (3) 50 
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of 
the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all 

DRAFT

6196



 

 

kW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract 
demand or the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 
months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the 
next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, and (5) 70 percent of the next 
100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in 
excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand 
or the highest offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.  
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

 The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental 
charges and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base 
customer charge, (2) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding 
the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract 
demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to the customer’s onpeak billing 
demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted, (but excluding the 
additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) 
applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount, 
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing 
demand, (4) the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s 
onpeak energy takings, and (5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to 
the higher of customer’s actual offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy 
takings amount provided for in the first paragraph of the section of this rate schedule 
entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, 
and Energy Amounts”.  
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 
 
 

Contract Requirement 
 

 KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate 
schedule. The contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals 
or extensions of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten 
years of service, any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide 
for termination upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract 
for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of 
being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater 
amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract 
demand.  If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this 
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in 
any power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement 
from time to time as approved by the Board. 
 

DRAFT

6197



 

 

 
Single Point Delivery 

 
 The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through 
a single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same 
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of 
service at each delivery point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered 
and billed. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6198



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSB 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 
a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6199



 

 

Base Charges 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.92 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.92 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $13.41 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$13.41 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $8.50 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$8.50 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.906¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.428¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.316¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-

DRAFT

6200



 

 

month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

Reactive Demand Charges 

If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule.  The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher 
of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established 
during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 

DRAFT

6201



 

 

 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSB. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSB shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6202



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSC 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity 
is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified 
with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or 
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, 
or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers 
qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have 
an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; 
provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this 
load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the 
previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing 
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that 
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which 
power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service 
and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force 
Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 
 

Character of Service 
Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz.  Power shall be delivered at 

a transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

 
Base Charges 

 
 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 

DRAFT

6203



 

 

Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $19.80 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$19.80 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $13.29 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$13.29 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $8.38 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$8.38 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.875¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  3.426¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 3.318¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

DRAFT

6204



 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period 
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any 
kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or 
the highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 
 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

DRAFT

6205



 

 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than four months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSC. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSC shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

  

DRAFT

6206



 

 

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY 
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSD 

Availability 

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric 
power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is 
greater than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at 
the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard 
Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS 
codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service 
under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly 
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, 
however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor 
requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months 
as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the previous 
sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing the total 
metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and 
the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was 
unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any 
hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event 
reasonably beyond the customer’s control.   

 
Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time 

thereafter as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the 
requirements set forth in condition (b) above.  The certification form to be used shall be 
furnished by KUB to the customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to 
KUB.  Further, such customer shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of 
the information contained in the certification form to Distributor. 

 
Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility 

requirements set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and 
billed in accordance with, the applicable General Power schedule. 

 

Character of Service 

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a 
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the 
highest voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower 
standard voltage is agreed upon. 

Base Charges 

Customer Charge:  $1,500 per delivery point per month 

DRAFT

6207



 

 

Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month 
Demand Charge:  

Summer Period $22.65 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$22.65 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Winter Period $16.13 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$16.13 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Transition Period $11.23 per kW per month of the customer’s billing 
demand, plus 
$11.23 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by 
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its 
contract demand 

Energy Charge:  
Summer Period  3.163¢ per kWh per month 
Winter Period  2.804¢ per kWh per month 
Transition Period 2.718¢ per kWh per month 

Adjustment 

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect 
changes in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment 
adopted by the Board. 

Facilities Rental Charge 

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at 
bulk transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher.  For delivery at less than 161 kV, 
there shall be added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge.  This charge shall be 
37 cents per kW per month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case 
the charge shall be 97 cents per kW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per 
kW per month for the excess over 10,000 kW.  Such charge shall be applied to the 
higher of (1) the highest billing demand established during the latest 12-consecutive-
month period or (2) the customer's currently effective contract demand and shall be in 
addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges. 

DRAFT

6208



 

 

Reactive Demand Charges 

 If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute 
period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest 
metered demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of 
$1.46 per kVAR of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 
percent of such metered demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which 
the customer’s lowest metered demand (excluding any metered demands which are 
less than 25 percent of the highest metered demand) occurs, there shall be added to 
the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR of the amount of reactive 
demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule, 
including minimum bill charges. 

. 

Determination of Seasonal Periods 

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing 
months.  Winter Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing 
months.  Transition Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing 
months. The Seasonal Periods under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. 
In the event KUB determines that changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such 
decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such changed 
periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer. 

Determination of Demand 

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate 
schedule. The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 
30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the 
load metered in kW, and such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that 
the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent 
of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 
kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of 
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing 
demand established during the preceding 12 months. 

Minimum Bill 

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges 
and any reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer 
charge, (2) the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion 
thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract demand) applied to the 
customer's billing demand, and (3) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the 
customer's energy takings. 

DRAFT

6209



 

 

 
 KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above. 

Contract Requirement 

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The 
contract shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions 
of the initial contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, 
any such contract for the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination 
upon not less than sixteen months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum 
requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by 
customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time 
than the customer's currently effective contract demand.  If the customer uses any 
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may 
include other special provisions.  The rate schedule in any power contract shall be 
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as 
approved by the Board. 
 

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the 
customer, subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may 
receive service under the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSD. In such case 
the term of the power contract shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand 
for service under the Manufacturing Service Rate – Schedule MSD shall not be less 
than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under this rate schedule. 

 

Single-Point Delivery 

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service 
through a single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.  If service is 
supplied to the same customer through more than one point of delivery or at different 
voltages, the supply of service at each delivery and metering point and at each different 
voltage shall be separately metered and billed. 
 

 Rules and Regulations 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6210



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – FIVE-MINUTE RESPONSE (5 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE POWER 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Five-Minute Response (5 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 5 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 5 MR 
 

 All 5 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 5MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption and 
to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6211



 

 

DISCOUNT POWER – SIXTY-MINUTE RESPONSE (60 MR)  INTERRUPTIBLE 
POWER 

 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Sixty-Minute Response (60 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified 
general power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley 
Authority (TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 60 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for 60 MR 
 

 All 60 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 60 MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption 
and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6212



 

 

TWO-PART REAL TIME PRICING (RTP) 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Two-Part Real Time Pricing (Two-Part RTP) to qualified general 
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority 
(TVA), in accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 Two-Part RTP shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to 
specific contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).  
 
  

Charges for Two-Part RTP 
 

 All Two-Part RTP charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.  
 
 

Interruptibility 
 

 Two-Part RTP furnished to a customer under the Contract may be subject to 
interruption and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6213



 

 

SUMMER MARKET DAYS (SMKT) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Summer Market Days (SMKT) Power to qualified general power users 
through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 SMKT shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for SMKT 
 

 All SMKT-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  

DRAFT

6214



 

 

SEASONAL TIME OF USE (STOU) POWER 
 
 

Availability 
 

 KUB provides Seasonal Time of Use (STOU) Power to qualified general power 
users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in 
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA. 
  
 STOU shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific 
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual 
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”). 
 
  

Charges for STOU 
 

 All STOU-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract. 
 
 

Adjustment 
 
 Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes 
in purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted 
by the Board.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6215



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT D 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE GAS DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

DRAFT

6216



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-2 
 

RESIDENTIAL GAS SERVICE 
 

 
Availability 

Service under Rate Schedule G-2 is available only to residential customers served 
individually through a separate meter.  Rate Schedule G-2 shall also be available to a 
customer with eight or less dwelling units served through a single meter, but in such 
case the minimum charge and the quantity of gas specified for each block of Rate 
Schedule G-2 shall be multiplied by the number of individual dwelling units served. 
 
 
  Net Rates 
 

For the regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive: 
 

Customer Charge:  $6.65 
 

Commodity Charge:          $1.1898 per therm for the first 30 therms; plus 
            $0.9776 per therm for the excess over 30 therms. 

 
For the regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive: 

 
Customer Charge:  $6.65 

 
Commodity Charge:          $1.0111 per therm for the first 50 therms; plus 
            $0.8925 per therm for the excess over 50 therms. 

 
 
 Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

DRAFT

6217



 

 

 Minimum Bill 
 

 The minimum bill under Rate Schedule G-2 for each regular monthly billing period 
shall be the Customer Charge.   
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6218



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-4  
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-4 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under 
Rate Schedule G-4, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-6, shall 
not be allowed to return to service under Rate Schedule G-6 until at least twelve months 
have elapsed since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-6. 
   
  
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $13.00 
 

Commodity Charge:  $1.1084 per therm for the first 250 therms; plus 
       $0.9952 per therm for the excess over 250 therms. 
 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the Customer Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

6219



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-6 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-6 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer that incurs a demand of twenty-seven therms or more during the current 
monthly billing period or during any of the eleven most recent monthly billing periods.  
Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-6, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-4, shall not be allowed to 
return to service under Rate Schedule G-4 until at least twelve months have elapsed 
since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-4. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $125.00 
 

Demand Charge:  $1.85 per therm of demand. 
 

Commodity Charge:  $0.7377 per therm for the first 30,000 therms; plus 
    $0.6476 per therm for the excess over 30,000 therms. 

 
 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

For the six regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive, 
herein called the "On Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas 
used on any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty 
percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any On Peak Season 
month in the twelve months ending with the applicable monthly billing period. 

 
For the six regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive, herein 

called the "Off Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas used on 
any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty percent 
(80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any month in the immediately 
preceding On Peak Season, except (a) the demand for any customer who has used gas 
under Rate Schedule G-6 during all six months in the immediately preceding On Peak 

DRAFT

6220



 

 

Season shall be eighty percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in 
any month in the immediately preceding On Peak Season, and (b) the demand shall be 
zero for a customer who has used gas under Rate Schedule G-6 during at least three 
months during the immediately preceding Off Peak Season and has used no gas during 
the immediately preceding On Peak Season. 

 
At the option of KUB, the demand shall be determined either (a) by demand type 

meter, or (b) by electronic measuring device, or (c) by test, or (d) by estimate.  If 
determined by estimate, the demand shall be considered to be equal to five percent 
(5%) of the total quantity of gas used during the applicable monthly billing period. 
 
 
  Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

6221



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-7 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE LARGE COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 “Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for interruptible gas service under Rate Schedule G-7. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 
 “Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB. 
 
 “Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided in KUB's Rules and Regulations. 
 
 “Interruptible Gas” means that gas which is subject to interruption or curtailment by 
KUB at any time and to the extent that KUB, in its sole discretion, deems desirable. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 
 “Supplemental Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer for 
Delivery to KUB and Redelivery to the Customer. 

 
“Transport Gas” means gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 

KUB that the Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for Redelivery to the 
Customer. 
 

“Unauthorized Gas” means the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6222



 

 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-7 is available to any customer who meets the 
following conditions: 
 

(a)  Customer’s annual Interruptible Gas use, on an actual or projected basis, shall 
not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b)  Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 
under Rate Schedule G-7 for each two (2) dekatherms of Interruptible Gas which are 
purchased; 
 

(c)  Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 
providing Customer's normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Interruptible Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; and 
 

(d)  KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 
and available for the requested service. 
 

In the event Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet the conditions (a) 
through (c), service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall no longer be available; but at KUB's 
option, gas service may be provided to the Customer under Rate Schedule G-6. 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-7 immediately prior to September 1, 1992 may continue to receive service under Rate 
Schedule G-7 without fulfilling each of the above stated conditions until such time as 
service to Customer is terminated or Customer begins receiving gas service under a 
different rate schedule.  Such Customer shall continue to comply with any conditions in 
effect prior to September 1, 1992. 
 
 Character of Service 
 

Interruptible Gas shall be available only to the extent that KUB has gas available that 
is not required by firm customers.  If a Customer is served by gas purchased on an 
interruptible rate from KUB's suppliers, all conditions imposed by KUB's suppliers on the 
use of such Interruptible Gas shall likewise apply to such Customer as if KUB imposed 
the condition on the Customer. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6223



 

 

Transportation Service 
 

During any Period of Interruption, Customer may request Transportation Service 
from KUB whereby Customer may either (i) purchase Transport Gas and arrange to 
Deliver such Transport Gas to KUB via any connected interstate natural gas pipeline to 
one or more of KUB’s designated delivery points for Redelivery to the Customer or (ii) 
solicit the service of KUB in procuring Supplemental Gas for Customer whereby upon 
agreeing to provide such service, KUB will attempt to: (a) procure Supplemental Gas on 
the open market for the account of Customer; (b) arrange for such Supplemental Gas to 
be transported at Customer’s cost via connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s designated delivery points, and (c) Redeliver such Supplemental Gas 
to Customer. 
 

Redeliveries by KUB to Customer are subject to interruption when, in the sole 
discretion of KUB, conditions warrant a suspension of Transportation Service. 

 
Prior to the commencement of a Period of Interruption or within a reasonable period 

of time subsequent to the commencement of a Period of Interruption, as determined by 
KUB in its sole discretion, Customer must: (a) notify KUB of its intent to receive 
Transportation Service from KUB and (b) provide KUB with a schedule showing the 
proposed daily volumes to be delivered to KUB and Redelivered to the Customer.  KUB 
shall notify Customer of those volumes KUB has approved on a daily basis for Delivery 
to KUB and Redelivery to Customer (Approved Daily Volumes) prior to the Delivery of 
any gas to KUB.  KUB reserves the right to adjust the Approved Daily Volumes as 
conditions warrant.  KUB shall notify Customer promptly of any adjustment in the 
Approved Daily Volumes. 
 

KUB shall not be obligated to Redeliver any volumes of gas to Customer: (a) in 
excess of the Customer’s Approved Daily Volumes and (b) in the case of Transport 
Gas, for which KUB has not received a confirmation of receipt from the applicable 
connecting pipeline on any given Day. 
 

Transportation Service under this Rate Schedule shall be subject to the following 
charges, as applicable: (a) the Commodity Charge, as set forth in the Rate Schedule, 
for Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to Customer, and (b) the Transportation Charge, 
as set forth in this Rate Schedule, for Redeliveries to Customer. 
 

Upon conclusion of Customer’s Period of Interruption, if total previous Deliveries of 
Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB exceeds total Redeliveries of Transport 
Gas or Supplemental Gas to Customer by KUB, as applicable, the excess will be 
treated as the first gas (excluding Firm Gas) through Customer’s meter following 
Customer’s Period of Interruption. 

 
Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be used only by the 

Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 

DRAFT

6224



 

 

Quantities of Gas Delivered 
 

For the purpose of allocating the daily volume of gas delivered to a Customer under 
this rate schedule, the first gas delivered shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily 
quantity contracted for as Firm Gas, the next gas delivered shall be the Approved Daily 
Volumes of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas for that Day, as applicable, and all 
additional gas delivered shall be considered Interruptible Gas except during a Period of 
Interruption, then all additional gas delivered shall be considered Unauthorized Gas. 
 
 
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:   $250.00 
 

Demand Charge:   $18.50 per dekatherm of demand. 
 
 
Commodity Charge: 

 
For Firm Gas:  $6.476 per dekatherm. 
 
For Interruptible Gas: $6.154 for the first 3,000 dekatherms; plus 

$5.580 for each dekatherm from 3,000 to and 
including 20,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.814 for each dekatherm from 20,000 to and 
including 50,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.656 for the excess over 50,000 dekatherms. 

 
For Supplemental Gas: The Commodity Charge for Supplemental Gas 

shall be the total of: (a) the cost per dekatherm 
to KUB for the applicable Day of acquiring 
Supplemental Gas on the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase 
Supplemental Gas at or above such price and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting 
such Supplemental Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Transportation Charge:  $1.928  per dekatherm for the first 3,000 

dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$1.354 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 

DRAFT

6225



 

 

$.588 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 
50,000 dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas. 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge:  $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as 
a penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if 
Gas Daily is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices or (2) the applicable first of the month 
Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer 
published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices and (b) the costs incurred by 
KUB in transporting such Unauthorized Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s 
delivery points. 

 
In determining the appropriate rate block to bill Transportation Charges for gas 

Redelivered and Unauthorized Gas, the following volumes shall be combined: 
Interruptible Gas, Supplemental Gas, Transport Gas, and Unauthorized Gas. 

 
Purchased Gas Adjustment 

 
The Commodity Charge for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas shall be subject to KUB's 

Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
  Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective. 
 

DRAFT

6226



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  Customer must immediately notify KUB 
if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event Customer takes 
Unauthorized Gas, Customer shall be charged the Unauthorized Gas Charge for all 
Unauthorized Gas delivered by KUB to Customer.  In addition, KUB may suspend or 
terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under applicable law.  
The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to give Customer 
the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory basis.  
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 
(1)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or capacity limitation 

on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all interruptible 
customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as 
determined by KUB. 

 
(2)  If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 

distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted 
area will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall 
be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
(3)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 

supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or 
by an actual shortage of gas, then: 

 
(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 Customers (other 

than Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas and Transport Gas) who have not 
heretofore been interrupted as provided above. 

 
(b) The second service interrupted shall be Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to 

Rate Schedule G-7 Customers and deliveries of standby gas by KUB to Rate 
Schedule G-11 customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired 
Supplemental Gas for the account of a Customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or 
standby gas for the account of a customer under Rate Schedule G-11, these 
services may be interrupted to the extent necessary to provide service to 
KUB’s Firm Gas customers. 

 
Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 

rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

DRAFT

6227



 

 

 
Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 

service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 
(4)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 

connecting pipeline of deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to any 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only 
service to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to the affected 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, as 
applicable, will be interrupted. 

 
 Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer's premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be purchased, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may purchase.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 

Contract for Service 
 
Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall execute a contract 

with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified in said 
contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon.  Transportation 
Service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be provided only after such customer executes 
a contract with KUB providing for Transportation Service. 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6228



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-11 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 
“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 

from KUB for interruptible transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-11. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules and Regulations. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 

 
“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 

requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of non-Firm gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 

 
“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Firm Gas and Unauthorized Gas, 

to a Customer by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 

 

DRAFT

6229



 

 

 “Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other 
than KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and the 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide interruptible transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 

 
“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 

amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption or (b) the difference (whether 
positive or negative) between the quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes 
provided for under an Operational Flow Order. 
 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be available to any customer who meets 
the following conditions: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas), on an actual or projected 

basis, shall not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten 
therms); 

 
(b) Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 

under Rate Schedule G-11 for each two (2) dekatherms of Transport Gas delivered by 
KUB to the Customer; 

 
(c) Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 

providing Customer’s normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Transport Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; 

 
 Condition (c) shall be optional for any Customer who meets the following 

requirements: (1) annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas) is equal to or greater than 
25,000 dekatherms; (2) primary use of gas is for industrial or process use; and (3) 
provides satisfactory evidence to KUB of its ability and willingness to have its gas 
service interrupted or curtailed by KUB in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Rate Schedule.   

 
(d) Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB. 

DRAFT

6230



 

 

 
 (e) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
 (f) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for interruptible 

transportation gas service. 
 
 In the event Customer shall fail at any time to meet conditions (a) through (d) 

service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 

 
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer which received service under Rate 

Schedule G-11 prior to November 1, 1997 may receive service under Rate Schedule G-
11 without fulfilling conditions (a) and (b).  Any such Customer shall comply with all 
other terms and conditions of Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-11, and 
subject to Periods of Interruption determined by KUB in its sole discretion, KUB shall 
deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from one 
or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account. 

 
If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 

any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
The first gas delivered to the Customer on a daily basis under Rate Schedule G-11 

shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily quantity contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer. 

 
Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be used only by the 

Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $350.00 
 

Demand Charge: $18.50 per dekatherm of demand. 
 

Firm Gas Charge: $6.476 per dekatherm.   
 

DRAFT

6231



 

 

Transportation Charge: $1.928 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer; plus 
$1.354 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of non-
Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.588 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
non-Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer. 

 
Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: 

(a) the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the 
applicable Day of acquiring Standby Gas on the 
open market, subject to the approval of the 
Customer to purchase Standby Gas at or above 
such price and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in 
transporting such Standby Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices or (2) the 
applicable first of the month Gulf Coast Price 
Index as published in INSIDE FERC, or if INSIDE 
FERC is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices and (b) the 
costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 

pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in 
connection with the transportation of gas on behalf 
of the Customer, as applicable. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6232



 

 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Firm Gas Charge shall be subject to KUB’s Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 

 
Standby Gas Service 

 
In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 

Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB. 

 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective.   
 
 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Transport Gas portion of the 
Contract Amount shall be specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one 
business day prior to the beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify 
the Customer in writing of the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have 

DRAFT

6233



 

 

been approved for Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily 
basis during such month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and 
obtain written approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a 
month at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such 
change. 
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 
(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
non-Firm gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following 
situations: (1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient 
and reliable service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on 
demand, (3) to maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, 
(4) to avoid penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may 
threaten the operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 
OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO.  
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 
 

DRAFT

6234



 

 

Balancing of Deliveries 
 

As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  
Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  

 
KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 

practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-11.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 

 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 

 
Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 

volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

 
% Monthly Imbalance              Price 

 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%  115% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%  140% of Index Price 
        >20%   150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

DRAFT

6235



 

 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 

(1) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or a capacity 
limitation on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all 
interruptible customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis 
as determined by KUB. 
 

(2) If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 
distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted area 
will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall be handled 
on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 
 

(3) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 
supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or by an 
actual shortage of gas, then: 
 

(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 customers (other than 
redeliveries of supplemental gas and transport gas) who have not heretofore been 
interrupted as provided above. 
 

(b) The second service interrupted shall be redeliveries of supplemental gas to Rate 
Schedule G-7 customers and Deliveries of Standby Gas by KUB to Rate Schedule G-11 
Customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired supplemental gas for the account of 

DRAFT

6236



 

 

a customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or Standby Gas for the account of a Customer 
under Rate Schedule G-11, these services may be interrupted to the extent necessary 
to provide service to KUB’s Firm Gas customers.  
 

Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 
rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 

service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 

(4) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 
connecting pipeline of Deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to any 
customers receiving transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only service 
to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to the affected customers receiving 
transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, as applicable, will be interrupted. 
 
 

Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be transported, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may transport.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall execute a 
contract with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified 
in said contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon. 

DRAFT

6237



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6238



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-12 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL FIRM TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

“Contract Amount” means the maximum amount of Transport Gas a Customer may 
transport through KUB’s gas distribution system facilities on any Day as established by 
a Transportation Service Agreement between KUB and the Customer. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for firm transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-12. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 
requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of gas to the Customer 
by KUB.  
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Unauthorized Gas, to a Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 
 

“Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 
KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide firm transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 
 

DRAFT

6239



 

 

“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
Contract Amount or (b) the difference (whether positive or negative) between the 
quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes provided for under an Operational 
Flow Order. 

 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be available to any customer when the 
following conditions are met: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be less 

than 12,500 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 
(b) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
(c) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for firm 

transportation gas service. 
 
(d)  Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB . 

 
In the event a Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet condition (a) or (d), 

service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-12, KUB 
shall deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from 
one or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account.  
 

Transport Gas, as provided for under Rate Schedule G-12, shall be subject to 
interruption as a result of emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules 
and Regulations. 
 

If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 
any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-12. 

 

DRAFT

6240



 

 

Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be used only by the 
Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge: $350.00 
 

Demand Charge: $6.10 per dekatherm of demand. 
 
Transportation Charge: $2.180 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 dekatherms 

of gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$1.466 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 3,000 
to and including 20,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.724 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 20,000 
to and including 50,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.575 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of gas delivered to Customer. 

 
Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: (a) 

the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the applicable Day 
of acquiring Standby Gas in the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase Standby 
Gas at or above such price and (b) the costs incurred 
by KUB in transporting such Standby Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus, as applicable, the total of: (a) the cost 
per dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable 
Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas Daily is no 
longer published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices or (2) the applicable first of the 
month Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one or 
more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 

DRAFT

6241



 

 

 
Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 

pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in connection 
with the transportation of gas on behalf of the 
Customer, as applicable. 

 
 

Standby Gas Service 
 

In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 
Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  To the extent possible, KUB shall give the Customer at 
least one hour notice prior to curtailment of Standby Gas service.  Notice of curtailment 
may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person 
to the person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer to receive such 
notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated from time to 
time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the Customer’s 
premises.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand for any month shall be the Customer’s Contract Amount.  Customer, with 
the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the Contract Amount by providing 
written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days prior to the beginning of the 
monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the change to be effective; 
provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a reduction in the previously 
specified Contract Amount unless the previously specified Contract Amount has been in 
effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the requested 
change is to become effective.  Any change in the Contract Amount shall be effectuated 
by an amendment to the Transportation Service Agreement.  
 
 

DRAFT

6242



 

 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to Deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Contract Amount shall be 
specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one business day prior to the 
beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify the Customer in writing of 
the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have been approved for 
Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily basis during such 
month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and obtain written 
approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a month at 
least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such change. 

 
KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 

(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following situations: 
(1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient and reliable 
service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on demand, (3) to 
maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, (4) to avoid 
penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may threaten the 
operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 

 
To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 

OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO. 
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6243



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 
 
 

Balancing of Deliveries 
 

As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  
Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  
 

KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 
practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-12.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 
 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 
 

Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 
volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 

 
% Monthly Imbalance               Price       

     0 -   5%   100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%   115% of Index Price 

DRAFT

6244



 

 

        >10 - 15%   130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%   140% of Index Price 
        >20%    150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall execute a 
contract with KUB to end on the November 1st specified in said contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6245



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-13 
 

DISCOUNT GAS SERVICE RIDER 
 

 
Definitions 

 
“Agreement” means a Discount Gas Service Agreement for gas service under Rate 

Schedule G-13 between the Customer and KUB.  The Agreement shall serve as an 
amendment to the Contract. 
 

“Alternate Fuel” means any source of fuel used by a customer at its facilities as an 
alternative to natural gas. 
 

“Bypass” means the delivery of natural gas directly to the facilities of a customer 
within the gas service territory of KUB by (1) a connecting interstate or intrastate natural 
gas pipeline or (2) a connecting alternate natural gas distribution system, without the 
transportation of such gas on KUB’s natural gas distribution system.  
 

“Contract” means an agreement for gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule between a customer and KUB. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB under the Discount Gas Service Rider (”Rider”). 
 

“Purchased Gas Cost Component” means the portion of a rate charged by KUB to its 
customers for gas service which reflects the cost of purchasing gas and transporting it 
to the facilities of KUB for resale to its customers. 
 

 
Availability 

 
The Discount Gas Service Rider (the “Rider”) is designed to permit KUB to discount 

rates set forth in the Gas Division’s rate schedules for commercial and industrial gas 
service for any customer receiving gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule provided such customer meets the terms and conditions set 
forth herein. 
 

Service under the Rider shall be available only (1) to meet competitive Alternate Fuel 
prices or (2) to avoid Bypass of KUB’s natural gas distribution system, under the 
circumstances described below: 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6246



 

 

Alternate Fuel Prices 
 

Customer’s use of Alternate Fuel sources must, in the sole judgment of KUB, be 
deemed economically feasible and practical.  Customer shall be required to provide 
KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to use Alternate Fuel sources absent 
service from KUB under the Rider.  Customer shall also be required to provide KUB with 
documentation demonstrating to KUB that its Alternate Fuel source is available to 
Customer and the cost of the Alternate Fuel source is less than the otherwise applicable 
commercial and industrial gas rates charged to the Customer by KUB. 

 
 

Bypass of Distribution System 
 

Customer’s facilities must be located within such distance of (1) an interstate or 
intrastate natural gas pipeline providing gas transportation or sales service or (2) an 
alternate natural gas distribution system, so that Bypass of KUB’s natural gas 
distribution system is, in the sole judgment of KUB, deemed economically feasible and 
practical. 
 

Customer shall provide KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to Bypass 
KUB’s natural gas distribution system absent service from KUB under the Rider.  
Customer shall also provide KUB with any other such documentation requested by KUB 
to verify the investment required on part of the Customer to take gas service directly 
from the applicable interstate or intrastate natural gas pipeline or alternate natural gas 
distribution system. 
 
 

Additional Conditions 
 

In addition, any Customer receiving service under the Rider must meet the following 
conditions: 
 

(a) Customer’s annual gas consumption, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 
less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b) Customer must have executed a Contract to receive gas service from KUB under 
a commercial and industrial rate schedule; and 
 

(c) Customer must execute a Discount Gas Service Agreement .   
 
If, for any reason, Customer shall fail to satisfy the conditions necessary for service 

under the Rider, service under the Rider shall no longer be available; however,  
Customer may continue to receive gas service from KUB under the applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule provided the Customer continues to satisfy the 
conditions required for service under such rate schedule. 

 

DRAFT

6247



 

 

 
Character of Service 

 
Customer must make a written request to KUB for service under the Rider.  The 

request must describe the circumstances under which the customer is seeking to 
receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or Bypass).  Customer’s request 
for service under the Rider and the amount of any discount provided Customer under 
the Rider must be previously approved by the President of KUB (or such designated 
agent authorized by the President of KUB to act on the President’s behalf) prior to the 
Customer receiving service under the Rider.  Customer must have previously executed 
a Contract prior to receiving service under the Rider. 
 

Unless expressly stated otherwise in the Agreement for service under the Rider, all 
the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate 
schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is receiving service under the Rider. 
 

KUB shall conduct an economic analysis of the circumstances under which the 
customer is seeking to receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or 
Bypass).  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all information 
necessary for KUB to conduct such an analysis.  The analysis shall determine, among 
other things, the cost to the customer of using an Alternate Fuel or the cost to the 
customer to Bypass KUB’s natural gas distribution system, as applicable.  If Customer 
is approved for service under the Rider, KUB shall discount the rates set forth in the 
Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule in such a manner that 
the Customer’s cost of receiving gas service from KUB is competitive with the 
Customer’s cost of using an Alternate Fuel or Bypassing KUB’s natural gas distribution 
system, as applicable. 
 

The following charges specified in KUB’s commercial and industrial gas rate 
schedules shall be subject to being discounted under the Rider: Customer Charges, 
Demand Charges, Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas, and 
Transportation Charges.  Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas 
shall not be discounted below the applicable Purchased Gas Cost Component plus $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm.  Transportation Charges shall not be discounted below $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm. 
 

Discounted rates are subject to adjustment by KUB on a periodic basis, as 
determined by KUB in its sole discretion; provided, however, that the circumstances 
under which the Customer warranted service under the Rider shall be evaluated by 
KUB on no less than a biannual basis for such period of time Customer is receiving 
service under the Rider.  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all 
information necessary for KUB to evaluate the circumstances by which Customer was 
granted service under the Rider.  Based upon an analysis of information received from 
the Customer or obtained by KUB of its own accord, KUB shall have the right to adjust 
the discount provided to the Customer up to the point of ceasing to provide service to 
the Customer under the Rider. 

DRAFT

6248



 

 

Discount Gas Service Agreement 
 

Customer shall enter into an Agreement with KUB for service under the Rider.  The 
Agreement shall serve as an amendment to the Customer’s previously executed 
Contract for commercial and industrial gas service with KUB.  Subject to KUB’s right to 
re-evaluate and adjust the discount provided for under the Agreement, the Agreement 
shall specify the discount to be provided by KUB to the Customer and any other such 
terms and conditions as KUB determines are necessary to effectuate service under the 
Rider. 
 

KUB may amend the Agreement, at its sole discretion, to provide for an adjustment in 
the discount provided to the Customer.  KUB shall provide such notice to the Customer, 
as deemed appropriate by KUB, of any adjustment in the discount provided to the 
Customer under the Agreement.  Any such adjustment in the discount provided the 
Customer shall be in accordance with KUB’s periodic evaluation of the circumstances 
warranting service under the Rider. 
  
  

DRAFT

6249



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-14 
 

ALTERNATIVE GAS PRICING RIDER 
 

Definitions 
 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement” means the agreement between KUB and 

the Customer providing the Customer gas service under the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Rider (“Pricing Rider”) and shall be considered an amendment to the Contract to 
provide gas between KUB and the Customer. 

 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines” means the policies and procedures 

established by KUB for the implementation and administration of the Pricing Rider. 
 
“Customer” means a person or entity receiving service from KUB under the 

Pricing Rider.  
 
“Firm Gas Adder” means the component of the Customer’s commodity gas rate 

for the costs incurred by KUB for reserving interstate natural gas pipeline and storage 
capacity by KUB on behalf of the Customer. 

 
“KUB System Supply Price” means the weighted average cost of gas delivered to 

KUB’s gas distribution system for a given month for resale to customers on the KUB gas 
distribution system (excluding gas sold to customers under the Pricing Rider). 

 
“KUB System Transportation Charge” means the cost of transporting gas on 

KUB’s gas distribution system on behalf of the Customer to the facilities of the 
Customer as determined by the KUB Board of Commissioners in their sole discretion. 

  
“Locked-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is pre-determined. 
 
“Market-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is based upon a first-of-the-month 

natural gas price for Tennessee, La., 500 Leg as published in Platts Gas Daily Price 
Guide. In the event the price is not published for the month then a comparable monthly 
index shall be substituted as determined by KUB. If the above publication ceases to be 
published during the term hereof, its successor publication shall be used or, if there is 
no successor, then a comparable monthly published index shall be substituted in 
replacement thereof. 

 
“Price Cashout” means the monthly reconciliation process between the Customer 

and KUB in which the Customer’s gas volume obligations for Locked-Price Gas are 
reconciled with KUB. 

 
  

DRAFT

6250



 

 

Availability 
 

The Pricing Rider is designed to provide large commercial and industrial 
customers receiving gas service from KUB with the opportunity and means to manage 
the cost of their natural gas purchases from KUB by providing pricing alternatives for the 
applicable commodity gas rates set forth in their applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedules. 
 

Service under the Pricing Rider shall be available to G-7 or G-11 commercial and 
industrial customers receiving gas service from KUB under the terms and conditions set 
forth below  

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 

less than 25,000 dekatherms. 
 
(b) For a Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11, Interruptible 

Transportation Gas Service, pricing alternatives shall be applicable only to Firm Gas.  
 
(c) Customer may be required to provide KUB with appropriate financial 

information prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider and subsequently on a 
periodic basis, for the purpose of evaluating the Customer’s creditworthiness. KUB 
reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to deny any Customer service under the Pricing 
Rider based upon KUB’s evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness or authorize any 
appropriate security arrangement, if necessary, for the Customer to receive service 
under the Pricing Rider. KUB also reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to refuse to 
execute any particular alternative price transaction on behalf of a Customer based upon 
KUB’s initial or any subsequent evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness.  

 
(d) Customer must execute an Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement which shall 

serve as an amendment to the Customer’s existing contract to receive gas service from 
KUB. Customer must have previously executed a contract to receive gas service from 
KUB prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
(e) Customer must comply with any other terms and conditions required for 

service under the Pricing Rider which may be set forth in the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Guidelines. 
 

In the event a Customer fails to satisfy the conditions necessary for service under 
the Pricing Rider, service under the Pricing Rider, as determined by KUB in its sole 
discretion, may no longer be available; however, the Customer may continue to receive 
gas service from KUB under the applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
provided the Customer continues to satisfy the conditions required for service under 
such rate schedule and the Customer’s Contract, as amended with KUB. 

 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6251



 

 

Upon determination that service under the Pricing Rider is no longer available to 
a Customer, the Customer shall still be permitted to receive service under the Pricing 
Rider until such point in time that the Customer’s outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments have been fulfilled.  

 
Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the Pricing Rider or in the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines, all the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is 
receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Alternative pricing shall be applicable only for the Customer’s Commodity Gas 
Rates for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas (“Commodity Gas Rates”). Interruptible Gas 
shall still be subject to periods of interruption under the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule. 

 
For a Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider, the Commodity Gas 

Rates set forth in the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
shall not be effective. Commodity Gas Rates for a Customer receiving service under the 
Pricing Rider shall be based upon the pricing alternative selected by the Customer as 
described below and agreed upon by KUB. 

 
(a) Locked-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall be locked or pre-determined 

at the time KUB executes the pricing transaction on behalf of the Customer. The 
Commodity Gas Rate shall consist of the cost incurred by KUB for purchasing the gas 
on the open market for the benefit of the Customer plus the cost of transporting the gas 
on connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the 
KUB System Transportation Charge; or 

 
(b) Market-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall consist of the applicable 

market index, supplier premium, and the cost of transporting the gas on connecting 
interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the KUB System 
Transportation Charge. 
 

Regardless of the pricing alternative utilized by the Customer, the Customer’s 
commodity gas rate for Firm Gas shall also include a Firm Gas Adder for the costs 
incurred by KUB for interstate natural gas pipeline and storage capacity reservation 
charges. 

 
The Market-Price alternative shall be the default pricing mechanism for 

Commodity Gas Charges. If KUB does not execute any Locked-Price transactions on 
behalf of a Customer for a given month, the Customer’s Commodity Gas Charges for 
that particular month shall be based upon the Market-Price alternative. The Commodity 
Gas Charges for any gas delivered by KUB to the facilities of the Customer for a given 
month in excess of Locked-Price Gas shall be Market-Price Gas (excluding Transport 
Gas, Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas).  

 

DRAFT

6252



 

 

KUB incurs an obligation for Locked-Price Gas volumes when it executes 
transactions on behalf of a Customer. If, for whatever reason, the gas volumes 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for any month are less than the gas volumes the 
Customer has locked for such month, the net difference (excluding Transport Gas, 
Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas) shall be reconciled on a monthly basis 
through a Price Cashout. 

 
If the price of the Locked-Price Gas delivered to KUB exceeds the KUB System 

Supply Price, the Customer shall pay a Price Cashout Charge equal to the excess price 
multiplied by the applicable volumes not delivered by KUB to the Customer for such 
month. If the KUB System Supply Price exceeds the price of the Locked-Price Gas 
delivered to KUB on behalf of the Customer, the Customer shall receive a Price 
Cashout Credit equal to the excess price multiplied by the applicable volumes not 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for such month. 

 
A Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider shall not be permitted to 

revert to the Commodity Gas Rates set forth in its applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedule so long as the Customer has any outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments.  

 
 

Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines 
 

The President and Chief Executive Officer of KUB shall have the authority to 
adopt and amend such Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines as are necessary to establish 
policies and procedures to implement the pricing alternatives set forth in the Pricing 
Rider. 

    
All service provided under the Pricing Rider shall be subject to the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines which from time to time shall be in effect. 
 

DRAFT

6253



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT E 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE GAS DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

DRAFT

6254



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-2 
 

RESIDENTIAL GAS SERVICE 
 

 
Availability 

Service under Rate Schedule G-2 is available only to residential customers served 
individually through a separate meter.  Rate Schedule G-2 shall also be available to a 
customer with eight or less dwelling units served through a single meter, but in such 
case the minimum charge and the quantity of gas specified for each block of Rate 
Schedule G-2 shall be multiplied by the number of individual dwelling units served. 
 
 
  Net Rates 
 

For the regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive: 
 

Customer Charge:  $7.65 
 

Commodity Charge:          $1.1898 per therm for the first 30 therms; plus 
            $0.9776 per therm for the excess over 30 therms. 

 
For the regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive: 

 
Customer Charge:  $7.65 

 
Commodity Charge:          $1.0111 per therm for the first 50 therms; plus 
            $0.8925 per therm for the excess over 50 therms. 

 
 
 Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 Minimum Bill 

 
 The minimum bill under Rate Schedule G-2 for each regular monthly billing period 
shall be the Customer Charge.   
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

 
  

DRAFT

6255



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-4  
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-4 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under 
Rate Schedule G-4, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-6, shall 
not be allowed to return to service under Rate Schedule G-6 until at least twelve months 
have elapsed since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-6. 
   
  
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $16.00 
 

Commodity Charge:  $1.1151 per therm for the first 250 therms; plus 
       $1.0012 per therm for the excess over 250 therms. 
 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the Customer Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6256



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-6 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-6 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer that incurs a demand of twenty-seven therms or more during the current 
monthly billing period or during any of the eleven most recent monthly billing periods.  
Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-6, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-4, shall not be allowed to 
return to service under Rate Schedule G-4 until at least twelve months have elapsed 
since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-4. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $130.00 
 

Demand Charge:  $1.90 per therm of demand. 
 

Commodity Charge:  $0.7458 per therm for the first 30,000 therms; plus 
    $0.6547 per therm for the excess over 30,000 therms. 

 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

For the six regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive, 
herein called the "On Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas 
used on any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty 
percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any On Peak Season 
month in the twelve months ending with the applicable monthly billing period. 

 
For the six regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive, herein 

called the "Off Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas used on 
any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty percent 
(80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any month in the immediately 
preceding On Peak Season, except (a) the demand for any customer who has used gas 
under Rate Schedule G-6 during all six months in the immediately preceding On Peak 
Season shall be eighty percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in 

DRAFT

6257



 

 

any month in the immediately preceding On Peak Season, and (b) the demand shall be 
zero for a customer who has used gas under Rate Schedule G-6 during at least three 
months during the immediately preceding Off Peak Season and has used no gas during 
the immediately preceding On Peak Season. 

 
At the option of KUB, the demand shall be determined either (a) by demand type 

meter, or (b) by electronic measuring device, or (c) by test, or (d) by estimate.  If 
determined by estimate, the demand shall be considered to be equal to five percent 
(5%) of the total quantity of gas used during the applicable monthly billing period. 
 
 
  Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
 
  

DRAFT

6258



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-7 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE LARGE COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 “Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for interruptible gas service under Rate Schedule G-7. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 
 “Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB. 
 
 “Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided in KUB's Rules and Regulations. 
 
 “Interruptible Gas” means that gas which is subject to interruption or curtailment by 
KUB at any time and to the extent that KUB, in its sole discretion, deems desirable. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 
 “Supplemental Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer for 
Delivery to KUB and Redelivery to the Customer. 

 
“Transport Gas” means gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 

KUB that the Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for Redelivery to the 
Customer. 
 

“Unauthorized Gas” means the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6259



 

 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-7 is available to any customer who meets the 
following conditions: 
 

(a)  Customer’s annual Interruptible Gas use, on an actual or projected basis, shall 
not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b)  Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 
under Rate Schedule G-7 for each two (2) dekatherms of Interruptible Gas which are 
purchased; 
 

(c)  Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 
providing Customer's normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Interruptible Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; and 
 

(d)  KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 
and available for the requested service. 
 

In the event Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet the conditions (a) 
through (c), service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall no longer be available; but at KUB's 
option, gas service may be provided to the Customer under Rate Schedule G-6. 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-7 immediately prior to September 1, 1992 may continue to receive service under Rate 
Schedule G-7 without fulfilling each of the above stated conditions until such time as 
service to Customer is terminated or Customer begins receiving gas service under a 
different rate schedule.  Such Customer shall continue to comply with any conditions in 
effect prior to September 1, 1992. 
 
 
 Character of Service 
 

Interruptible Gas shall be available only to the extent that KUB has gas available that 
is not required by firm customers.  If a Customer is served by gas purchased on an 
interruptible rate from KUB's suppliers, all conditions imposed by KUB's suppliers on the 
use of such Interruptible Gas shall likewise apply to such Customer as if KUB imposed 
the condition on the Customer. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6260



 

 

 Transportation Service 
 

During any Period of Interruption, Customer may request Transportation Service 
from KUB whereby Customer may either (i) purchase Transport Gas and arrange to 
Deliver such Transport Gas to KUB via any connected interstate natural gas pipeline to 
one or more of KUB’s designated delivery points for Redelivery to the Customer or (ii) 
solicit the service of KUB in procuring Supplemental Gas for Customer whereby upon 
agreeing to provide such service, KUB will attempt to: (a) procure Supplemental Gas on 
the open market for the account of Customer; (b) arrange for such Supplemental Gas to 
be transported at Customer’s cost via connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s designated delivery points, and (c) Redeliver such Supplemental Gas 
to Customer. 
 

Redeliveries by KUB to Customer are subject to interruption when, in the sole 
discretion of KUB, conditions warrant a suspension of Transportation Service. 

 
Prior to the commencement of a Period of Interruption or within a reasonable period 

of time subsequent to the commencement of a Period of Interruption, as determined by 
KUB in its sole discretion, Customer must: (a) notify KUB of its intent to receive 
Transportation Service from KUB and (b) provide KUB with a schedule showing the 
proposed daily volumes to be delivered to KUB and Redelivered to the Customer.  KUB 
shall notify Customer of those volumes KUB has approved on a daily basis for Delivery 
to KUB and Redelivery to Customer (Approved Daily Volumes) prior to the Delivery of 
any gas to KUB.  KUB reserves the right to adjust the Approved Daily Volumes as 
conditions warrant.  KUB shall notify Customer promptly of any adjustment in the 
Approved Daily Volumes. 
 

KUB shall not be obligated to Redeliver any volumes of gas to Customer: (a) in 
excess of the Customer’s Approved Daily Volumes and (b) in the case of Transport 
Gas, for which KUB has not received a confirmation of receipt from the applicable 
connecting pipeline on any given Day. 
 

Transportation Service under this Rate Schedule shall be subject to the following 
charges, as applicable: (a) the Commodity Charge, as set forth in the Rate Schedule, 
for Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to Customer, and (b) the Transportation Charge, 
as set forth in this Rate Schedule, for Redeliveries to Customer. 
 

Upon conclusion of Customer’s Period of Interruption, if total previous Deliveries of 
Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB exceeds total Redeliveries of Transport 
Gas or Supplemental Gas to Customer by KUB, as applicable, the excess will be 
treated as the first gas (excluding Firm Gas) through Customer’s meter following 
Customer’s Period of Interruption. 

Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be used only by the 
Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 

DRAFT

6261



 

 

Quantities of Gas Delivered 
 

For the purpose of allocating the daily volume of gas delivered to a Customer under 
this rate schedule, the first gas delivered shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily 
quantity contracted for as Firm Gas, the next gas delivered shall be the Approved Daily 
Volumes of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas for that Day, as applicable, and all 
additional gas delivered shall be considered Interruptible Gas except during a Period of 
Interruption, then all additional gas delivered shall be considered Unauthorized Gas. 
 
 
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:   $300.00 
 

Demand Charge:   $19.00 per dekatherm of demand. 
 
 
Commodity Charge: 

 
For Firm Gas:  $6.547 per dekatherm. 
 
For Interruptible Gas: $6.222 for the first 3,000 dekatherms; plus 

$5.641 for each dekatherm from 3,000 to and 
including 20,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.867 for each dekatherm from 20,000 to and 
including 50,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.656 for the excess over 50,000 dekatherms. 

 
For Supplemental Gas: The Commodity Charge for Supplemental Gas 

shall be the total of: (a) the cost per dekatherm 
to KUB for the applicable Day of acquiring 
Supplemental Gas on the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase 
Supplemental Gas at or above such price and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting 
such Supplemental Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Transportation Charge:  $1.996 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 

dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$1.415 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 

DRAFT

6262



 

 

$.641 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 
50,000 dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas. 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge:  $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as 
a penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if 
Gas Daily is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices or (2) the applicable first of the month 
Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer 
published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices and (b) the costs incurred by 
KUB in transporting such Unauthorized Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s 
delivery points. 

 
In determining the appropriate rate block to bill Transportation Charges for gas 

Redelivered and Unauthorized Gas, the following volumes shall be combined: 
Interruptible Gas, Supplemental Gas, Transport Gas, and Unauthorized Gas. 
 
 
 Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas shall be subject to KUB's 
Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 
  Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective. 
 

DRAFT

6263



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  Customer must immediately notify KUB 
if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event Customer takes 
Unauthorized Gas, Customer shall be charged the Unauthorized Gas Charge for all 
Unauthorized Gas delivered by KUB to Customer.  In addition, KUB may suspend or 
terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under applicable law.  
The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to give Customer 
the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory basis.  
 
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 
(1)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or capacity limitation 

on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all interruptible 
customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as 
determined by KUB. 

 
(2)  If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 

distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted 
area will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall 
be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
(3)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 

supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or 
by an actual shortage of gas, then: 

 
(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 Customers (other 

than Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas and Transport Gas) who have not 
heretofore been interrupted as provided above. 

 
(b) The second service interrupted shall be Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to 

Rate Schedule G-7 Customers and deliveries of standby gas by KUB to Rate 
Schedule G-11 customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired 
Supplemental Gas for the account of a Customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or 
standby gas for the account of a customer under Rate Schedule G-11, these 
services may be interrupted to the extent necessary to provide service to 
KUB’s Firm Gas customers. 

 

DRAFT

6264



 

 

Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 
rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 
 

Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 
service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 
(4)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 

connecting pipeline of deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to any 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only 
service to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to the affected 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, as 
applicable, will be interrupted. 

 
 
 Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer's premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be purchased, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may purchase.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 
Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall execute a contract 

with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified in said 
contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon.  Transportation 
Service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be provided only after such customer executes 
a contract with KUB providing for Transportation Service. 
 

DRAFT

6265



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6266



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-11 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 
“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 

from KUB for interruptible transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-11. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules and Regulations. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 

 
“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 

requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of non-Firm gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 

 
“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Firm Gas and Unauthorized Gas, 

to a Customer by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 

 

DRAFT

6267



 

 

 “Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other 
than KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and the 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide interruptible transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 

 
“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 

amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption or (b) the difference (whether 
positive or negative) between the quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes 
provided for under an Operational Flow Order. 
 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be available to any customer who meets 
the following conditions: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas), on an actual or projected 

basis, shall not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten 
therms); 

 
(b) Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 

under Rate Schedule G-11 for each two (2) dekatherms of Transport Gas delivered by 
KUB to the Customer; 

 
(c) Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 

providing Customer’s normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Transport Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; 

 
 Condition (c) shall be optional for any Customer who meets the following 

requirements: (1) annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas) is equal to or greater than 
25,000 dekatherms; (2) primary use of gas is for industrial or process use; and (3) 
provides satisfactory evidence to KUB of its ability and willingness to have its gas 
service interrupted or curtailed by KUB in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Rate Schedule.   

 
(d) Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB. 

DRAFT

6268



 

 

 
 (e) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
 (f) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for interruptible 

transportation gas service. 
 
 In the event Customer shall fail at any time to meet conditions (a) through (d) 

service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 

 
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer which received service under Rate 

Schedule G-11 prior to November 1, 1997 may receive service under Rate Schedule G-
11 without fulfilling conditions (a) and (b).  Any such Customer shall comply with all 
other terms and conditions of Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-11, and 
subject to Periods of Interruption determined by KUB in its sole discretion, KUB shall 
deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from one 
or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account. 

 
If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 

any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
The first gas delivered to the Customer on a daily basis under Rate Schedule G-11 

shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily quantity contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer. 

 
Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be used only by the 

Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $400.00 
 

Demand Charge: $19.00 per dekatherm of demand. 
 

Firm Gas Charge: $6.547per dekatherm.   
 

DRAFT

6269



 

 

Transportation Charge: $1.996 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer; plus 
$1.415 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of non-
Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.641 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
non-Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer. 

 
Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: 

(a) the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the 
applicable Day of acquiring Standby Gas on the 
open market, subject to the approval of the 
Customer to purchase Standby Gas at or above 
such price and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in 
transporting such Standby Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices or (2) the 
applicable first of the month Gulf Coast Price 
Index as published in INSIDE FERC, or if INSIDE 
FERC is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices and (b) the 
costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 

pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in 
connection with the transportation of gas on behalf 
of the Customer, as applicable. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6270



 

 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Firm Gas Charge shall be subject to KUB’s Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 

 
Standby Gas Service 

 
In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 

Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB. 

 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective.   
 
 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Transport Gas portion of the 
Contract Amount shall be specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one 
business day prior to the beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify 

DRAFT

6271



 

 

the Customer in writing of the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have 
been approved for Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily 
basis during such month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and 
obtain written approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a 
month at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such 
change. 
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 
(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
non-Firm gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following 
situations: (1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient 
and reliable service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on 
demand, (3) to maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, 
(4) to avoid penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may 
threaten the operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 
OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO.  
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 

DRAFT

6272



 

 

Balancing of Deliveries 
 

As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  
Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  

 
KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 

practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-11.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 

 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 

 
Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 

volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

 
% Monthly Imbalance              Price 

 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%  115% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%  140% of Index Price 
        >20%   150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

DRAFT

6273



 

 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 

(1) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or a capacity 
limitation on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all 
interruptible customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis 
as determined by KUB. 
 

(2) If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 
distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted area 
will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall be handled 
on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 
 

(3) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 
supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or by an 
actual shortage of gas, then: 
 

(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 customers (other than 
redeliveries of supplemental gas and transport gas) who have not heretofore been 
interrupted as provided above. 
 

(b) The second service interrupted shall be redeliveries of supplemental gas to Rate 
Schedule G-7 customers and Deliveries of Standby Gas by KUB to Rate Schedule G-11 
Customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired supplemental gas for the account of 

DRAFT

6274



 

 

a customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or Standby Gas for the account of a Customer 
under Rate Schedule G-11, these services may be interrupted to the extent necessary 
to provide service to KUB’s Firm Gas customers.  
 
 

Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 
rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 

service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 

(4) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 
connecting pipeline of Deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to any 
customers receiving transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only service 
to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to the affected customers receiving 
transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, as applicable, will be interrupted. 
 
 

Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be transported, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may transport.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6275



 

 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall execute a 
contract with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified 
in said contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6276



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-12 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL FIRM TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

“Contract Amount” means the maximum amount of Transport Gas a Customer may 
transport through KUB’s gas distribution system facilities on any Day as established by 
a Transportation Service Agreement between KUB and the Customer. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for firm transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-12. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 
requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of gas to the Customer 
by KUB.  
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Unauthorized Gas, to a Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 
 

“Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 
KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide firm transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 
 

DRAFT

6277



 

 

“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
Contract Amount or (b) the difference (whether positive or negative) between the 
quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes provided for under an Operational 
Flow Order. 

 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be available to any customer when the 
following conditions are met: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be less 

than 12,500 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 
(b) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
(c) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for firm 

transportation gas service. 
 
(d)  Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB . 

 
In the event a Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet condition (a) or (d), 

service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-12, KUB 
shall deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from 
one or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account.  
 

Transport Gas, as provided for under Rate Schedule G-12, shall be subject to 
interruption as a result of emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules 
and Regulations. 
 

If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 
any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-12. 

 

DRAFT

6278



 

 

Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be used only by the 
Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge: $400.00 
 

Demand Charge: $6.20 per dekatherm of demand. 
 

Transportation Charge: $2.256 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 dekatherms 
of gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$1.532 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 3,000 
to and including 20,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.731 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 20,000 
to and including 50,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.575 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of gas delivered to Customer. 

 
 

Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: (a) 
the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the applicable Day 
of acquiring Standby Gas in the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase Standby 
Gas at or above such price and (b) the costs incurred 
by KUB in transporting such Standby Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus, as applicable, the total of: (a) the cost 
per dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable 
Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas Daily is no 
longer published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices or (2) the applicable first of the 
month Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one or 
more of KUB’s delivery points. 

DRAFT

6279



 

 

 
 

Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 
pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in connection 
with the transportation of gas on behalf of the 
Customer, as applicable. 

 
 

Standby Gas Service 
 

In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 
Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  To the extent possible, KUB shall give the Customer at 
least one hour notice prior to curtailment of Standby Gas service.  Notice of curtailment 
may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person 
to the person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer to receive such 
notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated from time to 
time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the Customer’s 
premises.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand for any month shall be the Customer’s Contract Amount.  Customer, with 
the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the Contract Amount by providing 
written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days prior to the beginning of the 
monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the change to be effective; 
provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a reduction in the previously 
specified Contract Amount unless the previously specified Contract Amount has been in 
effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the requested 
change is to become effective.  Any change in the Contract Amount shall be effectuated 
by an amendment to the Transportation Service Agreement.  
 

DRAFT

6280



 

 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to Deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Contract Amount shall be 
specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one business day prior to the 
beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify the Customer in writing of 
the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have been approved for 
Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily basis during such 
month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and obtain written 
approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a month at 
least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such change. 

 
KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 

(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following situations: 
(1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient and reliable 
service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on demand, (3) to 
maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, (4) to avoid 
penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may threaten the 
operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 

 
To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 

OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO. 
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6281



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 
 
 

Balancing of Deliveries 
 

As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  
Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  
 

KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 
practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-12.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 
 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 
 

Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 
volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 

 
% Monthly Imbalance               Price       

     0 -   5%   100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%   115% of Index Price 

DRAFT

6282



 

 

        >10 - 15%   130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%   140% of Index Price 
        >20%    150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall execute a 
contract with KUB to end on the November 1st specified in said contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6283



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-13 
 

DISCOUNT GAS SERVICE RIDER 
 

 
Definitions 

 
“Agreement” means a Discount Gas Service Agreement for gas service under Rate 

Schedule G-13 between the Customer and KUB.  The Agreement shall serve as an 
amendment to the Contract. 
 

“Alternate Fuel” means any source of fuel used by a customer at its facilities as an 
alternative to natural gas. 
 

“Bypass” means the delivery of natural gas directly to the facilities of a customer 
within the gas service territory of KUB by (1) a connecting interstate or intrastate natural 
gas pipeline or (2) a connecting alternate natural gas distribution system, without the 
transportation of such gas on KUB’s natural gas distribution system.  
 

“Contract” means an agreement for gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule between a customer and KUB. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB under the Discount Gas Service Rider (”Rider”). 
 

“Purchased Gas Cost Component” means the portion of a rate charged by KUB to its 
customers for gas service which reflects the cost of purchasing gas and transporting it 
to the facilities of KUB for resale to its customers. 
 

 
Availability 

 
The Discount Gas Service Rider (the “Rider”) is designed to permit KUB to discount 

rates set forth in the Gas Division’s rate schedules for commercial and industrial gas 
service for any customer receiving gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule provided such customer meets the terms and conditions set 
forth herein. 
 

Service under the Rider shall be available only (1) to meet competitive Alternate Fuel 
prices or (2) to avoid Bypass of KUB’s natural gas distribution system, under the 
circumstances described below: 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6284



 

 

Alternate Fuel Prices 
 

Customer’s use of Alternate Fuel sources must, in the sole judgment of KUB, be 
deemed economically feasible and practical.  Customer shall be required to provide 
KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to use Alternate Fuel sources absent 
service from KUB under the Rider.  Customer shall also be required to provide KUB with 
documentation demonstrating to KUB that its Alternate Fuel source is available to 
Customer and the cost of the Alternate Fuel source is less than the otherwise applicable 
commercial and industrial gas rates charged to the Customer by KUB. 

 
 

Bypass of Distribution System 
 

Customer’s facilities must be located within such distance of (1) an interstate or 
intrastate natural gas pipeline providing gas transportation or sales service or (2) an 
alternate natural gas distribution system, so that Bypass of KUB’s natural gas 
distribution system is, in the sole judgment of KUB, deemed economically feasible and 
practical. 
 

Customer shall provide KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to Bypass 
KUB’s natural gas distribution system absent service from KUB under the Rider.  
Customer shall also provide KUB with any other such documentation requested by KUB 
to verify the investment required on part of the Customer to take gas service directly 
from the applicable interstate or intrastate natural gas pipeline or alternate natural gas 
distribution system. 
 
 

Additional Conditions 
 

In addition, any Customer receiving service under the Rider must meet the following 
conditions: 
 

(a) Customer’s annual gas consumption, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 
less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b) Customer must have executed a Contract to receive gas service from KUB under 
a commercial and industrial rate schedule; and 
 

(c) Customer must execute a Discount Gas Service Agreement .   
 
If, for any reason, Customer shall fail to satisfy the conditions necessary for service 

under the Rider, service under the Rider shall no longer be available; however,  
Customer may continue to receive gas service from KUB under the applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule provided the Customer continues to satisfy the 
conditions required for service under such rate schedule. 

 

DRAFT

6285



 

 

  
Character of Service 

 
Customer must make a written request to KUB for service under the Rider.  The 

request must describe the circumstances under which the customer is seeking to 
receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or Bypass).  Customer’s request 
for service under the Rider and the amount of any discount provided Customer under 
the Rider must be previously approved by the President of KUB (or such designated 
agent authorized by the President of KUB to act on the President’s behalf) prior to the 
Customer receiving service under the Rider.  Customer must have previously executed 
a Contract prior to receiving service under the Rider. 
 

Unless expressly stated otherwise in the Agreement for service under the Rider, all 
the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate 
schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is receiving service under the Rider. 
 

KUB shall conduct an economic analysis of the circumstances under which the 
customer is seeking to receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or 
Bypass).  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all information 
necessary for KUB to conduct such an analysis.  The analysis shall determine, among 
other things, the cost to the customer of using an Alternate Fuel or the cost to the 
customer to Bypass KUB’s natural gas distribution system, as applicable.  If Customer 
is approved for service under the Rider, KUB shall discount the rates set forth in the 
Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule in such a manner that 
the Customer’s cost of receiving gas service from KUB is competitive with the 
Customer’s cost of using an Alternate Fuel or Bypassing KUB’s natural gas distribution 
system, as applicable. 
 

The following charges specified in KUB’s commercial and industrial gas rate 
schedules shall be subject to being discounted under the Rider: Customer Charges, 
Demand Charges, Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas, and 
Transportation Charges.  Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas 
shall not be discounted below the applicable Purchased Gas Cost Component plus $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm.  Transportation Charges shall not be discounted below $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm. 
 

Discounted rates are subject to adjustment by KUB on a periodic basis, as 
determined by KUB in its sole discretion; provided, however, that the circumstances 
under which the Customer warranted service under the Rider shall be evaluated by 
KUB on no less than a biannual basis for such period of time Customer is receiving 
service under the Rider.  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all 
information necessary for KUB to evaluate the circumstances by which Customer was 
granted service under the Rider.  Based upon an analysis of information received from 
the Customer or obtained by KUB of its own accord, KUB shall have the right to adjust 
the discount provided to the Customer up to the point of ceasing to provide service to 
the Customer under the Rider. 

DRAFT

6286



 

 

Discount Gas Service Agreement 
 

Customer shall enter into an Agreement with KUB for service under the Rider.  The 
Agreement shall serve as an amendment to the Customer’s previously executed 
Contract for commercial and industrial gas service with KUB.  Subject to KUB’s right to 
re-evaluate and adjust the discount provided for under the Agreement, the Agreement 
shall specify the discount to be provided by KUB to the Customer and any other such 
terms and conditions as KUB determines are necessary to effectuate service under the 
Rider. 
 

KUB may amend the Agreement, at its sole discretion, to provide for an adjustment in 
the discount provided to the Customer.  KUB shall provide such notice to the Customer, 
as deemed appropriate by KUB, of any adjustment in the discount provided to the 
Customer under the Agreement.  Any such adjustment in the discount provided the 
Customer shall be in accordance with KUB’s periodic evaluation of the circumstances 
warranting service under the Rider. 
  
  

DRAFT

6287



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-14 
 

ALTERNATIVE GAS PRICING RIDER 
 

Definitions 
 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement” means the agreement between KUB and 

the Customer providing the Customer gas service under the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Rider (“Pricing Rider”) and shall be considered an amendment to the Contract to 
provide gas between KUB and the Customer. 

 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines” means the policies and procedures 

established by KUB for the implementation and administration of the Pricing Rider. 
 
“Customer” means a person or entity receiving service from KUB under the 

Pricing Rider.  
 
“Firm Gas Adder” means the component of the Customer’s commodity gas rate 

for the costs incurred by KUB for reserving interstate natural gas pipeline and storage 
capacity by KUB on behalf of the Customer. 

 
“KUB System Supply Price” means the weighted average cost of gas delivered to 

KUB’s gas distribution system for a given month for resale to customers on the KUB gas 
distribution system (excluding gas sold to customers under the Pricing Rider). 

 
“KUB System Transportation Charge” means the cost of transporting gas on 

KUB’s gas distribution system on behalf of the Customer to the facilities of the 
Customer as determined by the KUB Board of Commissioners in their sole discretion. 

  
“Locked-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is pre-determined. 
 
“Market-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is based upon a first-of-the-month 

natural gas price for Tennessee, La., 500 Leg as published in Platts Gas Daily Price 
Guide. In the event the price is not published for the month then a comparable monthly 
index shall be substituted as determined by KUB. If the above publication ceases to be 
published during the term hereof, its successor publication shall be used or, if there is 
no successor, then a comparable monthly published index shall be substituted in 
replacement thereof. 

 
“Price Cashout” means the monthly reconciliation process between the Customer 

and KUB in which the Customer’s gas volume obligations for Locked-Price Gas are 
reconciled with KUB. 

 
  

DRAFT

6288



 

 

Availability 
 

The Pricing Rider is designed to provide large commercial and industrial 
customers receiving gas service from KUB with the opportunity and means to manage 
the cost of their natural gas purchases from KUB by providing pricing alternatives for the 
applicable commodity gas rates set forth in their applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedules. 
 

Service under the Pricing Rider shall be available to G-7 or G-11 commercial and 
industrial customers receiving gas service from KUB under the terms and conditions set 
forth below  

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 

less than 25,000 dekatherms. 
 
(b) For a Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11, Interruptible 

Transportation Gas Service, pricing alternatives shall be applicable only to Firm Gas.  
 
(c) Customer may be required to provide KUB with appropriate financial 

information prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider and subsequently on a 
periodic basis, for the purpose of evaluating the Customer’s creditworthiness. KUB 
reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to deny any Customer service under the Pricing 
Rider based upon KUB’s evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness or authorize any 
appropriate security arrangement, if necessary, for the Customer to receive service 
under the Pricing Rider. KUB also reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to refuse to 
execute any particular alternative price transaction on behalf of a Customer based upon 
KUB’s initial or any subsequent evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness.  

 
(d) Customer must execute an Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement which shall 

serve as an amendment to the Customer’s existing contract to receive gas service from 
KUB. Customer must have previously executed a contract to receive gas service from 
KUB prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
(e) Customer must comply with any other terms and conditions required for 

service under the Pricing Rider which may be set forth in the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Guidelines. 
 

In the event a Customer fails to satisfy the conditions necessary for service under 
the Pricing Rider, service under the Pricing Rider, as determined by KUB in its sole 
discretion, may no longer be available; however, the Customer may continue to receive 
gas service from KUB under the applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
provided the Customer continues to satisfy the conditions required for service under 
such rate schedule and the Customer’s Contract, as amended with KUB. 

 
Upon determination that service under the Pricing Rider is no longer available to 

a Customer, the Customer shall still be permitted to receive service under the Pricing 

DRAFT

6289



 

 

Rider until such point in time that the Customer’s outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments have been fulfilled.  

 
Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the Pricing Rider or in the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines, all the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is 
receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Alternative pricing shall be applicable only for the Customer’s Commodity Gas 
Rates for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas (“Commodity Gas Rates”). Interruptible Gas 
shall still be subject to periods of interruption under the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule. 

 
For a Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider, the Commodity Gas 

Rates set forth in the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
shall not be effective. Commodity Gas Rates for a Customer receiving service under the 
Pricing Rider shall be based upon the pricing alternative selected by the Customer as 
described below and agreed upon by KUB. 

 
(a) Locked-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall be locked or pre-determined 

at the time KUB executes the pricing transaction on behalf of the Customer. The 
Commodity Gas Rate shall consist of the cost incurred by KUB for purchasing the gas 
on the open market for the benefit of the Customer plus the cost of transporting the gas 
on connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the 
KUB System Transportation Charge; or 

 
(b) Market-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall consist of the applicable 

market index, supplier premium, and the cost of transporting the gas on connecting 
interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the KUB System 
Transportation Charge. 
 

Regardless of the pricing alternative utilized by the Customer, the Customer’s 
commodity gas rate for Firm Gas shall also include a Firm Gas Adder for the costs 
incurred by KUB for interstate natural gas pipeline and storage capacity reservation 
charges. 

 
The Market-Price alternative shall be the default pricing mechanism for 

Commodity Gas Charges. If KUB does not execute any Locked-Price transactions on 
behalf of a Customer for a given month, the Customer’s Commodity Gas Charges for 
that particular month shall be based upon the Market-Price alternative. The Commodity 
Gas Charges for any gas delivered by KUB to the facilities of the Customer for a given 
month in excess of Locked-Price Gas shall be Market-Price Gas (excluding Transport 
Gas, Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas).  

 
 

DRAFT

6290



 

 

KUB incurs an obligation for Locked-Price Gas volumes when it executes 
transactions on behalf of a Customer. If, for whatever reason, the gas volumes 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for any month are less than the gas volumes the 
Customer has locked for such month, the net difference (excluding Transport Gas, 
Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas) shall be reconciled on a monthly basis 
through a Price Cashout. 

 
If the price of the Locked-Price Gas delivered to KUB exceeds the KUB System 

Supply Price, the Customer shall pay a Price Cashout Charge equal to the excess price 
multiplied by the applicable volumes not delivered by KUB to the Customer for such 
month. If the KUB System Supply Price exceeds the price of the Locked-Price Gas 
delivered to KUB on behalf of the Customer, the Customer shall receive a Price 
Cashout Credit equal to the excess price multiplied by the applicable volumes not 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for such month. 

 
A Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider shall not be permitted to 

revert to the Commodity Gas Rates set forth in its applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedule so long as the Customer has any outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments.  

 
 

Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines 
 

The President and Chief Executive Officer of KUB shall have the authority to 
adopt and amend such Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines as are necessary to establish 
policies and procedures to implement the pricing alternatives set forth in the Pricing 
Rider. 

    
All service provided under the Pricing Rider shall be subject to the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines which from time to time shall be in effect. 
 
 

DRAFT

6291



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT F 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE GAS DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

DRAFT

6292



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-2 
 

RESIDENTIAL GAS SERVICE 
 

 
Availability 

Service under Rate Schedule G-2 is available only to residential customers served 
individually through a separate meter.  Rate Schedule G-2 shall also be available to a 
customer with eight or less dwelling units served through a single meter, but in such 
case the minimum charge and the quantity of gas specified for each block of Rate 
Schedule G-2 shall be multiplied by the number of individual dwelling units served. 
 
 
  Net Rates 
 

For the regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive: 
 

Customer Charge:  $8.65 
 

Commodity Charge:          $1.1898 per therm for the first 30 therms; plus 
            $0.9776 per therm for the excess over 30 therms. 

 
For the regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive: 

 
Customer Charge:  $8.65 

 
Commodity Charge:          $1.0111 per therm for the first 50 therms; plus 
            $0.8925 per therm for the excess over 50 therms. 

 
 
 Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 
 Minimum Bill 

 
 The minimum bill under Rate Schedule G-2 for each regular monthly billing period 
shall be the Customer Charge.   
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

6293



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-4  
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-4 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under 
Rate Schedule G-4, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-6, shall 
not be allowed to return to service under Rate Schedule G-6 until at least twelve months 
have elapsed since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-6. 
   
  
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $19.00 
 

Commodity Charge:  $1.1218 per therm for the first 250 therms; plus 
       $1.0072 per therm for the excess over 250 therms. 
 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the Customer Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
  

DRAFT

6294



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-6 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GAS SERVICE 
 
 

 Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-6 is available to any commercial or industrial 
customer that incurs a demand of twenty-seven therms or more during the current 
monthly billing period or during any of the eleven most recent monthly billing periods.  
Unless otherwise approved by KUB, a customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-6, after previously receiving service under Rate Schedule G-4, shall not be allowed to 
return to service under Rate Schedule G-4 until at least twelve months have elapsed 
since service was last received under Rate Schedule G-4. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $140.00 
 

Demand Charge:  $1.90 per therm of demand. 
 

Commodity Charge:  $0.7540 per therm for the first 30,000 therms; plus 
    $0.6619 per therm for the excess over 30,000 therms. 

 
 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge shall be subject to KUB's Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

For the six regular monthly billing periods of November through April, inclusive, 
herein called the "On Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas 
used on any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty 
percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any On Peak Season 
month in the twelve months ending with the applicable monthly billing period. 

 
For the six regular monthly billing periods of May through October, inclusive, herein 

called the "Off Peak Season", the demand shall be the greatest quantity of gas used on 
any day during the applicable monthly billing period, but not less than eighty percent 
(80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in any month in the immediately 
preceding On Peak Season, except (a) the demand for any customer who has used gas 
under Rate Schedule G-6 during all six months in the immediately preceding On Peak 
Season shall be eighty percent (80%) of the greatest quantity of gas used on any day in 

DRAFT

6295



 

 

any month in the immediately preceding On Peak Season, and (b) the demand shall be 
zero for a customer who has used gas under Rate Schedule G-6 during at least three 
months during the immediately preceding Off Peak Season and has used no gas during 
the immediately preceding On Peak Season. 

 
At the option of KUB, the demand shall be determined either (a) by demand type 

meter, or (b) by electronic measuring device, or (c) by test, or (d) by estimate.  If 
determined by estimate, the demand shall be considered to be equal to five percent 
(5%) of the total quantity of gas used during the applicable monthly billing period. 
 
 
  Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6296



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-7 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE LARGE COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 “Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for interruptible gas service under Rate Schedule G-7. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 
 “Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB. 
 
 “Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided in KUB's Rules and Regulations. 
 
 “Interruptible Gas” means that gas which is subject to interruption or curtailment by 
KUB at any time and to the extent that KUB, in its sole discretion, deems desirable. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 
 “Supplemental Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer for 
Delivery to KUB and Redelivery to the Customer. 

 
“Transport Gas” means gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 

KUB that the Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for Redelivery to the 
Customer. 
 

“Unauthorized Gas” means the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption. 
 
  

DRAFT

6297



 

 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-7 is available to any customer who meets the 
following conditions: 
 

(a)  Customer’s annual Interruptible Gas use, on an actual or projected basis, shall 
not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b)  Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 
under Rate Schedule G-7 for each two (2) dekatherms of Interruptible Gas which are 
purchased; 
 

(c)  Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 
providing Customer's normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Interruptible Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; and 
 

(d)  KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 
and available for the requested service. 
 

In the event Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet the conditions (a) 
through (c), service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall no longer be available; but at KUB's 
option, gas service may be provided to the Customer under Rate Schedule G-6. 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule 
G-7 immediately prior to September 1, 1992 may continue to receive service under Rate 
Schedule G-7 without fulfilling each of the above stated conditions until such time as 
service to Customer is terminated or Customer begins receiving gas service under a 
different rate schedule.  Such Customer shall continue to comply with any conditions in 
effect prior to September 1, 1992. 
 
 
 Character of Service 
 

Interruptible Gas shall be available only to the extent that KUB has gas available that 
is not required by firm customers.  If a Customer is served by gas purchased on an 
interruptible rate from KUB's suppliers, all conditions imposed by KUB's suppliers on the 
use of such Interruptible Gas shall likewise apply to such Customer as if KUB imposed 
the condition on the Customer. 
 
  

DRAFT

6298



 

 

 Transportation Service 
 

During any Period of Interruption, Customer may request Transportation Service 
from KUB whereby Customer may either (i) purchase Transport Gas and arrange to 
Deliver such Transport Gas to KUB via any connected interstate natural gas pipeline to 
one or more of KUB’s designated delivery points for Redelivery to the Customer or (ii) 
solicit the service of KUB in procuring Supplemental Gas for Customer whereby upon 
agreeing to provide such service, KUB will attempt to: (a) procure Supplemental Gas on 
the open market for the account of Customer; (b) arrange for such Supplemental Gas to 
be transported at Customer’s cost via connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s designated delivery points, and (c) Redeliver such Supplemental Gas 
to Customer. 
 

Redeliveries by KUB to Customer are subject to interruption when, in the sole 
discretion of KUB, conditions warrant a suspension of Transportation Service. 

 
Prior to the commencement of a Period of Interruption or within a reasonable period 

of time subsequent to the commencement of a Period of Interruption, as determined by 
KUB in its sole discretion, Customer must: (a) notify KUB of its intent to receive 
Transportation Service from KUB and (b) provide KUB with a schedule showing the 
proposed daily volumes to be delivered to KUB and Redelivered to the Customer.  KUB 
shall notify Customer of those volumes KUB has approved on a daily basis for Delivery 
to KUB and Redelivery to Customer (Approved Daily Volumes) prior to the Delivery of 
any gas to KUB.  KUB reserves the right to adjust the Approved Daily Volumes as 
conditions warrant.  KUB shall notify Customer promptly of any adjustment in the 
Approved Daily Volumes. 
 

KUB shall not be obligated to Redeliver any volumes of gas to Customer: (a) in 
excess of the Customer’s Approved Daily Volumes and (b) in the case of Transport 
Gas, for which KUB has not received a confirmation of receipt from the applicable 
connecting pipeline on any given Day. 
 

Transportation Service under this Rate Schedule shall be subject to the following 
charges, as applicable: (a) the Commodity Charge, as set forth in the Rate Schedule, 
for Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to Customer, and (b) the Transportation Charge, 
as set forth in this Rate Schedule, for Redeliveries to Customer. 
 

Upon conclusion of Customer’s Period of Interruption, if total previous Deliveries of 
Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas to KUB exceeds total Redeliveries of Transport 
Gas or Supplemental Gas to Customer by KUB, as applicable, the excess will be 
treated as the first gas (excluding Firm Gas) through Customer’s meter following 
Customer’s Period of Interruption. 

Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be used only by the 
Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 

DRAFT

6299



 

 

Quantities of Gas Delivered 
 

For the purpose of allocating the daily volume of gas delivered to a Customer under 
this rate schedule, the first gas delivered shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily 
quantity contracted for as Firm Gas, the next gas delivered shall be the Approved Daily 
Volumes of Transport Gas or Supplemental Gas for that Day, as applicable, and all 
additional gas delivered shall be considered Interruptible Gas except during a Period of 
Interruption, then all additional gas delivered shall be considered Unauthorized Gas. 
 
 
 Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:   $350.00 
 

Demand Charge:   $19.00 per dekatherm of demand. 
 
 
Commodity Charge: 

 
For Firm Gas:  $6.619 per dekatherm. 
 
For Interruptible Gas: $6.290 for the first 3,000 dekatherms; plus 

$5.703 for each dekatherm from 3,000 to and 
including 20,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.921 for each dekatherm from 20,000 to and 
including 50,000 dekatherms; plus 
$4.656 for the excess over 50,000 dekatherms. 

 
For Supplemental Gas: The Commodity Charge for Supplemental Gas 

shall be the total of: (a) the cost per dekatherm 
to KUB for the applicable Day of acquiring 
Supplemental Gas on the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase 
Supplemental Gas at or above such price and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting 
such Supplemental Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Transportation Charge:  $2.064 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 

dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$1.477 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 

DRAFT

6300



 

 

$.695 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
gas Redelivered plus Unauthorized Gas; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 
50,000 dekatherms of gas Redelivered plus 
Unauthorized Gas. 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge:  $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as 
a penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if 
Gas Daily is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices or (2) the applicable first of the month 
Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer 
published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices and (b) the costs incurred by 
KUB in transporting such Unauthorized Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s 
delivery points. 

 
In determining the appropriate rate block to bill Transportation Charges for gas 

Redelivered and Unauthorized Gas, the following volumes shall be combined: 
Interruptible Gas, Supplemental Gas, Transport Gas, and Unauthorized Gas. 

 
 Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Commodity Charge for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas shall be subject to KUB's 
Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 
 
  Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective. 
 

DRAFT

6301



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  Customer must immediately notify KUB 
if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event Customer takes 
Unauthorized Gas, Customer shall be charged the Unauthorized Gas Charge for all 
Unauthorized Gas delivered by KUB to Customer.  In addition, KUB may suspend or 
terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under applicable law.  
The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to give Customer 
the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory basis.  
 
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 
(1)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or capacity limitation 

on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all interruptible 
customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as 
determined by KUB. 

 
(2)  If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 

distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted 
area will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall 
be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
(3)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 

supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or 
by an actual shortage of gas, then: 

 
(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 Customers (other 

than Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas and Transport Gas) who have not 
heretofore been interrupted as provided above. 

 
(b) The second service interrupted shall be Redeliveries of Supplemental Gas to 

Rate Schedule G-7 Customers and deliveries of standby gas by KUB to Rate 
Schedule G-11 customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired 
Supplemental Gas for the account of a Customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or 
standby gas for the account of a customer under Rate Schedule G-11, these 
services may be interrupted to the extent necessary to provide service to 
KUB’s Firm Gas customers. 

 

DRAFT

6302



 

 

Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 
rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 
 

Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 
service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 
(4)  If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 

connecting pipeline of deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to any 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only 
service to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 customers or to the affected 
Customers receiving Transportation Service under Rate Schedule G-7, as 
applicable, will be interrupted. 

 
 
 Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer's premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be purchased, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may purchase.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 
Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall execute a contract 

with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified in said 
contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon.  Transportation 
Service under Rate Schedule G-7 shall be provided only after such customer executes 
a contract with KUB providing for Transportation Service. 
 

DRAFT

6303



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6304



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-11 
 

INTERRUPTIBLE TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

 
“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 

from KUB for interruptible transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-11. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Firm Gas” means the amount of gas designated as such in a written contract 
between KUB and the Customer; Firm Gas is not subject to interruption or curtailment 
except for emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules and Regulations. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Notice of Interruption” means the notice given by KUB to a Customer that a Period 
of Interruption has commenced or will commence. 

 
“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 

requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of non-Firm gas to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Period of Interruption” means any period of time during which KUB shall interrupt or 
curtail the delivery of gas to the Customer. 

 
“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Firm Gas and Unauthorized Gas, 

to a Customer by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 

 

DRAFT

6305



 

 

 “Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other 
than KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the 
Customer by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and the 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide interruptible transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 

 
“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 

amount which is permitted during a Period of Interruption or (b) the difference (whether 
positive or negative) between the quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes 
provided for under an Operational Flow Order. 
 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be available to any customer who meets 
the following conditions: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas), on an actual or projected 

basis, shall not be less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten 
therms); 

 
(b) Customer shall be permitted to purchase only one (1) dekatherm of Firm Gas 

under Rate Schedule G-11 for each two (2) dekatherms of Transport Gas delivered by 
KUB to the Customer; 

 
(c) Customer must have standby equipment of sufficient capacity capable of 

providing Customer’s normal gas service requirements for a period of five (5) working 
days without replenishment when Transport Gas is completely interrupted.  Customer 
shall maintain such equipment ready for operation at any time and shall utilize a fuel 
other than gas furnished by KUB and shall be subject to periodic inspections by KUB to 
ensure compliance with this provision; 

 
 Condition (c) shall be optional for any Customer who meets the following 

requirements: (1) annual gas usage (excluding Firm Gas) is equal to or greater than 
25,000 dekatherms; (2) primary use of gas is for industrial or process use; and (3) 
provides satisfactory evidence to KUB of its ability and willingness to have its gas 
service interrupted or curtailed by KUB in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Rate Schedule.   

 
(d) Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB. 

DRAFT

6306



 

 

 
 (e) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
 (f) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for interruptible 

transportation gas service. 
 
 In the event Customer shall fail at any time to meet conditions (a) through (d) 

service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 

 
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Customer which received service under Rate 

Schedule G-11 prior to November 1, 1997 may receive service under Rate Schedule G-
11 without fulfilling conditions (a) and (b).  Any such Customer shall comply with all 
other terms and conditions of Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-11, and 
subject to Periods of Interruption determined by KUB in its sole discretion, KUB shall 
deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from one 
or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account. 

 
If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 

any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-11. 

 
The first gas delivered to the Customer on a daily basis under Rate Schedule G-11 

shall be considered Firm Gas up to the daily quantity contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer. 

 
Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be used only by the 

Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge:  $450.00 
 

Demand Charge: $19.00 per dekatherm of demand. 
 

Firm Gas Charge: $6.619 per dekatherm.   
 

DRAFT

6307



 

 

Transportation Charge: $2.064 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer; plus 
$1.477 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
3,000 to and including 20,000 dekatherms of non-
Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.695 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 
20,000 to and including 50,000 dekatherms of 
non-Firm gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$.430 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of non-Firm gas delivered to 
Customer. 

 
Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: 

(a) the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the 
applicable Day of acquiring Standby Gas on the 
open market, subject to the approval of the 
Customer to purchase Standby Gas at or above 
such price and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in 
transporting such Standby Gas via connecting 
pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus the total of: (a) the cost per 
dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the 
applicable Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices or (2) the 
applicable first of the month Gulf Coast Price 
Index as published in INSIDE FERC, or if INSIDE 
FERC is no longer published, in a comparable 
reliable source for natural gas prices and (b) the 
costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one 
or more of KUB’s delivery points. 

 
Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 

pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in 
connection with the transportation of gas on behalf 
of the Customer, as applicable. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6308



 

 

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
 

The Firm Gas Charge shall be subject to KUB’s Purchased Gas Adjustment. 
 

 
Standby Gas Service 

 
In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 

Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-11 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB. 

 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand shall be the daily quantity of gas contracted for as Firm Gas by the 
Customer.  Customer, with the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the 
amount of Firm Gas by providing written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days 
prior to the beginning of the monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the 
change to be effective; provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a 
reduction in the previously specified Firm Gas, unless the previously specified Firm Gas 
has been in effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the 
requested change is to become effective.   
 
 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Transport Gas portion of the 
Contract Amount shall be specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one 
business day prior to the beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify 
the Customer in writing of the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have 

DRAFT

6309



 

 

been approved for Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily 
basis during such month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and 
obtain written approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a 
month at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such 
change. 
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 
(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
non-Firm gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following 
situations: (1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient 
and reliable service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on 
demand, (3) to maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, 
(4) to avoid penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may 
threaten the operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 
OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO.  
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 
 

DRAFT

6310



 

 

 
Balancing of Deliveries 

 
As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  

Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  

 
KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 

practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-11.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 

 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 

 
Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 

volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

 
% Monthly Imbalance              Price 

 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%  115% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%  140% of Index Price 
        >20%   150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

DRAFT

6311



 

 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
 0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Priority of Service 
 

Interruptible gas service is supplied to customers of KUB under Rate Schedules G-7 
and G-11.  Except as may be otherwise determined by KUB in its sole discretion, 
Periods of Interruption shall generally be imposed on interruptible customers of KUB in 
the following order: 
 

(1) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to an emergency or a capacity 
limitation on KUB’s gas distribution system, then the interruption of service to all 
interruptible customers of KUB shall be handled on a pro rata or other equitable basis 
as determined by KUB. 
 

(2) If the capacity limitation affects only a restricted geographic area of KUB’s gas 
distribution system, then only interruptible customers of KUB within the restricted area 
will have their service interrupted.  The interruption of such customers shall be handled 
on a pro rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 
 

(3) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a shortage of KUB’s normal gas 
supply, whether caused by a capacity limitation of KUB’s connecting pipeline(s) or by an 
actual shortage of gas, then: 
 

(a) The first service interrupted shall be Rate Schedule G-7 customers (other than 
redeliveries of supplemental gas and transport gas) who have not heretofore been 
interrupted as provided above. 
 

(b) The second service interrupted shall be redeliveries of supplemental gas to Rate 
Schedule G-7 customers and Deliveries of Standby Gas by KUB to Rate Schedule G-11 
Customers.  Even though KUB may have acquired supplemental gas for the account of 

DRAFT

6312



 

 

a customer under Rate Schedule G-7 or Standby Gas for the account of a Customer 
under Rate Schedule G-11, these services may be interrupted to the extent necessary 
to provide service to KUB’s Firm Gas customers.  
 
 

Within each category, the interruption of such customers shall be handled on a pro 
rata or other equitable basis as determined by KUB. 

 
Insofar as Transport Gas has been Delivered to KUB for any customer receiving 

service under Rate Schedule G-7 or Rate Schedule G-11, and insofar as the Period of 
Interruption is not due to an emergency or capacity limitation on KUB’s gas distribution 
system, the delivery of Transport Gas by KUB to those customers will not be 
interrupted. 
 

(4) If the Period of Interruption is necessary due to a lack of confirmation by any 
connecting pipeline of Deliveries for any Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to any 
customers receiving transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, then only service 
to the affected Rate Schedule G-11 Customers or to the affected customers receiving 
transportation service under Rate Schedule G-7, as applicable, will be interrupted. 
 
 

Notices 
 

To the extent possible, KUB shall give Customer at least a one hour Notice of 
Interruption before a Period of Interruption begins.  A Notice of Interruption may be 
written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person to the 
person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer as authorized to 
receive such notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  If a Period of Interruption involves only a reduction in the amount 
of gas that may be transported, the Notice of Interruption shall state the daily and/or 
hourly quantity of gas which Customer may transport.  A Period of Interruption shall 
continue in effect until KUB notifies Customer that the Period of Interruption has 
terminated or until the time specified in the Notice of Interruption expires. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6313



 

 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11 shall execute a 
contract with KUB for at least twelve (12) months to end on the November 1st specified 
in said contract or such other period as Customer and KUB agree upon. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6314



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-12 
 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL FIRM TRANSPORTATION GAS SERVICE 
 
 

Definitions 
 

“Contract Amount” means the maximum amount of Transport Gas a Customer may 
transport through KUB’s gas distribution system facilities on any Day as established by 
a Transportation Service Agreement between KUB and the Customer. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB for firm transportation gas service under Rate Schedule G-12. 
 

“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending 
at 10:00 A.M. prevailing Knoxville time or such other period as may be established by 
the applicable connecting pipeline(s) to KUB’s system. 
 

“Delivery” means the delivery of Transport Gas or Standby Gas to KUB. 
 

“Imbalance” means the difference between Deliveries to KUB for a Customer and 
Redeliveries by KUB to the Customer. 
 

“Operational Flow Order” means any directive issued to a Customer by KUB which 
requires the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of gas to the Customer 
by KUB.  
 

“Redelivery” means the delivery of gas, excluding Unauthorized Gas, to a Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Scheduled Daily Amount” means the amount of Transport Gas approved by KUB 
from time to time to be Delivered by a Customer to KUB and delivered to the Customer 
by KUB on a daily basis. 
 

“Standby Gas” means gas procured by KUB for the account of a Customer in the 
event of failure of the Customer’s supplier to Deliver Transport Gas to KUB. 
 

“Transport Gas” means the gas purchased by a Customer from a supplier other than 
KUB that Customer has arranged to have Delivered to KUB for delivery to the Customer 
by KUB. 
 

“Transportation Service Agreement” means the contract between KUB and 
Customer whereby KUB agrees to provide firm transportation gas service to the 
Customer. 
 

DRAFT

6315



 

 

“Unauthorized Gas” means (a) the quantity of gas taken by Customer exceeding the 
Contract Amount or (b) the difference (whether positive or negative) between the 
quantity of gas taken by Customer and the volumes provided for under an Operational 
Flow Order. 

 
 

Availability 
 

Service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be available to any customer when the 
following conditions are met: 

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be less 

than 12,500 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 
(b) KUB must determine that its existing distribution system facilities are adequate 

and available for the requested service; and 
 
(c) Customer must execute a Transportation Service Agreement for firm 

transportation gas service. 
 
(d)  Customer’s use under this rate shall not work a hardship on any other customers 

of KUB, nor adversely affect any other class of KUB’s customers and further provided 
the Customer’s use under this rate shall not adversely affect KUB’s gas purchase plans 
and/or effective utilization of the daily demands under KUB’s gas purchase contracts 
with its suppliers, as solely determined by KUB . 

 
In the event a Customer shall fail at any time to continue to meet condition (a) or (d), 

service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall no longer be available; but at KUB’s option, 
gas service may be provided to the Customer under other KUB rate schedules. 
 
 

Character of Service 
 

Pursuant to a Transportation Service Agreement and Rate Schedule G-12, KUB 
shall deliver to the Customer up to the Contract Amount of Transport Gas received from 
one or more connected interstate natural gas pipelines for Customer’s account.  
 

Transport Gas, as provided for under Rate Schedule G-12, shall be subject to 
interruption as a result of emergency or other causes as provided for in KUB’s Rules 
and Regulations. 
 

If the Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the Customer for 
any reason, Standby Gas service may be available in accordance with the terms and 
conditions under Rate Schedule G-12. 

 

DRAFT

6316



 

 

Gas purchased or transported under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be used only by the 
Customer at its facilities and shall be delivered at a single point of delivery located 
within the service area of KUB and shall not be resold by the Customer. 
 
 

Net Rates 
 

Customer Charge: $450.00 
 

Demand Charge: $6.30 per dekatherm of demand. 
 

Transportation Charge: $2.333 per dekatherm for the first 3,000 dekatherms 
of gas delivered to Customer; plus 
$1.599 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 3,000 
to and including 20,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.739 per dekatherm for each dekatherm from 20,000 
to and including 50,000 dekatherms of gas delivered 
to Customer; plus 
$.575 per dekatherm for the excess over 50,000 
dekatherms of gas delivered to Customer. 

 
 

Standby Gas Charge: The charge for Standby Gas shall be the total of: (a) 
the cost per dekatherm to KUB for the applicable Day 
of acquiring Standby Gas in the open market, subject 
to the approval of the Customer to purchase Standby 
Gas at or above such price and (b) the costs incurred 
by KUB in transporting such Standby Gas via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery 
points. 

 
Unauthorized Gas Charge: $15.00 per dekatherm of Unauthorized Gas as a 

penalty, plus, as applicable, the total of: (a) the cost 
per dekatherm of obtaining such gas on the open 
market as determined by the higher of (1) the 
applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable 
Day as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas Daily is no 
longer published, in a comparable reliable source for 
natural gas prices or (2) the applicable first of the 
month Gulf Coast Price Index as published in INSIDE 
FERC, or if INSIDE FERC is no longer published, in a 
comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such 
Unauthorized Gas via connecting pipelines to one or 
more of KUB’s delivery points. 

DRAFT

6317



 

 

 
 

Other Charges: Imbalance Charges (as herein defined), and any 
pipeline scheduling, balancing, transportation, or 
other similar charges incurred by KUB in connection 
with the transportation of gas on behalf of the 
Customer, as applicable. 

 
 

Standby Gas Service 
 

In the event Transport Gas cannot be Delivered to KUB by a supplier of the 
Customer, KUB will attempt to make Standby Gas available to the Customer in volumes 
up to the Customer’s Scheduled Daily Amount.  To obtain Standby Gas service, 
Customer or Customer’s supplier must provide KUB with prior written or oral notice that 
the supplier will be unable to Deliver volumes to KUB to meet Customer’s Scheduled 
Daily Amount.  
 

KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to curtail in whole or in part Standby 
Gas service to the Customer.  To the extent possible, KUB shall give the Customer at 
least one hour notice prior to curtailment of Standby Gas service.  Notice of curtailment 
may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone or in person 
to the person or persons designated from time to time by the Customer to receive such 
notices, or by facsimile transmission to the telephone number designated from time to 
time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the Customer’s 
premises.  
 

Standby Gas under Rate Schedule G-12 shall be subject to the following charges, 
as applicable: (a) the Standby Gas Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for 
Deliveries of Standby Gas to KUB for the account of the Customer, and (b) the 
Transportation Charge, as set forth in this rate schedule, for deliveries of Standby Gas 
to the Customer by KUB.  
 
 

Determination of Demand 
 

Demand for any month shall be the Customer’s Contract Amount.  Customer, with 
the consent of KUB, may from time to time change the Contract Amount by providing 
written notice to KUB at least three (3) business days prior to the beginning of the 
monthly billing period for which the Customer desires the change to be effective; 
provided, however, that such changes shall not effect a reduction in the previously 
specified Contract Amount unless the previously specified Contract Amount has been in 
effect for the entire twelve month period immediately preceding the date the requested 
change is to become effective.  Any change in the Contract Amount shall be effectuated 
by an amendment to the Transportation Service Agreement.  
 

DRAFT

6318



 

 

Scheduling of Service 
 

At least three (3) business days prior to the first calendar day of the month, 
Customer shall submit to KUB its schedule showing the proposed daily volumes of 
Transport Gas the Customer desires to Deliver to KUB via connecting pipelines and 
have delivered to the Customer by KUB during the succeeding month (“Delivery 
Schedule”).  Any proposed Delivery of gas in excess of the Contract Amount shall be 
specifically noted in the Delivery Schedule.  At least one business day prior to the 
beginning of the applicable calendar month, KUB shall notify the Customer in writing of 
the volumes of Transport Gas for such Customer which have been approved for 
Delivery to KUB and delivery to the Customer by KUB on a daily basis during such 
month (“Scheduled Daily Amount”).  The Customer must notify and obtain written 
approval of KUB for any changes in the Scheduled Daily Amount during a month at 
least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the proposed commencement of such change. 

 
KUB shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to issue an Operational Flow Order 

(“OFO”) which shall require the Customer to adjust Deliveries to KUB or deliveries of 
gas to the Customer by KUB in order to address one or more of the following situations: 
(1) to maintain system operations at pressures required to provide efficient and reliable 
service, (2) to have adequate gas supplies in the system to deliver on demand, (3) to 
maintain service to all firm gas customers and for all firm gas services, (4) to avoid 
penalties from connecting pipelines, or (5) any other situation which may threaten the 
operational integrity of KUB’s gas distribution system. 

 
To the extent possible, KUB shall give at least one hour notice prior to issuing an 

OFO.  Notice may be written or oral and shall be sufficient if given by KUB via telephone 
or in person to the person or person(s) designated from time to time by the Customer as 
authorized to receive such notices, or by facsimile to the facsimile number designated 
from time to time by the Customer, or if mailed or hand-delivered in writing to the 
Customer’s premises.  The OFO shall include but not be limited to the following 
information: (1) time and date of issuance, (2) action Customer is required to take, (3) 
time at which Customer must be in compliance with the OFO, (4) anticipated duration of 
the OFO, and (5) any other terms and conditions that KUB may reasonably require to 
ensure the effectiveness of the OFO. 
 

Any volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB in excess of the volumes 
provided for under the OFO shall be subject to the entire Unauthorized Gas Charge.  If 
the volumes of gas delivered to the Customer by KUB are less than the volumes 
required to be delivered to the Customer under the OFO, the volumes not delivered to 
the Customer shall be subject only to the penalty portion of the Unauthorized Gas 
Charge. 
 
  

DRAFT

6319



 

 

Unauthorized Gas Charge 
 

No Customer shall take Unauthorized Gas.  A Customer must immediately notify 
KUB if it has taken, or anticipates taking, Unauthorized Gas.  In the event a Customer 
takes Unauthorized Gas, the Customer shall be charged for all Unauthorized Gas 
delivered by KUB to the Customer the Unauthorized Gas Charge.  In addition, KUB may 
suspend or terminate service and/or pursue any other remedy available to it under 
applicable law.  The existence of an Unauthorized Gas Charge shall not be construed to 
give any Customer the right to take Unauthorized Gas.  The penalty portion of the 
Unauthorized Gas Charge may be waived or reduced by KUB on a non-discriminatory 
basis. 
 
 

Balancing of Deliveries 
 

As nearly as practical, Deliveries and Redeliveries shall be at uniform rates of flow.  
Due to Customer operating conditions, the quantities of gas Delivered to KUB and 
Redelivered to Customer during any particular period may not balance.  It shall be the 
responsibility of the Customer to adjust Deliveries and Redeliveries of gas to maintain a 
daily balance of Deliveries and Redeliveries.  
 

KUB will endeavor to monitor Deliveries and Redeliveries and, to the extent 
practical, inform the Customer of Imbalances which have occurred.  KUB’s failure to 
notify the Customer of an Imbalance shall not affect Customer’s obligations under Rate 
Schedule G-12.  All efforts to correct Imbalances by a Customer shall be coordinated 
with KUB. 
 

KUB shall have the right to take any and all action necessary to limit Imbalances 
from connecting pipelines or which affect the integrity of KUB’s system. 
 
 

Resolution of Imbalances 
 

The Customer’s Imbalance for the month shall be the net total of daily Imbalances 
for the month.  KUB shall divide the monthly Imbalance by the sum of the Deliveries to 
KUB for the Customer for each Day of the month to determine the percentage (%) 
monthly Imbalance.  KUB shall resolve the monthly Imbalance according to the 
following schedules (“Imbalance Charges”): 
 

Schedule A.  Redeliveries exceed Deliveries - Customer shall pay KUB for excess 
volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this Schedule A) 
for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 

 
% Monthly Imbalance               Price       

     0 -   5%   100% of Index Price 
        >  5 - 10%   115% of Index Price 

DRAFT

6320



 

 

        >10 - 15%   130% of Index Price 
        >15 - 20%   140% of Index Price 
        >20%    150% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of:  (a) the average of daily prices for the 

applicable Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily, 
or if Gas Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas 
prices and (b) the costs incurred by KUB in transporting such excess volumes via 
connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 

Schedule B.  Deliveries exceed Redeliveries - KUB shall pay the Customer for 
excess volumes at the applicable percentage of the Index Price (as defined in this 
Schedule B) for those volumes within the corresponding % monthly imbalance range. 
 

% Monthly Imbalance  Price 
0 -   5%  100% of Index Price 

        >  5 - 10%  85% of Index Price 
        >10 - 15%  70% of Index Price 

            >15 - 20%  60% of Index Price 
        >20%   50% of Index Price 

 
The Index Price shall be the total of: (a) the average of daily prices for the applicable 

Gulf Coast Price Index for the applicable month, as published in Gas Daily or, if Gas 
Daily is no longer published, in a comparable reliable source for natural gas prices and 
(b) the costs which would have been incurred by KUB in transporting such excess 
volumes via connecting pipelines to one or more of KUB’s delivery points. 
 
 

Minimum Bill 
 

The minimum bill for each monthly billing period shall be the sum of the Customer 
Charge and the Demand Charge. 
 
 

Contract for Service 
 

Each Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-12 shall execute a 
contract with KUB to end on the November 1st specified in said contract. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
  
  

DRAFT

6321



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-13 
 

DISCOUNT GAS SERVICE RIDER 
 

 
Definitions 

 
“Agreement” means a Discount Gas Service Agreement for gas service under Rate 

Schedule G-13 between the Customer and KUB.  The Agreement shall serve as an 
amendment to the Contract. 
 

“Alternate Fuel” means any source of fuel used by a customer at its facilities as an 
alternative to natural gas. 
 

“Bypass” means the delivery of natural gas directly to the facilities of a customer 
within the gas service territory of KUB by (1) a connecting interstate or intrastate natural 
gas pipeline or (2) a connecting alternate natural gas distribution system, without the 
transportation of such gas on KUB’s natural gas distribution system.  
 

“Contract” means an agreement for gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule between a customer and KUB. 
 

“Customer” means a person or entity contracting with or otherwise receiving service 
from KUB under the Discount Gas Service Rider (”Rider”). 
 

“Purchased Gas Cost Component” means the portion of a rate charged by KUB to its 
customers for gas service which reflects the cost of purchasing gas and transporting it 
to the facilities of KUB for resale to its customers. 
 

 
Availability 

 
The Discount Gas Service Rider (the “Rider”) is designed to permit KUB to discount 

rates set forth in the Gas Division’s rate schedules for commercial and industrial gas 
service for any customer receiving gas service from KUB under a commercial and 
industrial rate schedule provided such customer meets the terms and conditions set 
forth herein. 
 

Service under the Rider shall be available only (1) to meet competitive Alternate Fuel 
prices or (2) to avoid Bypass of KUB’s natural gas distribution system, under the 
circumstances described below: 
 

Alternate Fuel Prices 
 

Customer’s use of Alternate Fuel sources must, in the sole judgment of KUB, be 
deemed economically feasible and practical.  Customer shall be required to provide 

DRAFT

6322



 

 

KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to use Alternate Fuel sources absent 
service from KUB under the Rider.  Customer shall also be required to provide KUB with 
documentation demonstrating to KUB that its Alternate Fuel source is available to 
Customer and the cost of the Alternate Fuel source is less than the otherwise applicable 
commercial and industrial gas rates charged to the Customer by KUB. 

 
Bypass of Distribution System 

 
Customer’s facilities must be located within such distance of (1) an interstate or 

intrastate natural gas pipeline providing gas transportation or sales service or (2) an 
alternate natural gas distribution system, so that Bypass of KUB’s natural gas 
distribution system is, in the sole judgment of KUB, deemed economically feasible and 
practical. 
 

Customer shall provide KUB with an affidavit stating the Customer’s intent to Bypass 
KUB’s natural gas distribution system absent service from KUB under the Rider.  
Customer shall also provide KUB with any other such documentation requested by KUB 
to verify the investment required on part of the Customer to take gas service directly 
from the applicable interstate or intrastate natural gas pipeline or alternate natural gas 
distribution system. 
 

Additional Conditions 
 

In addition, any Customer receiving service under the Rider must meet the following 
conditions: 
 

(a) Customer’s annual gas consumption, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 
less than 25,000 dekatherms (one dekatherm is equivalent to ten therms); 
 

(b) Customer must have executed a Contract to receive gas service from KUB under 
a commercial and industrial rate schedule; and 
 

(c) Customer must execute a Discount Gas Service Agreement .   
 
If, for any reason, Customer shall fail to satisfy the conditions necessary for service 

under the Rider, service under the Rider shall no longer be available; however,  
Customer may continue to receive gas service from KUB under the applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule provided the Customer continues to satisfy the 
conditions required for service under such rate schedule. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Customer must make a written request to KUB for service under the Rider.  The 
request must describe the circumstances under which the customer is seeking to 
receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or Bypass).  Customer’s request 

DRAFT

6323



 

 

for service under the Rider and the amount of any discount provided Customer under 
the Rider must be previously approved by the President of KUB (or such designated 
agent authorized by the President of KUB to act on the President’s behalf) prior to the 
Customer receiving service under the Rider.  Customer must have previously executed 
a Contract prior to receiving service under the Rider. 
 

Unless expressly stated otherwise in the Agreement for service under the Rider, all 
the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate 
schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is receiving service under the Rider. 
 

KUB shall conduct an economic analysis of the circumstances under which the 
customer is seeking to receive service under the Rider (Alternate Fuel prices or 
Bypass).  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all information 
necessary for KUB to conduct such an analysis.  The analysis shall determine, among 
other things, the cost to the customer of using an Alternate Fuel or the cost to the 
customer to Bypass KUB’s natural gas distribution system, as applicable.  If Customer 
is approved for service under the Rider, KUB shall discount the rates set forth in the 
Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule in such a manner that 
the Customer’s cost of receiving gas service from KUB is competitive with the 
Customer’s cost of using an Alternate Fuel or Bypassing KUB’s natural gas distribution 
system, as applicable. 
 

The following charges specified in KUB’s commercial and industrial gas rate 
schedules shall be subject to being discounted under the Rider: Customer Charges, 
Demand Charges, Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas, and 
Transportation Charges.  Commodity Charges for Firm Gas and/or Interruptible Gas 
shall not be discounted below the applicable Purchased Gas Cost Component plus $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm.  Transportation Charges shall not be discounted below $.10 
(ten cents) per dekatherm. 
 

Discounted rates are subject to adjustment by KUB on a periodic basis, as 
determined by KUB in its sole discretion; provided, however, that the circumstances 
under which the Customer warranted service under the Rider shall be evaluated by 
KUB on no less than a biannual basis for such period of time Customer is receiving 
service under the Rider.  Customer shall, at the request of KUB, provide any and all 
information necessary for KUB to evaluate the circumstances by which Customer was 
granted service under the Rider.  Based upon an analysis of information received from 
the Customer or obtained by KUB of its own accord, KUB shall have the right to adjust 
the discount provided to the Customer up to the point of ceasing to provide service to 
the Customer under the Rider. 
 
 
  

DRAFT

6324



 

 

Discount Gas Service Agreement 
 

Customer shall enter into an Agreement with KUB for service under the Rider.  The 
Agreement shall serve as an amendment to the Customer’s previously executed 
Contract for commercial and industrial gas service with KUB.  Subject to KUB’s right to 
re-evaluate and adjust the discount provided for under the Agreement, the Agreement 
shall specify the discount to be provided by KUB to the Customer and any other such 
terms and conditions as KUB determines are necessary to effectuate service under the 
Rider. 
 

KUB may amend the Agreement, at its sole discretion, to provide for an adjustment in 
the discount provided to the Customer.  KUB shall provide such notice to the Customer, 
as deemed appropriate by KUB, of any adjustment in the discount provided to the 
Customer under the Agreement.  Any such adjustment in the discount provided the 
Customer shall be in accordance with KUB’s periodic evaluation of the circumstances 
warranting service under the Rider. 
  
  

DRAFT

6325



 

 

RATE SCHEDULE G-14 
 

ALTERNATIVE GAS PRICING RIDER 
 

Definitions 
 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement” means the agreement between KUB and 

the Customer providing the Customer gas service under the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Rider (“Pricing Rider”) and shall be considered an amendment to the Contract to 
provide gas between KUB and the Customer. 

 
“Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines” means the policies and procedures 

established by KUB for the implementation and administration of the Pricing Rider. 
 
“Customer” means a person or entity receiving service from KUB under the 

Pricing Rider.  
 
“Firm Gas Adder” means the component of the Customer’s commodity gas rate 

for the costs incurred by KUB for reserving interstate natural gas pipeline and storage 
capacity by KUB on behalf of the Customer. 

 
“KUB System Supply Price” means the weighted average cost of gas delivered to 

KUB’s gas distribution system for a given month for resale to customers on the KUB gas 
distribution system (excluding gas sold to customers under the Pricing Rider). 

 
“KUB System Transportation Charge” means the cost of transporting gas on 

KUB’s gas distribution system on behalf of the Customer to the facilities of the 
Customer as determined by the KUB Board of Commissioners in their sole discretion. 

  
“Locked-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is pre-determined. 
 
“Market-Price Gas” means gas whose rate is based upon a first-of-the-month 

natural gas price for Tennessee, La., 500 Leg as published in Platts Gas Daily Price 
Guide. In the event the price is not published for the month then a comparable monthly 
index shall be substituted as determined by KUB. If the above publication ceases to be 
published during the term hereof, its successor publication shall be used or, if there is 
no successor, then a comparable monthly published index shall be substituted in 
replacement thereof. 

 
“Price Cashout” means the monthly reconciliation process between the Customer 

and KUB in which the Customer’s gas volume obligations for Locked-Price Gas are 
reconciled with KUB. 

 
  

DRAFT

6326



 

 

Availability 
 

The Pricing Rider is designed to provide large commercial and industrial 
customers receiving gas service from KUB with the opportunity and means to manage 
the cost of their natural gas purchases from KUB by providing pricing alternatives for the 
applicable commodity gas rates set forth in their applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedules. 
 

Service under the Pricing Rider shall be available to G-7 or G-11 commercial and 
industrial customers receiving gas service from KUB under the terms and conditions set 
forth below  

 
(a) Customer’s annual gas usage, on an actual or projected basis, shall not be 

less than 25,000 dekatherms. 
 
(b) For a Customer receiving service under Rate Schedule G-11, Interruptible 

Transportation Gas Service, pricing alternatives shall be applicable only to Firm Gas.  
 
(c) Customer may be required to provide KUB with appropriate financial 

information prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider and subsequently on a 
periodic basis, for the purpose of evaluating the Customer’s creditworthiness. KUB 
reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to deny any Customer service under the Pricing 
Rider based upon KUB’s evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness or authorize any 
appropriate security arrangement, if necessary, for the Customer to receive service 
under the Pricing Rider. KUB also reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to refuse to 
execute any particular alternative price transaction on behalf of a Customer based upon 
KUB’s initial or any subsequent evaluation of the Customer’s creditworthiness.  

 
(d) Customer must execute an Alternative Gas Pricing Agreement which shall 

serve as an amendment to the Customer’s existing contract to receive gas service from 
KUB. Customer must have previously executed a contract to receive gas service from 
KUB prior to receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
(e) Customer must comply with any other terms and conditions required for 

service under the Pricing Rider which may be set forth in the Alternative Gas Pricing 
Guidelines. 
 

In the event a Customer fails to satisfy the conditions necessary for service under 
the Pricing Rider, service under the Pricing Rider, as determined by KUB in its sole 
discretion, may no longer be available; however, the Customer may continue to receive 
gas service from KUB under the applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
provided the Customer continues to satisfy the conditions required for service under 
such rate schedule and the Customer’s Contract, as amended with KUB. 

 
Upon determination that service under the Pricing Rider is no longer available to 

a Customer, the Customer shall still be permitted to receive service under the Pricing 

DRAFT

6327



 

 

Rider until such point in time that the Customer’s outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments have been fulfilled.  

 
Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the Pricing Rider or in the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines, all the terms and conditions of the Customer’s applicable 
commercial and industrial rate schedule shall remain in effect while the Customer is 
receiving service under the Pricing Rider. 

 
 

Character of Service 
 

Alternative pricing shall be applicable only for the Customer’s Commodity Gas 
Rates for Firm Gas and Interruptible Gas (“Commodity Gas Rates”). Interruptible Gas 
shall still be subject to periods of interruption under the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule. 

 
For a Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider, the Commodity Gas 

Rates set forth in the Customer’s applicable commercial and industrial rate schedule 
shall not be effective. Commodity Gas Rates for a Customer receiving service under the 
Pricing Rider shall be based upon the pricing alternative selected by the Customer as 
described below and agreed upon by KUB. 

 
(a) Locked-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall be locked or pre-determined 

at the time KUB executes the pricing transaction on behalf of the Customer. The 
Commodity Gas Rate shall consist of the cost incurred by KUB for purchasing the gas 
on the open market for the benefit of the Customer plus the cost of transporting the gas 
on connecting interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the 
KUB System Transportation Charge; or 

 
(b) Market-Price Gas: Commodity Gas Rates shall consist of the applicable 

market index, supplier premium, and the cost of transporting the gas on connecting 
interstate natural gas pipelines to KUB’s gas distribution system plus the KUB System 
Transportation Charge. 
 

Regardless of the pricing alternative utilized by the Customer, the Customer’s 
commodity gas rate for Firm Gas shall also include a Firm Gas Adder for the costs 
incurred by KUB for interstate natural gas pipeline and storage capacity reservation 
charges. 

 
The Market-Price alternative shall be the default pricing mechanism for 

Commodity Gas Charges. If KUB does not execute any Locked-Price transactions on 
behalf of a Customer for a given month, the Customer’s Commodity Gas Charges for 
that particular month shall be based upon the Market-Price alternative. The Commodity 
Gas Charges for any gas delivered by KUB to the facilities of the Customer for a given 
month in excess of Locked-Price Gas shall be Market-Price Gas (excluding Transport 
Gas, Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas).  

 
 

DRAFT

6328



 

 

KUB incurs an obligation for Locked-Price Gas volumes when it executes 
transactions on behalf of a Customer. If, for whatever reason, the gas volumes 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for any month are less than the gas volumes the 
Customer has locked for such month, the net difference (excluding Transport Gas, 
Supplemental Gas, and Unauthorized Gas) shall be reconciled on a monthly basis 
through a Price Cashout. 

 
If the price of the Locked-Price Gas delivered to KUB exceeds the KUB System 

Supply Price, the Customer shall pay a Price Cashout Charge equal to the excess price 
multiplied by the applicable volumes not delivered by KUB to the Customer for such 
month. If the KUB System Supply Price exceeds the price of the Locked-Price Gas 
delivered to KUB on behalf of the Customer, the Customer shall receive a Price 
Cashout Credit equal to the excess price multiplied by the applicable volumes not 
delivered by KUB to the Customer for such month. 

 
A Customer receiving service under the Pricing Rider shall not be permitted to 

revert to the Commodity Gas Rates set forth in its applicable commercial and industrial 
rate schedule so long as the Customer has any outstanding Locked-Price Gas 
commitments.  

 
 

Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines 
 

The President and Chief Executive Officer of KUB shall have the authority to 
adopt and amend such Alternative Gas Pricing Guidelines as are necessary to establish 
policies and procedures to implement the pricing alternatives set forth in the Pricing 
Rider. 

    
All service provided under the Pricing Rider shall be subject to the Alternative 

Gas Pricing Guidelines which from time to time shall be in effect. 
 
 

DRAFT

6329



 

 

 
RESOLUTION 1310 

EXHIBIT G 
RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WATER DIVISION 

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6330



 

 

                                WATER GENERAL SERVICE - RESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter     $13.00 
    1” meter  $27.10 
    1 ½” meter   $39.00 
    2” meter  $55.00 
         

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $0.25 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $2.65 per Ccf 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6331



 

 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter  $14.40 
 1” meter  $31.40 
          1 ½" meter  $45.40 
 2” meter  $64.40 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $0.30 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $3.20 per Ccf 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6332



 

 

WATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 

In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

3. Inside City / Industrial Park Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville or within the boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the 
Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter              $13.00 
1” meter           $27.10 
1 ½” meter           $39.00 
2” meter           $55.00 
3” meter           $121.00 
4” meter            $200.00 
6” meter           $438.00 

        8” meter          $770.00 
       10” meter          $1,173.00 
       12” meter   $1,736.00 

     
 
 
 

DRAFT

6333



 

 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 1.45 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $ 3.25 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $ 3.95 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $ 2.75 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $ 1.90 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $ 1.00 per Ccf 

 
 

4. Outside – City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville, excluding premises within the 
boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the Tennessee Department of 
Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter   $14.40 
1” meter   $31.40 
1 ½" meter   $45.40 
2” meter   $64.40 
3” meter   $144.00 
4” meter    $241.00 
6” meter   $526.00 
8” meter   $924.00 
10” meter     $1,407.00 
12” meter   $2,085.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $1.70 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $3.80 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $4.75 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $3.30 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $2.30 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $1.20 per Ccf 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6334



 

 

SCHEDULE B – PRIVATE FIRE SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Under this schedule, KUB provides water supply to privately owned automatic 
sprinklers or hose outlets. Such service is available to any residential, commercial, or 
industrial customer. 
 
 

Rate 
 

 The private Fire Service Charge shall be calculated using the table below based on 
the customer’s fire line connections. 
 
 

Monthly Service Charge per Connection 
 
  Connection less than 4”            $  18.75 
     4”  Connection            $  37.50 
     6”  Connection            $  91.00 
     8”  Connection            $160.00 
   10”  Connection            $248.00 
   12”  Connection and greater          $356.00 
 
 These service charges shall be in addition to the charge for any water use through 
fire line connections. The amount of unmetered water so used, as determined by KUB, 
shall be paid for at KUB’s applicable rate schedules. 
 
 No charge under this Schedule B shall be made where the water supply to private 
fire protection facilities is through one or more metered connection(s) for which payment 
is made under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 No credit for charges under this rate schedule shall be allowed against the Water 
General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule charge for water supplied through a 
fire line to one or more metered connection(s) where the fire line serves as a connecting 
line between the metered connection(s) and KUB’s mains. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6335



 

 

SCHEDULE C – UNMETERED GOVERNMENT SERVICE 
 

 For water used from KUB’s mains with KUB’s permission by any department of a 
governmental entity through unmetered fire hydrants for purposes other than for public 
fire service: 
 
 

Inside – City Rate 
 

 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Inside City rates set forth in the 
Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Outside – City Rate 
 
 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant outside the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Outside City rates set forth in 
the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6336



 

 

SCHEDULE D – PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 Service under this schedule shall be available only to a governmental entity that 
undertakes to provide public fire protection service for an area that contains at least four 
square miles.  KUB reserves the right to require any applicant for service under this 
schedule to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service. 
 
 

Rate 
 

   For public fire protection service rendered, the governmental entity shall pay 
KUB a fire protection service charge at the rate of $400.14 per year for each KUB 
owned public fire hydrant located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the 
governmental entity and within areas provided public fire protection service by such 
governmental entity.  In addition to the fire protection service charge, the governmental 
entity shall pay for all water used for fire fighting at rates set forth in the Water General 
Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
   KUB may contract with other utility providers to supply public fire protection 
service to an eligible governmental entity in any service area (or portion thereof), where 
KUB determines it desirable to do so.  Charges to a governmental entity for fire 
protection service provided under such a contract shall be at the same rate specified 
above, and the hydrants of the utility provider utilized under such a contract shall be 
deemed to be facilities owned by KUB for the sole purpose of calculating charges under 
this schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6337



 

 

SCHEDULE E – SALES FOR RESALE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 For water purchased on an interruptible basis for resale by a customer that does 
not use KUB as its sole supplier of water. This service shall be available only on an 
interruptible basis and only to the extent, in KUB’s sole opinion, that such service can 
be supplied through existing facilities without adversely affecting water service to any 
other customer of KUB. Nothing contained herein shall prevent KUB from providing 
water for resale under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

$1.27 per 100 Cubic Feet 
 

 Any unauthorized usage under this tariff shall be billed at the Outside City rates 
set forth in the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

DRAFT

6338



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT H 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WATER DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6339



 

 

WATER GENERAL SERVICE - RESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter     $14.00 
    1” meter  $28.10 
    1 ½” meter   $40.00 
    2” meter  $56.00 
         

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $0.25 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $2.65 per Ccf 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6340



 

 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter  $15.40 
 1” meter  $32.40 
          1 ½" meter  $46.40 
 2” meter  $65.40 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $0.30 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $3.20 per Ccf 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6341



 

 

WATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 

In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

3. Inside City / Industrial Park Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville or within the boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the 
Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter              $14.00 
1” meter           $28.10 
1 ½” meter           $40.00 
2” meter           $56.00 
3” meter           $127.00 
4” meter            $210.00 
6” meter           $460.00 

        8” meter          $809.00 
       10” meter          $1,232.00 
       12” meter   $1,823.00 

     
 
 
 

DRAFT

6342



 

 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 1.55 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $ 3.45 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $ 4.25 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $ 3.05 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $ 2.00 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $ 1.00 per Ccf 

 
 

4. Outside – City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville, excluding premises within the 
boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the Tennessee Department of 
Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter   $15.40 
1” meter   $32.40 
1 ½" meter   $46.40 
2” meter   $65.40 
3” meter   $151.00 
4” meter    $253.00 
6” meter   $552.00 
8” meter   $970.00 
10” meter     $1,477.00 
12” meter   $2,189.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $1.85 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $4.00 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $5.10 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $3.60 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $2.40 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $1.20 per Ccf 

 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

DRAFT

6343



 

 

SCHEDULE B – PRIVATE FIRE SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Under this schedule, KUB provides water supply to privately owned automatic 
sprinklers or hose outlets. Such service is available to any residential, commercial, or 
industrial customer. 
 
 

Rate 
 

 The private Fire Service Charge shall be calculated using the table below based on 
the customer’s fire line connections. 
 
 

Monthly Service Charge per Connection 
 
  Connection less than 4”            $  19.75 
     4”  Connection            $  39.50 
     6”  Connection            $  96.00 
     8”  Connection            $168.00 
   10”  Connection            $260.00 
   12”  Connection and greater          $374.00 
 
 These service charges shall be in addition to the charge for any water use through 
fire line connections. The amount of unmetered water so used, as determined by KUB, 
shall be paid for at KUB’s applicable rate schedules. 
 
 No charge under this Schedule B shall be made where the water supply to private 
fire protection facilities is through one or more metered connection(s) for which payment 
is made under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 No credit for charges under this rate schedule shall be allowed against the Water 
General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule charge for water supplied through a 
fire line to one or more metered connection(s) where the fire line serves as a connecting 
line between the metered connection(s) and KUB’s mains. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6344



 

 

SCHEDULE C – UNMETERED GOVERNMENT SERVICE 
 

 For water used from KUB’s mains with KUB’s permission by any department of a 
governmental entity through unmetered fire hydrants for purposes other than for public 
fire service: 
 
 

Inside – City Rate 
 

 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Inside City rates set forth in the 
Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Outside – City Rate 
 
 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant outside the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Outside City rates set forth in 
the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6345



 

 

SCHEDULE D – PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 Service under this schedule shall be available only to a governmental entity that 
undertakes to provide public fire protection service for an area that contains at least four 
square miles.  KUB reserves the right to require any applicant for service under this 
schedule to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service. 
 
 

Rate 
 

   For public fire protection service rendered, the governmental entity shall pay 
KUB a fire protection service charge at the rate of $400.14 per year for each KUB 
owned public fire hydrant located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the 
governmental entity and within areas provided public fire protection service by such 
governmental entity.  In addition to the fire protection service charge, the governmental 
entity shall pay for all water used for fire fighting at rates set forth in the Water General 
Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
   KUB may contract with other utility providers to supply public fire protection 
service to an eligible governmental entity in any service area (or portion thereof), where 
KUB determines it desirable to do so.  Charges to a governmental entity for fire 
protection service provided under such a contract shall be at the same rate specified 
above, and the hydrants of the utility provider utilized under such a contract shall be 
deemed to be facilities owned by KUB for the sole purpose of calculating charges under 
this schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6346



 

 

SCHEDULE E – SALES FOR RESALE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 For water purchased on an interruptible basis for resale by a customer that does 
not use KUB as its sole supplier of water. This service shall be available only on an 
interruptible basis and only to the extent, in KUB’s sole opinion, that such service can 
be supplied through existing facilities without adversely affecting water service to any 
other customer of KUB. Nothing contained herein shall prevent KUB from providing 
water for resale under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

$1.33 per 100 Cubic Feet 
 

 Any unauthorized usage under this tariff shall be billed at the Outside City rates 
set forth in the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

DRAFT

6347



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT I 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WATER DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6348



 

 

WATER GENERAL SERVICE - RESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter     $15.00 
    1” meter  $29.10 
    1 ½” meter   $41.00 
    2” meter  $57.00 
         

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $0.25 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $2.65 per Ccf 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6349



 

 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

 5/8” meter  $16.40 
 1” meter  $33.40 
          1 ½" meter  $47.40 
 2” meter  $66.40 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential 
schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $0.30 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $3.20 per Ccf 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6350



 

 

WATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage. 
 

In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

3. Inside City / Industrial Park Rate 
 

 For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville or within the boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the 
Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter              $15.00 
1” meter           $29.10 
1 ½” meter           $41.00 
2” meter           $57.00 
3” meter           $133.00 
4” meter            $221.00 
6” meter           $483.00 

        8” meter          $849.00 
       10” meter          $1,294.00 
       12” meter   $1,914.00 

     
 
 
 

DRAFT

6351



 

 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 1.70 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $ 3.65 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $ 4.50 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $ 3.25 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $ 2.10 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $ 1.00 per Ccf 

 
 

4. Outside – City Rate 
 
 For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville, excluding premises within the 
boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the Tennessee Department of 
Economic and Community Development: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
5/8” meter   $16.40 
1” meter   $33.40 
1 ½" meter   $47.40 
2” meter   $66.40 
3” meter   $159.00 
4” meter    $266.00 
6” meter   $580.00 
8” meter   $1,019.00 
10” meter     $1,551.00 
12” meter   $2,298.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $2.00 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $4.25 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $5.40 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $3.85 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $2.50 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $1.20 per Ccf 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6352



 

 

SCHEDULE B – PRIVATE FIRE SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Under this schedule, KUB provides water supply to privately owned automatic 
sprinklers or hose outlets. Such service is available to any residential, commercial, or 
industrial customer. 
 
 

Rate 
 

 The private Fire Service Charge shall be calculated using the table below based on 
the customer’s fire line connections. 
 
 

Monthly Service Charge per Connection 
 
  Connection less than 4”            $  20.75 
     4”  Connection            $  41.50 
     6”  Connection            $101.00 
     8”  Connection            $176.00 
   10”  Connection            $273.00 
   12”  Connection and greater          $393.00 
 
 These service charges shall be in addition to the charge for any water use through 
fire line connections. The amount of unmetered water so used, as determined by KUB, 
shall be paid for at KUB’s applicable rate schedules. 
 
 No charge under this Schedule B shall be made where the water supply to private 
fire protection facilities is through one or more metered connection(s) for which payment 
is made under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 No credit for charges under this rate schedule shall be allowed against the Water 
General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule charge for water supplied through a 
fire line to one or more metered connection(s) where the fire line serves as a connecting 
line between the metered connection(s) and KUB’s mains. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6353



 

 

SCHEDULE C – UNMETERED GOVERNMENT SERVICE 
 

 For water used from KUB’s mains with KUB’s permission by any department of a 
governmental entity through unmetered fire hydrants for purposes other than for public 
fire service: 
 
 

Inside – City Rate 
 

 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant within the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Inside City rates set forth in the 
Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Outside – City Rate 
 
 The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental 
entity for such purposes through a fire hydrant outside the corporate limits of the City of 
Knoxville shall be billed to each such department at the Outside City rates set forth in 
the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6354



 

 

SCHEDULE D – PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 Service under this schedule shall be available only to a governmental entity that 
undertakes to provide public fire protection service for an area that contains at least four 
square miles.  KUB reserves the right to require any applicant for service under this 
schedule to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service. 
 
 

Rate 
 

   For public fire protection service rendered, the governmental entity shall pay 
KUB a fire protection service charge at the rate of $400.14 per year for each KUB 
owned public fire hydrant located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the 
governmental entity and within areas provided public fire protection service by such 
governmental entity.  In addition to the fire protection service charge, the governmental 
entity shall pay for all water used for fire fighting at rates set forth in the Water General 
Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
   KUB may contract with other utility providers to supply public fire protection 
service to an eligible governmental entity in any service area (or portion thereof), where 
KUB determines it desirable to do so.  Charges to a governmental entity for fire 
protection service provided under such a contract shall be at the same rate specified 
above, and the hydrants of the utility provider utilized under such a contract shall be 
deemed to be facilities owned by KUB for the sole purpose of calculating charges under 
this schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6355



 

 

SCHEDULE E – SALES FOR RESALE 
 
 

Availability 
 
 For water purchased on an interruptible basis for resale by a customer that does 
not use KUB as its sole supplier of water. This service shall be available only on an 
interruptible basis and only to the extent, in KUB’s sole opinion, that such service can 
be supplied through existing facilities without adversely affecting water service to any 
other customer of KUB. Nothing contained herein shall prevent KUB from providing 
water for resale under the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

$1.40 per 100 Cubic Feet 
 

 Any unauthorized usage under this tariff shall be billed at the Outside City rates 
set forth in the Water General Service – Nonresidential Rate Schedule. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

DRAFT

6356



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT J 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WASTEWATER DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6357



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – RESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter       $  23.00 
   1” meter     $  38.00 
   1 ½” meter    $  50.00 
   2” meter     $  70.00 

DRAFT

6358



 

 

         
 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 0.70 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $ 8.70 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter     $  27.00 
   1” meter     $  41.00 
   1 1/2" meter    $  58.00 
   2” meter     $  78.00 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $ 0.85 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $ 9.30 per Ccf 

 
Additional Charges 

 
 In addition to the wastewater service charge, users whose wastewater has 
strength characteristics in excess of normal domestic wastewater shall pay an Extra 
Strength Surcharge as set forth in Schedule B.  A Sewer Improvement Charge may also 
be payable as set forth in Schedule D. 

 
Rules and Regulations 

 
 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 

 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6359



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 

multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1.  Inside City 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
   5/8” meter    $       23.00 
   1” meter  $       38.00 
   1 ½” meter $       50.00 
   2” meter  $       70.00 

DRAFT

6360



 

 

   3” meter  $     123.00 
   4” meter   $     200.00 
   6” meter  $     427.00 
   8” meter  $     742.00 
 10” meter            $  1,125.00 
 12” meter            $  1,658.00 

     
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $  0.75 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $  9.85 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $  8.80 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $  7.55 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $  6.15 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $  4.30 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 

 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter  $      27.00 
   1” meter  $      41.00 
   1 1/2" meter $      58.00 
   2” meter  $      78.00 
   3” meter  $     139.00 
   4” meter   $     222.00 
   6” meter  $     469.00 
   8” meter  $     817.00 
 10” meter    $  1,234.00 
 12” meter        $  1,821.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $  0.90 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $10.90 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $  9.65 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $  8.25 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $  6.90 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $  4.80 per Ccf  

DRAFT

6361



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6362



 

 

SCHEDULE B – EXTRA STRENGTH SURCHARGES 
 

 
Applicability 

 
 For user whose discharge of wastewater contains a quantity of BOD in excess of 
2,000 pounds per million gallons (240 mg/l), and a quantity of suspended solids in 
excess of 2,500 pounds per million gallons (300 mg/l), an additional charge, based on 
the following schedule, shall be applied to the excess contribution, as determined by 
laboratory analysis of the user’s discharge. This Extra Strength Surcharge is in addition 
to all other charges that may be applicable under KUB’s rate schedules.  
 
 

Rate 
 

 BOD    $11.00 per hundred pounds of excess 
 Suspended Solids  $10.35 per hundred pounds of excess 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6363



 

 

SCHEDULE C – HOLDING TANK AND SPECIAL WASTE CHARGES 
 

  
(A) Domestic Waste (Commercial Waste Disposal) 
 
 For users engaged in the business of cleaning wastewater and wastewater residues 
from septic tanks and other private disposal systems, a domestic waste discharge 
permit is required and certain fees and charges are assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Annual Access Fee: 
 

The annual access fee for the use of KUB’s disposal facilities shall be 
$100.00 per fiscal year, per permitted vehicle. The full fee shall be payable 
for any fraction of the fiscal year. Bills under this section will be rendered 
annually at the beginning of KUB’s fiscal year or such later time during the 
fiscal year that service is commenced. 

 
(2) Domestic Waste Discharge Rate: 

 
Each load of Domestic Waste discharged to KUB’s facilities shall be 
subject to a Discharge Rate of $79.00 per 1,000 gallons. Bills under this 
section will be rendered monthly. 

 
(B) Special Waste 
 
 For users who dispose of any other waste from any tank, pond, pit or other source 
into the KUB system, a special waste discharge permit is required and the following 
fees and charges will be assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Special Waste Discharge Permit Application Fee: 

 
A special Wastewater Discharge Permit must be obtained before any 
Special Waste may be discharged into KUB’s facilities. The application fee 
for such permit is $75.00. The application fee is non-refundable and is 
applicable whether or not the application is approved or the permit issued. 
The fee must be paid prior to discharge. 

 
(2) Special Waste Discharge Fee: 

 
Due to the widely differing character of Special Wastes, the Discharge Fee 
shall vary, but, at a minimum, the Fee will be the sum of the Wastewater 
Service Charge as set forth by the Nonresidential Rate Schedule of the 
Wastewater Division of KUB plus the Extra Strength Surcharges as set 
forth in Schedule B to the Rate Schedules of the Wastewater Division of 
KUB. In addition to those charges set forth in the aforementioned 
Schedules, the Customer will be required to pay the cost to KUB of 

DRAFT

6364



 

 

analyzing, or providing special handling for, the Customer’s Special 
Waste, plus a reasonable charge for the impact that the Special Waste is 
expected to have on the KUB treatment facilities as determined by KUB. 
Bills under this section will be rendered upon completion of the discharge. 

 
 

(C) Operating Procedures 
 
 KUB shall establish operating procedures including such items as permit issuance, 
acceptable wastes, disposal locations, reporting and billing methods for the 
implementation of this Rate Schedule C, which may be changed from time to time by 
KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6365



 

 

SCHEDULE D – SEWER IMPROVEMENT CHARGE 
 
 
(A) Applicable Charges -  All properties connected or having access to the wastewater 

system shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge which shall be determined 
as follows: 

 
(1) For all users not described in paragraph A (2), or A (3), the Sewer Improvement 

Charge shall be an amount equal to the Contribution in Aid of Construction 
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 33-19 of the Rules and 
Regulations for the Wastewater Division that may from time to time be in effect. 
Any contribution in Aid of Construction that is assessed under Section 33-19 (b) 
of the Rules and Regulations on or after December 1, 1992 may, at the 
customer’s option, be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in monthly 
installments for a period not to exceed ten (10) years at an annual interest rate of 
nine percent (9%). 

 
(2) For all users that: (i) on December 1, 1992 are being assessed, or which properly 

should be assessed, a Sewer Improvement Charge under the terms of this 
Schedule D as it existed immediately prior to December 1, 1992 or, (ii) which are 
located in areas annexed into the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville 
pursuant to Ordinance No. 0-31-87, the Sewer Improvement Charge shall be 
calculated on multiples of a basic charge (the “Basic Charge”), which shall be Six 
Hundred Seventy -Five Dollars ($675.00). At the customer’s option, the Sewer 
Improvement Charge may be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in 
monthly installments of Three and 25/100 dollars ($3.25) for the three hundred 
sixty (360) months. Sewer Improvement Charges assessed under the terms of 
this paragraph A (2) shall be calculated as follows: 

 
(a) Each user consisting of a single-family dwelling shall pay a Sewer 

Improvement Charge equal to the Basic Charge, regardless of area. 
 

(b) Each multifamily, commercial or industrial user shall pay a Sewer 
Improvement Charge based on the greater of the following two 
calculations: 

 
(i) Area/meter basis: The lesser of (a) the Basic charge times the 
square footage of the area of the property divided by 15,000 or (b) the 
Basic Charge times the following multiples based on meter size: 

 
Meter Size Multiple 
   5/8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
    ¾” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5 
     1” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.5 
 1 ½” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 
     2” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8 

DRAFT

6366



 

 

     3” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .15 
     4” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .25 
     6” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .50 
     8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .80 
   10” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .120 
   12” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .155 

 
*  If a user is served by more than one meter, the multiple used shall be the sum of the 
multiple computed on each meter. 
 

(ii) Frontage Basis – the Basic Charge times the total frontage of the 
property measured in feet at the building line parallel to the street 
along which the property lies for the greater distance divided by 100. 
 

(c) For service to users located entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville, the Sewer Improvement Charge imposed 
under this paragraph A (2) shall be one and one-half (1-1/2) times the 
above schedule of charges. 

 
(d) Any user charged a Sewer Improvement Charge under this paragraph 

A (2) that reconnects to the Wastewater system on or after December 
1, 1992 because of a change in the level or character of the user’s 
wastewater service shall upon such reconnection be subject to the 
Sewer Improvement Charge calculated under paragraph A (1) hereof. 

 
(3) For all property located in a Transfer Area, that is subject to a Fee Agreement, 

the user shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge equal in amount to the 
payments that would have been owed under the Fee Agreement for the affected 
property, assuming the Fee Agreement remained in effect for its duration, 
adjusted in accordance with KUB’s policies for any additional property users as 
permitted under the Fee Agreement, less a credit for any payments actually paid 
to KUB under the Fee Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, Sewer 
Improvement Charges assessed under this paragraph A (3) shall be paid on the 
same terms provided in the Fee Agreement for the affected property. As used 
herein” (i) the term “Transfer Area” shall mean an area: (a) that was previously 
provided wastewater service by a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, and (b) with respect to which KUB acquired or otherwise succeeded to 
the right to provide wastewater service; and (ii) the term “Fee Agreement” shall 
mean a contract or other agreement entered into between the owner or other 
user of a tract of property and a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, by the terms of which the owner or other user of the property agrees to 
pay all or any part of the cost of extending wastewater lines and facilities to such 
property or otherwise making wastewater service available to such property. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6367



 

 

(B) Deferral of Payment – A Sewer Improvement Charge shall not be billed or collectible 
for any monthly billing for any period for which a wastewater service charge is not 
payable. 

 
(C) Prepayment – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement Charge 

in monthly installments may thereafter prepay the balance of such charge in whole 
(but not in part) in an amount equal to the unamortized balance of the Sewer 
Improvement charge as of the date of such prepayment. 

 
(D) Installment Terms – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement 

Charge in monthly installments pursuant to paragraph A (1) shall be obligated to 
make such payments at the rate of interest and length of payment period specified in 
this Schedule D as of the date of the customer’s election, notwithstanding 
customer’s right of prepayment. 

 
(E) Definitions – The defined terms in this Schedule D shall have the meanings given to 

them from time to time in the Rules and Regulations for Wastewater Division. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6368



 

 

SCHEDULE E – WHOLESALE WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 

 
Service under this Schedule shall be available only to governmental entities, including 
Utility Districts, that deliver through their wastewater collection system all or portions of 
their wastewater flow to KUB facilities for treatment. Applicants under this schedule may 
be required to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service under this schedule.  
 

Rate 
 

 Metered Flows   $3.90 per Thousand Gallons 
 Unmetered Flows   $4.45 per Thousand Gallons 
 
 For the purpose of determining billing volumes, metered flows are those flows 
metered at the point of delivery to KUB’s collection system, pumping station or 
treatment facility; unmetered flows are those flows based upon the actual water use of 
the customers served by the collection system discharging to KUB’s facilities, said water 
use being determined by the water meter readings furnished by the water service 
provider.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

 

DRAFT

6369



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT K 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WASTEWATER DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6370



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – RESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter       $  26.00 
   1” meter     $  41.00 
   1 ½” meter    $  53.00 
   2” meter     $  73.00 

DRAFT

6371



 

 

         
 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 0.70 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $ 8.70 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter     $  30.00 
   1” meter     $  44.00 
   1 1/2" meter    $  61.00 
   2” meter     $  81.00 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $ 0.85 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $ 9.30 per Ccf 

 
 

Additional Charges 
 
 In addition to the wastewater service charge, users whose wastewater has 
strength characteristics in excess of normal domestic wastewater shall pay an Extra 
Strength Surcharge as set forth in Schedule B.  A Sewer Improvement Charge may also 
be payable as set forth in Schedule D. 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6372



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 

multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1.  Inside City 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
   5/8” meter    $       26.00 
   1” meter  $       41.00 
   1 ½” meter $       53.00 
   2” meter  $       73.00 

DRAFT

6373



 

 

   3” meter  $     130.00 
   4” meter   $     212.00 
   6” meter  $     453.00 
   8” meter  $     787.00 
 10” meter            $  1,193.00 
 12” meter            $  1,757.00 

     
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $  0.80 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $  10.45 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $  9.35 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $  8.00 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $  6.50 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $  4.30 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
   5/8” meter  $      30.00 
   1” meter  $      44.00 
   1 1/2" meter $      61.00 
   2” meter  $      81.00 
   3” meter  $     147.00 
   4” meter   $     235.00 
   6” meter  $     497.00 
   8” meter  $     866.00 
 10” meter    $  1,308.00 
 12” meter        $  1,930.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $  0.95 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $  11.55 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $  10.25 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $  8.75 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $  7.30 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $  4.80 per Ccf  

.  

DRAFT

6374



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6375



 

 

SCHEDULE B – EXTRA STRENGTH SURCHARGES 
 

 
Applicability 

 
 
 For user whose discharge of wastewater contains a quantity of BOD in excess of 
2,000 pounds per million gallons (240 mg/l), and a quantity of suspended solids in 
excess of 2,500 pounds per million gallons (300 mg/l), an additional charge, based on 
the following schedule, shall be applied to the excess contribution, as determined by 
laboratory analysis of the user’s discharge. This Extra Strength Surcharge is in addition 
to all other charges that may be applicable under KUB’s rate schedules.  
 
 

Rate 
 

 BOD    $11.65 per hundred pounds of excess 
 Suspended Solids  $11.00 per hundred pounds of excess 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6376



 

 

SCHEDULE C – HOLDING TANK AND SPECIAL WASTE CHARGES 
 

  
(A) Domestic Waste (Commercial Waste Disposal) 
 
 For users engaged in the business of cleaning wastewater and wastewater residues 
from septic tanks and other private disposal systems, a domestic waste discharge 
permit is required and certain fees and charges are assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Annual Access Fee: 
 

The annual access fee for the use of KUB’s disposal facilities shall be 
$100.00 per fiscal year, per permitted vehicle. The full fee shall be payable 
for any fraction of the fiscal year. Bills under this section will be rendered 
annually at the beginning of KUB’s fiscal year or such later time during the 
fiscal year that service is commenced. 

 
(2) Domestic Waste Discharge Rate: 

 
Each load of Domestic Waste discharged to KUB’s facilities shall be 
subject to a Discharge Rate of $83.75 per 1,000 gallons. Bills under this 
section will be rendered monthly. 

 
(B) Special Waste 
 
 For users who dispose of any other waste from any tank, pond, pit or other source 
into the KUB system, a special waste discharge permit is required and the following 
fees and charges will be assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Special Waste Discharge Permit Application Fee: 

 
A special Wastewater Discharge Permit must be obtained before any 
Special Waste may be discharged into KUB’s facilities. The application fee 
for such permit is $75.00. The application fee is non-refundable and is 
applicable whether or not the application is approved or the permit issued. 
The fee must be paid prior to discharge. 

 
 
(2) Special Waste Discharge Fee: 

 
Due to the widely differing character of Special Wastes, the Discharge Fee 
shall vary, but, at a minimum, the Fee will be the sum of the Wastewater 
Service Charge as set forth by the Nonresidential Rate Schedule of the 
Wastewater Division of KUB plus the Extra Strength Surcharges as set 
forth in Schedule B to the Rate Schedules of the Wastewater Division of 
KUB. In addition to those charges set forth in the aforementioned 

DRAFT

6377



 

 

Schedules, the Customer will be required to pay the cost to KUB of 
analyzing, or providing special handling for, the Customer’s Special 
Waste, plus a reasonable charge for the impact that the Special Waste is 
expected to have on the KUB treatment facilities as determined by KUB. 
Bills under this section will be rendered upon completion of the discharge. 

 
 

(C) Operating Procedures 
 
 KUB shall establish operating procedures including such items as permit issuance, 
acceptable wastes, disposal locations, reporting and billing methods for the 
implementation of this Rate Schedule C, which may be changed from time to time by 
KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6378



 

 

SCHEDULE D – SEWER IMPROVEMENT CHARGE 
 
 
(A) Applicable Charges -  All properties connected or having access to the wastewater 

system shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge which shall be determined 
as follows: 

 
(1) For all users not described in paragraph A (2), or A (3), the Sewer Improvement 

Charge shall be an amount equal to the Contribution in Aid of Construction 
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 33-19 of the Rules and 
Regulations for the Wastewater Division that may from time to time be in effect. 
Any contribution in Aid of Construction that is assessed under Section 33-19 (b) 
of the Rules and Regulations on or after December 1, 1992 may, at the 
customer’s option, be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in monthly 
installments for a period not to exceed ten (10) years at an annual interest rate of 
nine percent (9%). 

 
(2) For all users that: (i) on December 1, 1992 are being assessed, or which properly 

should be assessed, a Sewer Improvement Charge under the terms of this 
Schedule D as it existed immediately prior to December 1, 1992 or, (ii) which are 
located in areas annexed into the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville 
pursuant to Ordinance No. 0-31-87, the Sewer Improvement Charge shall be 
calculated on multiples of a basic charge (the “Basic Charge”), which shall be Six 
Hundred Seventy -Five Dollars ($675.00). At the customer’s option, the Sewer 
Improvement Charge may be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in 
monthly installments of Three and 25/100 dollars ($3.25) for the three hundred 
sixty (360) months. Sewer Improvement Charges assessed under the terms of 
this paragraph A (2) shall be calculated as follows: 

 
(a) Each user consisting of a single-family dwelling shall pay a Sewer 

Improvement Charge equal to the Basic Charge, regardless of area. 
 

(b) Each multifamily, commercial or industrial user shall pay a Sewer 
Improvement Charge based on the greater of the following two 
calculations: 

 
(i) Area/meter basis: The lesser of (a) the Basic charge times the 
square footage of the area of the property divided by 15,000 or (b) the 
Basic Charge times the following multiples based on meter size: 

 
Meter Size Multiple 
   5/8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
    ¾” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5 
     1” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.5 
 1 ½” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 
     2” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8 

DRAFT

6379



 

 

     3” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .15 
     4” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .25 
     6” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .50 
     8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .80 
   10” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .120 
   12” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .155 

 
*  If a user is served by more than one meter, the multiple used shall be the sum of the 
multiple computed on each meter. 
 

(ii) Frontage Basis – the Basic Charge times the total frontage of the 
property measured in feet at the building line parallel to the street 
along which the property lies for the greater distance divided by 100. 
 

(c) For service to users located entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville, the Sewer Improvement Charge imposed 
under this paragraph A (2) shall be one and one-half (1-1/2) times the 
above schedule of charges. 

 
(d) Any user charged a Sewer Improvement Charge under this paragraph 

A (2) that reconnects to the Wastewater system on or after December 
1, 1992 because of a change in the level or character of the user’s 
wastewater service shall upon such reconnection be subject to the 
Sewer Improvement Charge calculated under paragraph A (1) hereof. 

 
(3) For all property located in a Transfer Area, that is subject to a Fee Agreement, 

the user shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge equal in amount to the 
payments that would have been owed under the Fee Agreement for the affected 
property, assuming the Fee Agreement remained in effect for its duration, 
adjusted in accordance with KUB’s policies for any additional property users as 
permitted under the Fee Agreement, less a credit for any payments actually paid 
to KUB under the Fee Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, Sewer 
Improvement Charges assessed under this paragraph A (3) shall be paid on the 
same terms provided in the Fee Agreement for the affected property. As used 
herein” (i) the term “Transfer Area” shall mean an area: (a) that was previously 
provided wastewater service by a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, and (b) with respect to which KUB acquired or otherwise succeeded to 
the right to provide wastewater service; and (ii) the term “Fee Agreement” shall 
mean a contract or other agreement entered into between the owner or other 
user of a tract of property and a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, by the terms of which the owner or other user of the property agrees to 
pay all or any part of the cost of extending wastewater lines and facilities to such 
property or otherwise making wastewater service available to such property. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6380



 

 

(B) Deferral of Payment – A Sewer Improvement Charge shall not be billed or collectible 
for any monthly billing for any period for which a wastewater service charge is not 
payable. 

 
(C) Prepayment – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement Charge 

in monthly installments may thereafter prepay the balance of such charge in whole 
(but not in part) in an amount equal to the unamortized balance of the Sewer 
Improvement charge as of the date of such prepayment. 

 
(D) Installment Terms – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement 

Charge in monthly installments pursuant to paragraph A (1) shall be obligated to 
make such payments at the rate of interest and length of payment period specified in 
this Schedule D as of the date of the customer’s election, notwithstanding 
customer’s right of prepayment. 

 
(E) Definitions – The defined terms in this Schedule D shall have the meanings given to 

them from time to time in the Rules and Regulations for Wastewater Division. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6381



 

 

SCHEDULE E – WHOLESALE WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 

 
Service under this Schedule shall be available only to governmental entities, including 
Utility Districts, that deliver through their wastewater collection system all or portions of 
their wastewater flow to KUB facilities for treatment. Applicants under this schedule may 
be required to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 

 Metered Flows   $4.15 per Thousand Gallons 
 Unmetered Flows   $4.70 per Thousand Gallons 
 
 For the purpose of determining billing volumes, metered flows are those flows 
metered at the point of delivery to KUB’s collection system, pumping station or 
treatment facility; unmetered flows are those flows based upon the actual water use of 
the customers served by the collection system discharging to KUB’s facilities, said water 
use being determined by the water meter readings furnished by the water service 
provider.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 

DRAFT

6382



 

 

RESOLUTION 1310 
EXHIBIT L 

RATE SCHEDULES OF THE WASTEWATER DIVISION 
EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6383



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – RESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers 
served individually through a separate meter.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule.  
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
 In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 
multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1. Inside City Rate 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter       $  29.00 
   1” meter     $  44.00 
   1 ½” meter    $  56.00 
   2” meter     $  76.00 

DRAFT

6384



 

 

         
 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $ 0.70 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf    at $ 8.70 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 
 

Customer Charge 
 

   5/8” meter     $  33.00 
   1” meter     $  47.00 
   1 1/2" meter    $  64.00 
   2” meter     $  84.00 
    

 For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Wastewater 
Nonresidential schedule shall be utilized. 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $ 0.85 per Ccf 
Over         2 Ccf at $ 9.30 per Ccf 

 
 

Additional Charges 
 
 In addition to the wastewater service charge, users whose wastewater has 
strength characteristics in excess of normal domestic wastewater shall pay an Extra 
Strength Surcharge as set forth in Schedule B.  A Sewer Improvement Charge may also 
be payable as set forth in Schedule D. 

 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 

DRAFT

6385



 

 

WASTEWATER GENERAL SERVICE – NONRESIDENTIAL RATE SCHEDULE 
 
 

Availability 
 

 Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial 
customer.  
 
 An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to 
execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for 
service under this schedule. 
 
 

Rate 
 
 The Wastewater Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables 
provided below, based on the customer’s water usage and water meter size with the 
following exceptions: 
 

1) For customers whose wastewater discharge volumes are metered separately 
from their water usage, the metered wastewater discharge volumes will be 
used to calculate Service Charges under this schedule.  The meter size used 
to calculate the Additional Monthly Charge under this schedule will be the 
largest equivalent water meter size as determined by KUB. 

 
2) If neither the customer’s water usage nor wastewater discharge volumes are 

metered, the average water usage and water meter size of comparable 
metered customers as determined by KUB will be used to calculate the 
charges under this schedule. 

 
In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, 

multiple customer charges may apply.  Charges will apply without regard to ownership 
of the meter(s). 
 
 

1.  Inside City 
 

 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely within the corporate limits of 
the City of Knoxville: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
   5/8” meter    $       29.00 
   1” meter  $       44.00 
   1 ½” meter $       56.00 
   2” meter  $       76.00 

DRAFT

6386



 

 

   3” meter  $     138.00 
   4” meter   $     225.00 
   6” meter  $     480.00 
   8” meter  $     834.00 
 10” meter            $  1,265.00 
 12” meter            $  1,862.00 

     
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf    at $  0.85 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf    at $  11.10 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf    at $  9.90 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf    at $  8.50 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf    at $  6.90 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf    at $  4.30 per Ccf 

 
 

2. Outside City Rate 
 
 For wastewater service provided to premises entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville: 

 
Customer Charge 

 
   5/8” meter  $      33.00 
   1” meter  $      47.00 
   1 1/2" meter $      64.00 
   2” meter  $      84.00 
   3” meter  $     156.00 
   4” meter   $     249.00 
   6” meter  $     527.00 
   8” meter  $     918.00 
 10” meter    $  1,386.00 
 12” meter        $  2,046.00  

 
 

Commodity Charge 
 

First         2 Ccf at $  1.00 per Ccf 
Next         8 Ccf at $  12.25 per Ccf 
Next       90 Ccf at $  10.85 per Ccf 
Next     300 Ccf at $  9.30 per Ccf 
Next  4,600 Ccf at $  7.75 per Ccf 
Over  5,000 Ccf at $  4.80 per Ccf  

DRAFT

6387



 

 

Rules and Regulations 
 

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6388



 

 

SCHEDULE B – EXTRA STRENGTH SURCHARGES 
 

 
Applicability 

 
 For user whose discharge of wastewater contains a quantity of BOD in excess of 
2,000 pounds per million gallons (240 mg/l), and a quantity of suspended solids in 
excess of 2,500 pounds per million gallons (300 mg/l), an additional charge, based on 
the following schedule, shall be applied to the excess contribution, as determined by 
laboratory analysis of the user’s discharge. This Extra Strength Surcharge is in addition 
to all other charges that may be applicable under KUB’s rate schedules.  
 
 

Rate 
 

 BOD    $12.35 per hundred pounds of excess 
 Suspended Solids  $11.70 per hundred pounds of excess 
 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6389



 

 

SCHEDULE C – HOLDING TANK AND SPECIAL WASTE CHARGES 
 

  
(A) Domestic Waste (Commercial Waste Disposal) 
 
 For users engaged in the business of cleaning wastewater and wastewater residues 
from septic tanks and other private disposal systems, a domestic waste discharge 
permit is required and certain fees and charges are assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Annual Access Fee: 
 

The annual access fee for the use of KUB’s disposal facilities shall be 
$100.00 per fiscal year, per permitted vehicle. The full fee shall be payable 
for any fraction of the fiscal year. Bills under this section will be rendered 
annually at the beginning of KUB’s fiscal year or such later time during the 
fiscal year that service is commenced. 

 
(2) Domestic Waste Discharge Rate: 

 
Each load of Domestic Waste discharged to KUB’s facilities shall be 
subject to a Discharge Rate of $88.80 per 1,000 gallons. Bills under this 
section will be rendered monthly. 

 
(B) Special Waste 
 
 For users who dispose of any other waste from any tank, pond, pit or other source 
into the KUB system, a special waste discharge permit is required and the following 
fees and charges will be assessed against those users. 

 
(1) Special Waste Discharge Permit Application Fee: 

 
A special Wastewater Discharge Permit must be obtained before any 
Special Waste may be discharged into KUB’s facilities. The application fee 
for such permit is $75.00. The application fee is non-refundable and is 
applicable whether or not the application is approved or the permit issued. 
The fee must be paid prior to discharge. 

 
 
(2) Special Waste Discharge Fee: 

 
Due to the widely differing character of Special Wastes, the Discharge Fee 
shall vary, but, at a minimum, the Fee will be the sum of the Wastewater 
Service Charge as set forth by the Nonresidential Rate Schedule of the 
Wastewater Division of KUB plus the Extra Strength Surcharges as set 
forth in Schedule B to the Rate Schedules of the Wastewater Division of 
KUB. In addition to those charges set forth in the aforementioned 

DRAFT

6390



 

 

Schedules, the Customer will be required to pay the cost to KUB of 
analyzing, or providing special handling for, the Customer’s Special 
Waste, plus a reasonable charge for the impact that the Special Waste is 
expected to have on the KUB treatment facilities as determined by KUB. 
Bills under this section will be rendered upon completion of the discharge. 

 
 

(C) Operating Procedures 
 
 KUB shall establish operating procedures including such items as permit issuance, 
acceptable wastes, disposal locations, reporting and billing methods for the 
implementation of this Rate Schedule C, which may be changed from time to time by 
KUB. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6391



 

 

SCHEDULE D – SEWER IMPROVEMENT CHARGE 
 
 
(A) Applicable Charges -  All properties connected or having access to the wastewater 

system shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge which shall be determined 
as follows: 

 
(1) For all users not described in paragraph A (2), or A (3), the Sewer Improvement 

Charge shall be an amount equal to the Contribution in Aid of Construction 
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 33-19 of the Rules and 
Regulations for the Wastewater Division that may from time to time be in effect. 
Any contribution in Aid of Construction that is assessed under Section 33-19 (b) 
of the Rules and Regulations on or after December 1, 1992 may, at the 
customer’s option, be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in monthly 
installments for a period not to exceed ten (10) years at an annual interest rate of 
nine percent (9%). 

 
(2) For all users that: (i) on December 1, 1992 are being assessed, or which properly 

should be assessed, a Sewer Improvement Charge under the terms of this 
Schedule D as it existed immediately prior to December 1, 1992 or, (ii) which are 
located in areas annexed into the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville 
pursuant to Ordinance No. 0-31-87, the Sewer Improvement Charge shall be 
calculated on multiples of a basic charge (the “Basic Charge”), which shall be Six 
Hundred Seventy -Five Dollars ($675.00). At the customer’s option, the Sewer 
Improvement Charge may be paid as a part of the customer’s utility bill in 
monthly installments of Three and 25/100 dollars ($3.25) for the three hundred 
sixty (360) months. Sewer Improvement Charges assessed under the terms of 
this paragraph A (2) shall be calculated as follows: 

 
(a) Each user consisting of a single-family dwelling shall pay a Sewer 

Improvement Charge equal to the Basic Charge, regardless of area. 
 

(b) Each multifamily, commercial or industrial user shall pay a Sewer 
Improvement Charge based on the greater of the following two 
calculations: 

 
(i) Area/meter basis: The lesser of (a) the Basic charge times the 
square footage of the area of the property divided by 15,000 or (b) the 
Basic Charge times the following multiples based on meter size: 

 
Meter Size Multiple 
   5/8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
    ¾” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5 
     1” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.5 
 1 ½” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 
     2” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8 

DRAFT

6392



 

 

     3” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .15 
     4” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .25 
     6” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .50 
     8” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .80 
   10” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .120 
   12” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .155 

 
*  If a user is served by more than one meter, the multiple used shall be the sum of the 
multiple computed on each meter. 
 

(ii) Frontage Basis – the Basic Charge times the total frontage of the 
property measured in feet at the building line parallel to the street 
along which the property lies for the greater distance divided by 100. 
 

(c) For service to users located entirely or partly outside the corporate 
limits of the City of Knoxville, the Sewer Improvement Charge imposed 
under this paragraph A (2) shall be one and one-half (1-1/2) times the 
above schedule of charges. 

 
(d) Any user charged a Sewer Improvement Charge under this paragraph 

A (2) that reconnects to the Wastewater system on or after December 
1, 1992 because of a change in the level or character of the user’s 
wastewater service shall upon such reconnection be subject to the 
Sewer Improvement Charge calculated under paragraph A (1) hereof. 

 
(3) For all property located in a Transfer Area, that is subject to a Fee Agreement, 

the user shall be subject to a Sewer Improvement Charge equal in amount to the 
payments that would have been owed under the Fee Agreement for the affected 
property, assuming the Fee Agreement remained in effect for its duration, 
adjusted in accordance with KUB’s policies for any additional property users as 
permitted under the Fee Agreement, less a credit for any payments actually paid 
to KUB under the Fee Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, Sewer 
Improvement Charges assessed under this paragraph A (3) shall be paid on the 
same terms provided in the Fee Agreement for the affected property. As used 
herein” (i) the term “Transfer Area” shall mean an area: (a) that was previously 
provided wastewater service by a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, and (b) with respect to which KUB acquired or otherwise succeeded to 
the right to provide wastewater service; and (ii) the term “Fee Agreement” shall 
mean a contract or other agreement entered into between the owner or other 
user of a tract of property and a municipal utility (other than KUB) or a utility 
district, by the terms of which the owner or other user of the property agrees to 
pay all or any part of the cost of extending wastewater lines and facilities to such 
property or otherwise making wastewater service available to such property. 

 
 
 

DRAFT

6393



 

 

(B) Deferral of Payment – A Sewer Improvement Charge shall not be billed or collectible 
for any monthly billing for any period for which a wastewater service charge is not 
payable. 

 
(C) Prepayment – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement Charge 

in monthly installments may thereafter prepay the balance of such charge in whole 
(but not in part) in an amount equal to the unamortized balance of the Sewer 
Improvement charge as of the date of such prepayment. 

 
(D) Installment Terms – A customer who has elected to pay the Sewer Improvement 

Charge in monthly installments pursuant to paragraph A (1) shall be obligated to 
make such payments at the rate of interest and length of payment period specified in 
this Schedule D as of the date of the customer’s election, notwithstanding 
customer’s right of prepayment. 

 
(E) Definitions – The defined terms in this Schedule D shall have the meanings given to 

them from time to time in the Rules and Regulations for Wastewater Division. 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6394



 

 

SCHEDULE E – WHOLESALE WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 

 
Service under this Schedule shall be available only to governmental entities, including 
Utility Districts, that deliver through their wastewater collection system all or portions of 
their wastewater flow to KUB facilities for treatment. Applicants under this schedule may 
be required to execute a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and 
minimum term for service under this schedule.  
 

Rate 
 

 Metered Flows   $4.40 per Thousand Gallons 
 Unmetered Flows   $5.00 per Thousand Gallons 
 
 For the purpose of determining billing volumes, metered flows are those flows 
metered at the point of delivery to KUB’s collection system, pumping station or 
treatment facility; unmetered flows are those flows based upon the actual water use of 
the customers served by the collection system discharging to KUB’s facilities, said water 
use being determined by the water meter readings furnished by the water service 
provider.  
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 

 Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT

6395



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
 

DRAFT

6396


	August 21, 2014 Board Meeting Agenda
	Recommendation Letter - Resolution 1315
	Resolution 1315 

	Draft Minutes - June 19, 2014



